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Profile TIE

For 20 years, we have been providing customers 
with solutions for Business Interoperability and 

the power to connect applications and processes 
with those of their external trading partners. To 
that end, TIE solutions address our customers’ most 
pressing issues in Business-to-Business Integration, 
Data Synchronization, Trading Partner Collabora-
tion, and Digital Channel Communications. Our 
products have proven to lower costs, increase sales, 
optimize business processes, and improve efficien-
cy, while removing the barriers to e-Business 
information exchange for thousands of customers 
in multiple worldwide case studies.

TIE provides its software as either a license or 
service (SaaS). Our services are designed to enhance 
the value of our software and deliver essential 
business benefits. Our expert resources and 
carefully selected partners ensure that we can 

TIE bridges the gap between online and traditional business, helping industry and supply 

chain partners to achieve electronic business collaboration without limitations

provide all of our customers with quality service 
and superior value. With decades of experience to 
share, TIE remains a key contributor to the 
development and implementation of global 
E-commerce standards. Today, we are the partner 
that industry leaders turn to for business-to-busi-
ness success.

Founded in 1987, we continually strive to meet the 
expectations of all our stakeholders, such as custom-
ers, business partners, resellers, employees and 
shareholders. We serve our customers and handle our 
relationships from our offices in the United States, 
France and the Netherlands. TIE’s headquarter is 
located in Hoofddorp, the Netherlands. 

TIE’s shares are listed on the stock exchange of 
Amsterdam (NYSE Euronext), as of March 2000. 
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Financial Highlights 

(EUR in thousands except number of employees and per share amounts)

2009 2008

Financial Results

Total Income  11,190  9,788 

Depreciation and Amortization Expense  (360)  (269)

Impairment Losses  -  (723)

Net Income  530  (2,098)

Equity

Total Shareholders’ Equity  2,417  449 

Total Equity Instruments  1,661  1,735 

Total Equity  4,078  2,184 

Employees (expressed as full time equivalents)

Average Number of Employees  88  86 

Per Share of Ordinary Shares

Net Income  0.01  (0.04)

Shareholders’ Equity  0.04  0.01 

Number of Shares Outstanding at Year End (x 1.000)  64,977  54,755 

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding (x 1,000)  58,346  53,095 

Weighted Average Number of Shares adjusted for calculation  72,397  54,664 

dilluted earnings per share (x 1,000)

Share Price

Last Trading Day in reporting period  0.20  0.10 

Highest  0.25  0.28 

Lowest  0.07  0.09 
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Highlights 2009

October

TIE announced that 

Siemens Enterprise 

Communication 

GmbH has selected 

TIE Digital Channel 

Management solu-

tions for global trial;

TIE announced that 

Lekker van der Laan 

Dekker has selected 

TIE for E-invoicing 

and PIM. Unfortu-

nately, the company 

went bankrupt in 

February, 2009; 

TIE announced a 

tentative agreement 

to acquire Mambo-

Five B.V.;

November

TIE announced the 

purchase of the 

remaining 49,75% 

of the shares in TIE 

France S.A.S., and 

therefore, now holds 

100% interest;

TIE announced that 

it has settled its dis-

pute with RetailCon-

nect B.V.;

December

TIE announced that it 

has acquired 51% of 

the shares in Mambo-

Five B.V.;

January

TIE announced that 

WECARE4 has select-

ed TIE to implement 

TIE Kinetix for their 

European business 

integration;

February

TIE announced that 

Voestalpine Railpro 

has selected TIE 

Kinetix Business 

Integration Platform 

for integration with 

its most important 

customers;

TIE announced that 

it has placed new 

shares following the 

conversions of con-

vertible bonds with a 

principle amount of € 

325k in total;

TIE announced that 

Management and 

staff of TIE have 

invested in the 

Company;

March

TIE announced that 

the HI.nl webshop, 

using the TIE Kinetix 

E-commerce platform 

received two Graham 

Telecom Awards for 

the best telecom 

e-tailer;

TIE announced the 

appointment of J.B. 

Sundelin, CEO of TIE, 

to the board of Nessi 

European research 

initiative;

April

TIE announced that 

Siemens Enterprise 

Communication 

GmbH has selected 

TIE Kinetix Content 

Syndication Platform 

for its global partner 

program;

May

TIE announced that it 

has acquired an ad-

ditional 24,5% of the 

shares of MamboFive 

B.V.; TIE now holds 

75.5% of the shares in 

MamboFive B.V.;

June

TIE and CNET Content 

Solutions announced 

Global partnership;

TIE announced 

the release of the 

Business Integration 

Smart Start in the 

Netherlands;

TIE announced that it 

has appointed Emile 

van de Klok to build 

the Company’s busi-

ness in EMEA;

TIE announced that 

it has placed new 

shares following the 

conversion of con-

vertible bonds with a 

principle amount of  

€ 710k in total;

July 

TIE announced that 

CEO Jan Sundelin has 

exercised 800,000 

options in total;

August

TIE announces that it 

has appointed Stuart 

Drysdale to build 

Company’s business 

in Asia-Pacific and 

Japan;

September

TIE announced that 

it shall place new 

shares following the 

conversion of a con-

vertible bond with a 

principle amount of 

€ 700k on October 1, 

2009;

(EUR in thousands except number of employees and per share amounts)

2008 2009
2009 2008

Financial Results

Total Income  11,190  9,788 

Depreciation and Amortization Expense  (360)  (269)

Impairment Losses  -  (723)

Net Income  530  (2,098)

Equity

Total Shareholders’ Equity  2,417  449 

Total Equity Instruments  1,661  1,735 

Total Equity  4,078  2,184 

Employees (expressed as full time equivalents)

Average Number of Employees  88  86 

Per Share of Ordinary Shares

Net Income  0.01  (0.04)

Shareholders’ Equity  0.04  0.01 

Number of Shares Outstanding at Year End (x 1.000)  64,977  54,755 

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding (x 1,000)  58,346  53,095 

Weighted Average Number of Shares adjusted for calculation  72,397  54,664 

dilluted earnings per share (x 1,000)

Share Price

Last Trading Day in reporting period  0.20  0.10 

Highest  0.25  0.28 

Lowest  0.07  0.09 

For any additional information of 

events which have taken place in 2009, 

please consult the Company’s website 

and the press releases issued by the 

Company.
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TIE Kinetix Solutions

All software is provided under a license or 

as a service. Software as a Service (SaaS) 

provides our customers with the benefits 

of new solutions, while limiting their initial 

investment. All solutions are designed 

to enhance the value of the software, 

while providing quality and usability to 

our customers. Our expert resources and 

carefully-selected resellers focus on a clear 

Return on Investment for our customers.TIE 

Kinetix lowers costs, increases revenue, and 

optimizes business processes. TIE Kinetix 

connects businesses.

TIE Kinetix is the total electronic concept for 
sharing and exchanging business information in 

the most virtual ways possible. Critical information 
needs to flow continuously and accurately out into 
the market, through a variety of channels, in order 
to effectively create demand for products and ser-
vices. Signals from the consumer must be consoli-
dated, interpreted, and acted upon to ensure that 
your business can outlast and out-perform your 

competitors. Once the demand becomes an order, 
it must be efficiently processed and communicated 
to the suppliers and logistics providers who can 
fulfill the demand. TIE Kinetix is the platform for 
connecting businesses and merging supply and 
demand in the most technologically efficient ways, 
saving our customers millions of dollars in produc-
tivity and higher sales performance.

Business Integration Solution Platform
Regardless of whether your company operates in the real 

world or online, every business requires the power to 

connect applications and processes with the systems of 

their supply chain partners. This connection ensures that 

any action in the supply chain results in an immediate and 

accurate response from your partners, suppliers and logistics 

providers, irrespective of the ERP systems in use.

Content Syndication Solution

Content Syndication Solution
The TIE Kinetix Content Syndication Solution 

provides the on-line control, collaboration and 

customization needed to increase web traffic, optimize 

marketing costs and reduce costly content syndication. 

The Content Syndication Solution provides businesses with 

the tools to manage their rich digital marketing materials and distribute 

them online from a common source. Manufacturers are able to assist 

their partners by updating any reseller’s or distributor’s web site with the 

latest content updates, marketing campaigns and product information. 

This enables resellers and distributors to attract, educate and deliver 

the critical product information that end users demand. As a result, the 

manufacturer’s investment in product marketing is protected, due to 

consistent and controllable product information, throughout delivery 

and partner use – all the while maximizing the resellers’ and distributors’ 

online sales and branding efforts.

E-commerce Solution
The MamboFive Commerce Suite, TIE Kinetix’s 

E-commerce Solution, is a complete, scalable and 

proven solution for E-commerce that enables you 

to take your company online in both a simple and 

professional manner.. Whether you are active in 

B2B, B2C, or a combination of both, our platform 

allows the transition of doing business via 

the Internet without any 

complications. With this 

solution, you may become the 

owner of a webshop over which 

you have total control, while 

allowing you to achieve seamless 

integration with existing ERP 

systems (Exact, Unit4, BaaN, Oracle, 

SAP WMS and many others).

TIE Kinetix
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Important Information	

Investors in the Ordinary Shares are reminded that their investment carries financial risks. Inves-

tors should therefore take careful notice of the entire contents of and disclosures contained within 

this report and the Financial Statements 2009 (October 1, 2008 – September 30, 2009).

Cautionary Statement on Forward-Looking Information

Certain statements contained in this report are “forward-looking statements”. Such statements may be 
identified by, among others:

  �The use of forward-looking wording such as “believes”, “expects”, “may”, “anticipates” or similar 
expressions;

  �By discussions of strategy that involve risks and uncertainties;
  �By discussions of future developments with respect to the business of TIE Holding N.V.

In addition, from time to time, TIE Holding N.V., or its representatives, have made or may make forward-
looking statements either orally or in writing. Furthermore, such forward-looking statements may be 
included in, but are not limited to, press releases or oral statements made by or with approval of an 
authorized executive officer of TIE Holding N.V.

Forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual 
results to differ materially from future results expressed or implied in such statements. Important factors 
which could cause actual results to differ materially from the information set forth in any forward-looking 
statements include, but are not limited to:

  �General economic conditions
  �Performance of financial markets
  �Levels of interest rates
  �Currency exchange rates
  �Changes in laws and regulations
  �Changes in policies of Dutch and foreign governments, and
  �Competitive factors, on a national and/or global scale
  �TIE’s ability to attract and retain qualified management and personnel
  �TIE’s ability to successfully complete ongoing research & development efforts
  �TIE’s ability to integrate acquisitions and manage the continuous growth of the company
  �TIE’s ability to anticipate and react to rapid changes in the market

Many of these factors are beyond TIE’s control or ability to predict. Given these uncertainties, investors 
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statement.
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The Management Board currently 
consists of one person.

Jan brings 15 years of executive management to 

Management Board

TIE. Most recently, he served as CEO and president 
of TallyGenicom EMEA, where he was responsible 
for more than € 170 million revenue. He helped 
the organization return to profitability by rational-
izing operations and restructuring their sales 
channels, and was responsible for sales and market-
ing in more than 60 countries. Previously, Jan 
served as senior vice president of strategic planning 
and global sales and marketing for Minolta-QMS 
Mobile, a company he joined in 1989 as a sales 
manager and later served as EMEA president. 
During his tenure as senior vice president of global 
sales and marketing, Jan was instrumental in 
increasing worldwide sales from € 250 million  
to € 300 million.

Jan Sundelin is not a member of the Supervisory 
Board of another listed Company. 

J.B. Sundelin (Jan)
Chief Executive Officer

(as of June 2008)

Date of birth: October 21, 1960

Nationality: Swedish

Date of initial appointment member 

of the Management Board: 

February 14, 2007.

Current term of office: 4 years

Number of shares in 

the Company: 1,600,000

Number of options in 

the Company: 1,099,845

Convertible Bond, relating 

to number of shares: 265,000
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Management Board’s letter

To the shareholders,

It is with great pleasure that I present our 2009 annual report for TIE Holding N.V. This report high-
lights our financial results, major activities and accomplishments. Clearly, 2009 was a year of worldwide 
upheaval, both in economic terms and geopolitical instability. Despite these formidable challenges, the 
Company has reported its highest yearly operating income, without sacrificing revenue growth, since the 
Company was listed. 

The Company executed its strategic plans for growth, cutting costs and increasing productivity over the 
previous year. In the United States, the Company reached a partnership agreement that included the sales 
of its EDGE desktop business to Intertrade Systems, a Canadian company, in order to focus more on the 
TIE Kinetix portfolio. We are poised to expand our global reach with the appointment of a new Director 
of Europe, Africa and the Middle East (EMEA). A new Managing Director has been installed in Australia to 
develop business opportunities in the Pacific Rim countries.

Our Business Integration Platform, the core of our business, has been enhanced with the Smart Start 
solution. Today, over 5,000 customers use TIE’s EDI solutions every day for transferring data to business 
partners worldwide. This roster of users includes Sodexo, Epicor, Jumbo Supermarkets, and Chanel.

The MamboFive B.V. investment has added an important E-commerce dimension to our business by 
offering our customers a comprehensive and scalable solution for companies desiring to engage in web-
based business.

Our Content Syndication platform has been significantly enhanced with the release of Version 1.5.  
A strategic relationship has been forged with the CBS interactive division, CNET. Several important proj-
ects were executed during the year, including Siemens Enterprise Communications and Microsoft (UK).

The TIE Kinetix platform is now fully available in the market as an “on-demand”, managed service solu-
tion. This helps customers to electronically connect their business processes faster than ever, while increas-
ing sales effectiveness, speed to market, and reducing the cost and workload on information technology. 
Today, customers can instantly turn on solutions that demonstrably increase their ROI without installing 
or maintaining hardware or software. 

Our technical leadership in delivering solutions, combining our three platforms, has been validated this 
year through the adoption of TIE Kinetix by CBS Interactive, Microsoft, Siemens and Quantore.

As the world economies improve, our outlook for growth remains positive. We will further enhance our 
products, expand our global reach and invest in the resources needed to ensure our technological leader-
ship and execute our strategic plan.

Sincerely,

J.B. Sundelin, 
CEO, TIE Holding N.V.
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While the total costs were carefully controlled, 
the product portfolio was further completed 

with the acquisition of MamboFive B.V., and the 
marketing and sales efforts were strengthened. 
Such progress allowed the Supervisory Board of 
TIE Holding N.V. to focus on consolidation of the 
results achieved thus far on risk management and 
business development. 

Organizational aspects
The Supervisory Board currently consists of three 
members, two of them considered independent. 
The third member, Mr Peter van Schaick, holds 
23.74% of the shares in TIE, through Alto Imaging 
Group N.V.. Therefore, Mr. van Schaick cannot be 
considered independent according to best practice 
provisions II.2.2 of the Code. Notwithstanding the 
forgoing, the Supervisory Board is construed in line 
with best practice provision III.2.1 of the Code. 
The Supervisory Board notes that its composition 
is in line with the profile of the Supervisory Board. 
Each board member has his specific field of comple-
mentary expertise.

General Business
The Supervisory Board monitored the following:

  �The achievement of the objectives of the com-
pany and its management;

	� The Supervisory Board discussed the objectives 
of the company and monitored the develop-
ment of the results and actual results versus 
the targets set in the annual operating plan. 
The Company aims at growing the business 
substantially in order to reach the scale, re-
quired for a public company, to cover the costs 
of being “public” and realize a healthy profit 
level. First of all, the company has shown an 
ability to grow autonomously. TIE became cash 
flow positive (from operating activities) in the 
last quarter of the 2008 year and has been cash 
positive ever since.

	� Additionally, the Supervisory Board monitored 
the cost structure of the company and advised 

the Management Board on all aspects.

	� The financial structure has been further 
improved by issuing of shares and Convertible 
Bonds to third party investors and members of 
the management of the Company. The Super-
visory Board acknowledges the commitment to 
these members. 

	� The relation with Alto Imaging Group N.V., 
providing TIE with a loan, has been handled by 
the Supervisory Board with great care, ensuring 
procedures “at arms length”. Any details on 
these transactions are discussed in the chapter 
Corporate Governance. 

  �The corporate risk profile and the internal risk 
management and control system;

	� The Supervisory Board discussed the company’s 
risk profile with the Management Board. The 
Supervisory Board recognizes that the risk pro-
file of TIE is adequately understood, monitored 
and acted upon by the Management Board. 
The Supervisory Board insists to continue to 
monitor the consequences of the financial crisis 
very closely. The Supervisory Board is satisfied 
with the structure and operation of the inter-
nal risk management and control system and is 
convinced that its (financial) consequences have 
been adequately reflected in the company’s 
processes and accounting principles.

  �The merger and acquisition strategy;
	� The Supervisory Board monitored the acquisi-

tion process of MamboFive B.V. carefully and 
agreed to its acquisition. The acquisition of 
MamboFive B.V., an e-business company spe-
cializing in webshop applications, was modeled 
in such a way that the financial risks involved 
are minimized. It is foreseen that this acquisi-
tion contributes to the profit, completes the 
product portfolio, and finally, further strength-
ens the marketing power of the company.

➢	

Report from the Supervisory Board

To the shareholders,

The 2009 financial year confirms that the company remains on the right track, following several 

very disappointing years and a complete restructuring of the company. Despite a less favorable 

financial market situation, the company displayed consistently in that operational profit could be 

generated within the limits of its long-term business plan.  
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  �Audit Committee; 
	� The Supervisory Board as a whole monitored 

the accounting and reporting processes in 
its functions as an audit committee. In order 
to ensure the quality of the financial report-
ing process and to discuss the findings on the 
financial statements, the Supervisory Board has 
met with the company’s external auditors Ernst 
& Young, both in and out of the Management 
Board’s presence.

  �Meetings of the Supervisory Board
	� During the 2009 year, the Supervisory Board 

returned to a more normal meeting schedule 
of once per quarter. With all members of the 
Supervisory Board heavily involved in all the 
meetings, no members were frequently absent.

	� During the course of these meetings, the Super-
visory Board evaluated the performance of the 
Management Board, which was not present. 

  �Compensation Policy
	� This Compensation Policy outlines the terms 

and conditions of employment of members 
of the Management Board of the Company. 
The objective of this Compensation Policy is to 
provide a structure that attracts, retains, and 
motivates qualified and expert members of 
the Management Board by providing a well-
balanced and incentive-based compensation.

	� According to article 135 of book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code, the Compensation Policy will be de-
termined by the General Meeting of Sharehold-
ers. On March 11, 2009, the General Meeting of 
Shareholders adopted the Compensation Policy 
for 2009. The remuneration of members of the 
Management Board has been determined by 
the Supervisory Board within the limits of the 
Compensation Policy.  

  �Term of appointment
➢	� All members of the Management Board will be 

appointed for a maximum period of four (4) 
years. On expiry of the four-year term, a mem-
ber of the Management Board may be reap-
pointed for successive terms of four years each.

  �Termination of employment:
	� Termination of the employment contract re-

quires the statutory notice period, unless other-
wise determined in the (employment) contract 
with a member of the Management Board;

	� The employment contract with a member of 
the Management Board will terminate if he 
reaches the age of retirement on the date pro-
vided in the relevant pension scheme;

	� Upon termination of the employment contract 
by the Company (or by a competent court 
on request of the Company) and unless the 
contract is terminated for a cause specified in 
article 7:678 or 7:685 juncto 7:678 of the Dutch 
Civil Code, the member of the Management 
Board will be entitled to a severance payment;

	� Taking into account the relevant article in 
his (employment) contract, a member of the 
Management Board may be entitled to a speci-
fied amount of severance, if TIE terminates his 
(employment) contract as a result of a specified 
event and gives notice of termination within 
the specified period. These events may include 
a material change of the role and responsibili-
ties of the member of the Management Board 
as a result of the acquisition of more than 50% 
of the shares in the Company by a third party 
(change of ownership).

  �Severance Package
➢	� Members of the Management Board are of-

fered a severance package with a maximum 
of one (1) year’s salary, unless this would be 
manifestly unreasonable.

  �Remuneration
➢	� The remuneration of a member of the Manage-

ment Board may comprise the following compo-
nents: salary, variable compensation in the form 
of a cash bonus based upon the realization of 
short-term targets and variable compensation in 
the form of option based on the realization of 
long-term targets. The salary includes base sal-
ary, holiday allowance, pension arrangements 
and lease vehicles. Members of the Manage-
ment Board do not participate in the annual 
stock option plan (as of February 13, 2008);

	� The remuneration levels are set to reflect the 
requirements, performance and responsibilities 
regarding a position in the Management Board 
and the targets of the Company;

	
	� The Supervisory Board will review the salary 

level regularly, considering circumstances that 
would justify adjustments, such as changes in 
the individual’s responsibilities, the individual 
as well as collective performance, develop-
ments in the business environment and devel-
opments in the salary level of personnel in the 
Company. The Supervisory Board shall regularly 
evaluate the remuneration structure in order 
to ensure that it meets the objective of the 
Compensation Policy;
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	� The (employment) contract with a member of 
the Management Board includes an arrangement 
for the reimbursement of all reasonable expenses 
incurred in the performance of its duties; 

	
	� The variable part of the remuneration is de-

signed to strengthen the Management Board 
member’s commitment to the Company and its 
objectives. The bonus level may vary between 
the members of the Management Board due 
to differences in their responsibilities, specific 
objectives, and contributions to the Company 
as a whole and base salary;

	
	� An annual bonus is linked to previously deter-

mined and objectively measurable performance 
targets. The Supervisory Board determined the 
performance targets for individual members of 
the Management Board, based on a long-term 
operating plan. These performance targets re-
flect the individual responsibilities of a member 
of the Management Board, such as, but not 
limited to, financial results and/or operational 
results per focus area. The performance targets 
are based on the Company’s strategic agenda, 
which includes financial targets. Since these 
targets contain commercially sensitive informa-
tion, the exact targets are not being disclosed. 
However, the information is available for the 
external auditor of TIE; 

➢	
	� The Chairman of the Management Board up-

dates the Supervisory Board on the achieve-
ment against the individual performance 
criteria on a quarterly basis. After the end of 
a financial year, the Management Board pre-
pared an evaluation of the past financial year. 
The evaluation includes the extent to which 
the individual performance targets have been 
met. On the basis of this evaluation and its 
own investigation, the Supervisory Board 
reviews the performance of the members of 
the Management Board and decides whether 
the performance targets are met, and there-
fore, if a member of the Management Board 
should receive his bonus. The Supervisory 
Board may take special circumstance into 
consideration in determining the achievement 
of the targets.

  �Shares
	� The members of the Management Board will 

not be offered any TIE-shares without financial 
consideration, unless the specific approval of 
the Supervisory Board has been obtained (i.c. 
the shares are offered (as part of) an annual 
bonus). Shares in the Company, held by a mem-

ber of the Management Board, are long-term 
investments.

  �Loans
	� The Company does not grant its Management 

Board members any personal loans, guarantees 
or the like, unless in the normal course of busi-
ness and on terms applicable to the personnel 
as a whole, and after approval of the Superviso-
ry Board. No remission of loans shall be granted.

Remuneration Report
In this report, the Supervisory Board provides an 
overview of the remuneration received by the 
Management Board in 2009 financial year. 

Remuneration report J.B. Sundelin
At the annual shareholders meeting held on March 
11, 2009, the General Meeting of Shareholders 
agreed to a remuneration amounting to € 216k 
for Jan Sundelin and to a detailed bonus policy 
2009-2013. The remuneration (€ 223k including ex-
penses, net of option expense) was paid to CAPTA 
Management B.V., Jan’s consultancy Company. 

The Supervisory Board evaluated the performance 
of the CEO along the references laid down in the 
bonus policy 2009-2013. The bonus rewarded to 
Mr. Sundelin consists of € 10.8k in cash and 750,000 
options, which shall be paid to Mr. Sundelin, after 
the financial statements 2009 have been adopted 
by the annual meeting of shareholders on March 
10, 2010.

The severance package of Jan Sundelin is in line 
with best practice provision II.2.8 of the Code.
The remuneration of the Management Board is 
disclosed in detail on page 76.

Remuneration Supervisory Board
Details of the Supervisory Board remuneration 
are disclosed on page 76. The members of the 
Supervisory Board will not be granted any shares 
and/or rights to shares in the Company. No options 
to acquire shares in the Company concerning the 
members of the Supervisory Board are outstanding. 
The Supervisory Board proposes not to make any 
amendments in the remuneration of the Supervi-
sory Board for the coming years. 

A.F.L. Veth
Chairman, Supervisory Board TIE Holding N.V.

Report from the Supervisory Board
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Ton Veth
Gender Male, Age 63
Nationality Dutch
Principal position CEO & President, Cebra B.V.
Other relevant positions None
Date of initial appointment May 2003
Current term of office ends May 2012
Supervisory Board memberships of 

other public companies None

Erik Honée
Gender Male, Age 52
Nationality Dutch
Principal position Consultant M&A Diligence Services B.V.
Other relevant positions None
Date of initial appointment May 2008
Current term of office ends May 2012
Supervisory Board memberships of 

other public companies None

Peter van Schaick
Gender Male, Age 55
Nationality Dutch
Principal position CEO Alto Imaging Group N.V.
Other relevant positions None
Date of initial appointment May 2007
Current term of office ends May 2011
Supervisory Board memberships of 

other public companies None
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Regardless of whether a business operates in the 
real world or online, the power to connect ap-
plications and processes with those of its industry 
and supply chain partners is a bare necessity. It 
improves operational efficiency, reduces costs, 
and provides a platform for business information 
exchange communications. Real time integration 
of marketing, sales and fulfillment throughout 
the supply chain has a major impact on reducing 
cost and increasing revenue throughout the supply 
chain, and thereby increases the profits of all sup-
ply chain partners.

TIE understands the needs of its customers, assist-
ing them to improve their efficiency and decrease 
their costs. TIE connects businesses by means of TIE 
Kinetix, which consists of the three application ar-
eas: marketing, sales, and fulfillment, as described 
in the next chapter. 

With the TIE Kinetix Platform, TIE delivers a two-
fold advantage to our customers: optimizing their 
internal business processes and enhancing their 
ability to connect with external trading partners 
and customers. It allows customers to build a pow-
erful electronic framework for business collabora-
tion without the obstacles that can impede an 
organization’s ability to create and fulfill demand. 
Above all, TIE’s products and solutions offer a clear 
Return on Investment. 

Technology Leadership
Not only do we offer our customers state-of-the-art 
products, we also ensure technology leadership for 
the future. 

The Global Economy is changing through the 
adoption of Services Orientated business models 
and Architectures (SOA) and through Software as a 
Service (SaaS). The future generations of software 
applications will be developed and validated in 
such a way that parties/companies communicating 
on a global or European scale will benefit from 
a technical-based transformation into business-
based semantic communications. This will allow the 
lowering of costs by enabling these companies to 
increase e-Business among themselves and/or their 
customers.

TIE is well positioned in the SOA field as a re-
selected core partner, SME Board member, and 
steering committee vice chair of the European 
Technical Platform on Software and Services NESSI 
(www.nessi-europe.eu). NESSI is supported by the 
European Commission, chaired by Siemens, whose 
Board contains the likes of Telefonica, Thales, 
IBM, HP, AtosOrigin, etc., and represents over 400 
members from SMEs, such as TIE, through to Large 
Industrials and Academics.

Recognizing the importance of EDI/XML for busi-
ness integration, TIE continues to actively support 
the maintenance of the UN/EDIFACT standard with 
a seat in the technical assessment groups in Europe 
(CEN/ISSS eBES) and globally (UN/CEFACT forum) in 
the United Nations.

Furthermore, TIE is a key player, selected for its 
expertise, in a number of European co-funded 
projects, such as STASIS (Semantic Interoperability), 
NEXOF-RA (Services/SOA Reference Architecture), 
SOA4ALL (Semantic web) and NESSI2010 (Coordi-
nation of NESSI), awarded in 2009 NetChallenge 
(SME Business Networks), all highly relevant to the 
business area in which the Company operates. The 
three-year STASIS project was technically finalized 
in September 2009 and is expected to be fully ap-
proved.TIE is currently evaluating how its results 
can assist its portfolio from a knowledge and prod-
uct point of view.

TIE Kinetix 
Companies in the supply chain need to work 
together to maximize their revenue. Collabora-
tion and efficient processes for sharing data and 
information to facilitate marketing, sales and ful-
fillment across all companies in the supply chain is 
essential to reduce cost and maximize revenue. By 
connecting the information, data, transaction and 
content throughout the supply chain, combined 
with comprehensive reporting and analysis, it pro-
vides manufacturers and distributors a total control 
and insight of all activities in the supply chain.TIE 
Kinetix is the total electronic concept for sharing 
and exchanging business information in the most 
virtual ways possible. Critical information needs to 
flow continuously and accurately into the market 

TIE Kinetix: Keeping your business virtual

Since its foundation in 1987, TIE has been active in the Business-to-Business Master Data  

Management. TIE bridges the gap between online and traditional business through contributing 

to the online business of our customers. TIE´s solutions enable customers to extend the limits of 

electronic business collaboration and achieve maximum E-commerce.
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through a variety of channels in order to effectively 
create demand for products and services. Signals 
from the consumer must be consolidated, inter-
preted, and acted upon to ensure that your busi-
ness can outlast and outperform your competitors. 
Once the demand becomes an order, it must be 
processed in the most efficient ways, and commu-
nicated to the suppliers and logistics providers that 
can fulfill the demand. TIE Kinetix is the platform 
for connecting businesses and merging supply and 
demand in the most technologically efficient ways, 
saving our customers millions of dollars in produc-
tivity and higher sales performance.
TIE Kinetix compasses the 3 integrated platforms:

  �TIE Kinetix Business Integration Platform: 
Connecting businesses to enhance fulfillment in 
the supply chain. As explained on page 23.

  �TIE Kinetix Content Syndication Platform: 
Marketing & Information throughout the  
supply chain. As explained on page 24.

  �TIE Kinetix E-commerce Platform: Comprehen-
sive and scalable E-commerce platform.  
As explained on page 27.

General
The three Platforms enclose a total electronic-con-
cept for sharing business information, from basic in-
formation to complex content information, through-
out the full chain, from manufacturer to reseller/
distributor, and finally, reaching the end-user, who 
buys goods or services through an online webshop.

All software is provided under a license or as a 
service. Software as a Service (SaaS) provides our 
customers with the benefits of new solutions, while 
limiting their initial investment.

All solutions are designed to enhance the value of 
the software and provide quality and usability to 
our customers. All TIE solutions are completed with 
reporting facilities to monitor and analyze the pro-
cesses supported. A dashboard provides a compre-
hensive overview of all Key Performance Indicators 
and allows access to more detailed information. 
Workflow capabilities monitor your processes 
completely unattended and report exceptions 
when they occur in any desired format. Our expert 
resources and carefully selected resellers focus on a 
clear Return on Investment for our customers.
TIE Kinetix lowers costs, increases revenue and 
optimizes business processes. TIE Kinetix connects 
businesses.

Services 
TIE’s commitment to customer success extends 
beyond delivering software and solutions. We have 
developed a world-class support services organiza-

tion to complement our industry-leading products, 
helping to ensure that our customers derive the 
greatest possible value from deploying software.
TIE offers complementary services, including con-
sulting, education services, customer service and 
support. TIE aims to provide these services through 
partners, resellers and system integrators. 
Additionally, TIE offers:

VAN Services - TIE provides all the advantages of a 
full-service private network that safeguards trans-
actions between business partners and allows you 
to connect to any type of Value-Added Network 
instantly. 

Outsourcing and Hosting Services – In today’s 
market, companies are accustomed to entrusting 
IT services to specialists. TIE provides an online ap-
plication service based on the domains above that 
help companies take advantage of the Internet. TIE 
provides the resources required to fill any in-house 
gaps associated with solution configuration, opera-
tion, and support, and can address short-term or 
long-term requirements.
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Regardless of whether they operate in the real 
world or online, every business requires the 

power to connect applications and processes with 
the applications of their supply chain partners. This 
connection ensures that any action in the supply 
chain – for example, a stock replenishment order – 
results in an immediate and accurate response from 
your partners, i.e. your supplier and your logistic 
company, but also updates stock-level information 
for the web shops of your sales partners.

By eliminating the need for human interaction and 
centralizing your product information, Business 
Integration eliminates paperwork and the risk of 
human error in supply chain activities. It will also 
allow efficient and reliable exchanges of product 
information with business partners, both upstream 
and downstream. This results in a more manage-
able, more predictable, and therefore more profit-
able supply stream. 

For example, by connecting together, synchroniz-
ing data, and establishing immediate and struc-

tured verification of all data, an invoice is auto-
matically generated, sent and booked. This results 
in a cost reduction and improves efficiently. This 
example is based on our e-Invoicing solution, but 
the TIE Kinetix Business Integration Platform is not 
limited thereto.

The solutions for integration of basic information 
into any back office system also include Messaging, 
Data Synchronization and Data Verification. There-
fore, we offer our customers a clear Return on 
Investment and a minimal risk of implementation. 

Today, over 5,000 customers use daily TIE EDI 
solutions to transfer data to business partners 
worldwide; this customer base is build over the 22 
years of TIE’s existence. Our latest solutions as Data 
Quality and e-Invoicing are in use by Sodexo, Eriks, 
Poiesz supermarket, Jumbo supermarket, Sikkens, 
Intratuin, Railpro, Moonen Packaging, Johnson, 
Homz, AMR Research, Epicor, Homax, Clopay, Cha-
nel and many more.

Business Integration Platform

Every business requires the 
power to connect applications 
and processes with the 
applications of their supply 
chain partners
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What many companies are lacking, regard-
less of the strength of their supply chains, 

is an effective means of online communication 
with resellers and consumers. They are unable to 
control the consistency of online communication 
and require a total marketing communication solu-
tion for the entire channel. Traditional companies, 
in particular, experience difficulties in ensuring 
consistency in online product marketing and 
require a solution for ultimate brand management 
for the communication with all their resellers and 
distributors, whether the company has a dozen or 
hundreds of outlets, each with their own market-
ing agenda’s and strategies.

TIE Kinetix Content Syndication Solution provides 
these traditional companies with the tools to 
create their product information and distribute it 
online. From one Master Data Management data 
and content source (the “single source of truth”), 
manufactures and distributors assist their partners 
in the supply chain by updating any reseller’s or 
distributor’s web site with the latest products up-
dates, actions and information in real time, elimi-
nating any delay in the go-to-market. This enables 
resellers and distributors to serve, attract and con-
vince the end-users. Meanwhile, the manufacturer 
and distributor’s investment in product marketing 

is protected due to consistent and controllable 
information delivery and use without handcuffing 
the resellers and distributors in their online sales 
and branding efforts.

For manufacturers and distributors, Content Syndi-
cation fills in a critical void. Today, many of them 
lack the ability to “activate” the channel and moti-
vate resellers and distributors to be more proactive 
with the manufacturer and distributor’s market-
ing power. With the infrastructure of a Content 
Syndication Platform, they can provide resellers and 
distributors with dynamic online merchandising 
tools that can be used to leverage the product mar-
keting in email campaigns and on the reseller’s and 
distributor’s web sites. It enables these partners to 
connect in ways that are critical to businesses mov-
ing forward, especially given the independence and 
technical savvy of today’s consumer. 

Many A-Brands and distributors use the Content 
Syndication Platform today to syndicate content to 
business partners. Companies ahead of the curve in 
their markets, such as Microsoft, Kyocera, Siemens, 
Leolux, Quantore and Panasonic, are all driving for 
more market and better market penetration on 
line.

Content Syndication Platform

Control the consistency of  
online communication and  
require a total marketing 
communication solution  
for the entire channel
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While E-commerce and supply chain manage-
ment technologies have matured, there is 

still considerable potential for improvement and 
advancement. The TIE E-commerce Platform is a 
comprehensive scalable and proven E-commerce 
Platform to launch your business online. Whether 
you are performing B2B or B2C or combining 
those two, this is now possible with the Platform, 
enabling the merchant to be in full control of its 
webshop(s). Seemless integration with existing ERP 
Platforms is available (Exact, Unit4, BaaN, Oracle, 
SAP WMS and many more).

The TIE Kinetix E-commerce Platform already 
handles over 10 million visitors per month for 
several mid and large-sized companies. Companies 
like KPN-HI, Ahold, Simac-ICT and Vodafone are 
using the Platform to enable their businesses on-
line, resulting in lower costs for order intake and 
lower costs in sales.

A comprehensive scalable 
and proven E-commerce 
Platform to get every business 
online, whether you are 
doing B2B or B2C

E-commerce Platform 
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Our staff, Sales, R&D, Consultancy, Support, 
Finance & Legal, have been aptly challenged, and 
therefore, fully devoted in reaching the tough 
targets we established. The Management Board 
appreciates the contributions to success made by 
all employees and managers worldwide. 

Operating Expenses
During 2009, operating expenses were sufficiently 
reduced, resulting from the cost-cutting program 
started during the fiscal year 2008. Employee costs 
remained stable, as additional costs that resulted 
from the MamboFive B.V. acquisition (10 months) 
in 2009 could be set off against 2008 reorganiza-
tion costs.

Depreciation costs, excluding impairment effects, 
have increased, resulting from the depreciation 
of assets purchased through MamboFive B.V. as 
well as amortizing new developed software upon 
release.

Other operating expenses decreased by almost 

20% (adjusting MamboFive B.V. 10 months), result-
ing predominantly from reducing costs. 

Productivity
We focused on a tight control and focus on billable 
hours in which excellent results were obtained in 
the Netherlands and France, coming very close 
to 80% utilization. The US market was affected 
considerably by the economical crisis, resulting in a 
decrease of consulting staff. Additionally, we con-
tinue to investigate the possibilities of implement-
ing the knowledge obtained through the TIE RDI 
Projects (EU) to TIE Kinetix. This results in increased 
efficiency and truly provides our customers with 
the benefits of the research performed. 

Strategic Long Term  
Investments by TIE
TIE has appointed two sales directors for the EMEA 
and Asian-Pacific market in order to look for geo-
graphical expansion into new markets, as well as 
further development of our global alliances with 
CNET and Epicor.

Report from the Management Board 

Though worldwide economical circumstances were tough, TIE enjoyed its best financial year since 

the Company was listed on the NYSE Euronext. In 2009, the Company harvested the first result of 

the reorganization started in the 2008 fiscal year, resulting in achieving the 2009 targets:

 	�Development and release of the Smart Start Business Integration Solution;

 	�Development, release and marketing of the Content Syndication Solution in both the US and 

worldwide markets. A strategic partnership was agreed with CNET for the worldwide sale of 

our Content Syndication Solution. We obtained A-brand customers like Siemens and Microsoft;

 	�The first total TIE Kinetix solution was sold to WECARE4;

 	�Company sales are up by 14%;

 	�Cross selling on a global level was achieved by our sales teams in US and Netherlands, and was 

further supported by the move of our corporate marketing manager to the US;

 	�The E-commerce Solution can be fully integrated with the Content Syndication Solution and 

Business Integration Solution; first steps to accelerate the sale of the E-commerce Solution on a 

worldwide basis have been made; 

 	�We optimized our internal business processes by achieving higher productivity from our consul-

tancy team;

 	�The cash flow from operations was positive, € 568k over the entirety of 2009;

 	�We appointed 2 sales directors, one for EMEA (excluding Netherlands and France) and another 

for Asia-Pacific, in order to reach for geographical expansion into new markets.
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Report from the Management Board

Strategic Alliances
We entered into a global alliance with CNET in or-
der to promote the Content Syndication Solutions 
on a worldwide basis to A-brands. The Company 
continued the global partnership with EPICOR in 
relation to our Business Integration Platform. TIE 
maintains relationships with the following leading 
software and technology vendors: Microsoft (Gold 
Level Partner), Microsoft Navision, EPICOR, SAP, 
Oracle, Exact, Unit 4 Agresso, and other global 
system integrators. TIE believes that these relation-
ships better enable the Company to sell additional 
products to its existing customer base, while 
acquiring new customers and enhancing its market 
presence. The pilots with Microsoft UK and Siemens 
Enterprise Communications GmbH for the TIE Ki-
netix Content Syndication Solutions have resulted 
in, respectively, a partnership with Microsoft UK 
and a global partnership with Siemens Enterprise 
Communications GmbH.

In October 2009, a partnership was announced 
with Intertrade Systems in Canada, which supports 
our long-term strategy to focus our efforts on the 
medium and enterprise market for our Business In-
tegration Solution by providing additional network 
capacity within the North American market.

Research and Development
In June 2009, Business Integration Smart Start was 
launched into the market, enabling users to reduce 
costs by bringing together Electronic Data Inter-
change (EDI) and transport of messages through 
Freeconnect.

In July 2009, TIE was announced as one of the 
partners in the EU net challenge project to develop 
visionary collaborative business environment for 
small and medium enterprises.

In October 2009, the Translator 4.0 was released, 
allowing users to transform their electronic busi-
ness documents from one format into another, 
thus opening up their ERP and other business 
software for integration with that of their partners 
in a controlled manner.

Cash flow 
The ABN-AMRO facility ended per October 1, 2008, 
an amount of € 435k was redeemed. In December 
19, 2008, the Company completed the Sales Purchase 
Agreement of MamboFive B.V. An amount of € 200k 
was paid on that date, while an amount of € 300k 
was paid on February 27, 2009. Funding for the sec-
ond part of the transaction was raised through con-
vertible bonds amounting to € 326k, predominantly 
paid by the Companies’ management/managers.

The Company paid an amount of € 400k to the 
landlord of its old premises in the Netherlands on 

December 20, 2008, resulting from an agreement 
reached in November 2007.  

The positive 2009 cash flow from operations 
amounted € 568k. During 2009, we managed to 
obtain additional funding of € 326k to secure the 
purchase of MamboFive B.V. 

On September 30, 2009, TIE obtained a credit facil-
ity from Rabobank, amounting to € 350k for the 
Netherlands operations.

General Management
On November 26, 2007, Jan Sundelin, former Chief 
Sales Officer, commenced his task of Interim CEO. 
After the finalization of the financial restructuring, 
the Supervisory Board appointed him as Chief Exec-
utive Officer of the Company. As CEO, Jan Sundelin 
was offered the opportunity to implement the new 
strategy for the coming years. 

Since May 1, 2008, Zwier van Puijenbroek is hired 
as financial director of the Company. Zwier is cur-
rently not a member of the Management Board of 
the Company.

Management Statement
Pursuant to the implementation of the Transpar-
ency Directive 2004/109/EC into Dutch legislation 
per December 24, 2008, the Management Board 
states that to its knowledge a) the accounts in this 
Annual Report give a true and fair view of the as-
sets, liabilities and financial position and profit and 
loss of TIE Holding N.V. and its subsidiaries; b) the  
management report in this Annual Report gives a 
true and fair view of TIE Holding N.V. as per the 
balance sheet date and the state of affairs during 
the financial year to which this report relates and 
c) the annual management report describes the 
material risks the Company is facing.

Outlook
The Management Board strongly believes that the 
reorganization initiated in the 2008 fiscal year has 
begun to pay off and has contributed significantly 
to the results of 2009. The acquisition of Mambo-
Five B.V. completed the TIE Kinetix Platform, con-
sisting of Business Integration Platform, Content 
Syndication Platform and E-commerce Platform. 
During 2009, significant efforts have been made 
in integrating the functionality offered by the 
three platforms, which collectively offer different 
solutions to our customers. In 2010, the integration 
will be completed, resulting in an important step 
for further growth of the Company. The focus on 
new technologies (such as Content Syndication), 
further geographical expansion, and the entering 
of new markets will help us to further progress the 
Company. Part of the future growth will involve 
new acquisitions.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
The following section contains a discussion and 
analysis of financial position and results of the 
Company. In comparing the operations of the 
respective years, the acquisition of MamboFive B.V. 
(included in the consolidation and fully integrated 
in the Netherlands segment as of December 1, 
2008) is of key importance in understanding the 
development of both revenues and expenses in 
2009 in comparison to 2008.

All amounts are in € x 1,000 unless stated  
otherwise.

Annual Result of Operations  
and Financial Position
The following table sets forth the main items in 
the Company’s income statement for the respective 
financial years:
 

Shareholders’ equity increased predominantly, 
resulting from the net profit, conversion of Con-
vertible Bonds and excersizing options. At year end 
of 2009, Shareholders’ equity amounts to € 2,417k 
(2008; € 449k). Equity increased to € 4,078k at 2009 
year end from € 2,184k at 2008 year end. The Com-
pany managed to attract additional funding by the 
issue of Convertible Bonds to third party investors, 
related party investors, and members of the Com-
pany’s management. Equity includes Convertible 
Bonds amounting to € 1,661k (2008 € 1,735k).

The development of Total Income and Operating 
Expenses is discussed in detail below.

Total Income
The following table, as displayed below, provides 
the breakdown of Total Income and Income Net 
of Direct Purchase Costs by category for 2009 and 
comparative 2008 (and the percentage of total net 
revenues represented by each category) for the 
financial years indicated.
 
SaaS pertains to all hosting, webEDI (TiedByTIE) 
and Value Added Network services. These services 
are generally provided on the basis of a 12, 24 or 
36 months contract whereby fees are based on 
actual use of the service or a subscription fee or a 
combination of thereof. SaaS revenue also includes 
revenue from marketing channel management; 
these services are provided on a subscription basis 
with a fixed contract period, generally 12 months. 
Revenues are accounted for on a percentage of 
completion bases. This means increasing sales in 
this category will result into income with a delay.
SaaS, Maintenance and Support and Other Income 
generate what may be considered as recurring 
revenues, while 45% of consultancy revenue is con-
sidered as recurring generated from installed base. 
Licenses and the remaining 55% of consultancy rev-
enues are classified as non recurring revenue. Recur-

Annual Result of Operations  
and Financial Position

2009 2008

Total Income  11,190  9,788 

Direct Purchase Costs  (1,367)  (1,412)

Operating Expenses  (9,064)  (10,257)

Net Income  530  (2,098)

Shareholders’Equity  2,417  449 

Equity  4,078  2,184 

Cash flow from operating activities  568  (359)

Total Income and Income Net of Direct Purchase Costs 2009 2008

Licenses  1,212 11%  1,505 15%

Maintenance and Support  3,243 29%  3,068 31%

Consultancy  2,458 22%  1,931 20%

Software as a Service  3,472 31%  2,730 28%

Total Revenues  10,385 93%  9,234 94%

Other Income  805 7%  554 6%

Total Income  11,190 100%  9,788 100%

Direct Purchase Costs  (1,367)  (12%)  (1,412)  (14%)

Income Net of Direct Purchase Costs  9,823 88%  8,376 86%

The net result for 2009 totaled a profit of € 530k, 
compared to a loss of € -2,098k in 2008. The 
underlying operating income has grown by 14%. 
Organically, revenue has grown by € 679k (7%) 
and the MamboFive B.V. acquisition, included as of 
December 1, 2008, resulted in a growth of € 723k 
(7%). Operating expenses decreased by € 1,193k 
after excluding MamboFive B.V. costs by € 1,763k.

TIE Holding n.v. ~ Annual Report 2009 31



Report from the Management Board

ring revenues are a more stable basis of growth for 
the Company. Since 2008, management continued 
its focus on building a recurring revenue stream.

Development of recurring revenues versus non-
recurring revenues is shown below:
 

in North America stabilized as measured in Euro, 
while in USD sales in North America, it declined by 
10% as a result of the economic crisis.
The Netherlands revenues reflect a growth of 25% 
due to particularly increased revenue from SaaS, 
Maintenance and Support and Other Income. The 
organic growth of the Netherlands was about 9%; 
the remaining growth of another 16% (€ 723k) 
resulted from the MamboFive B.V. acquisition (10 
months). SaaS revenue is still growing as the mar-
ket increasingly understands the benefits of using 
the services the Company offers on a subscription 
basis. Other Income consists of Government Grants 
pertaining to EC funded research programs and Na-
tional Research. In 2009, this figure increased due 
to participating in (new) projects such as SOA4ALL, 
STASIS, NetChallange, NESSI2010 and NEXOF-RA. 
The projects TIE is involved in are closely related to 
the core competences of both the Company and 
the evolution of ICT-SOA and Semantics. Manage-
ment is actively seeking spinoff from these projects 
into TIE Kinetix. Reviews of the STASIS project have 
yielded positive feedback with interest from the 
European Commission Semantic Interoperability 
center (SEMIC.EU) as well as its Dutch equivalent. 
The Netherlands license revenue remained stable 
compared to 2008; however, 2008 included € 100k 
of a license agreement with Lekker van der Laan 
Dekker, whose company went bankrupt in early 
2009, as an amount of € 85K was impaired.

Total income in the North American territory 
stabilized (in Euro) as a result of favorable currency 
effects during the start of the year. In USD, the 
income decreased by 10%. SaaS revenue, however, 
increased in the North Americas by 54% from 
€ 603k in 2008 to € 931k in 2009. In USD, SaaS 
revenue increased to USD 1,257k compared to 
USD 906k in 2008, a growth of 39%. This recurring 
revenue growth was offset by lower license, Con-
sultancy revenues, and slightly lower Maintenance 
and Support revenue. 

Rest of World revenues reflects a 20% growth. TIE 
France showed an overall growth of € 151k (17%), 
including 76% growth in SaaS revenues, 9% on Li-
censes and 4% in maintenance and support, while 
Consultancy decreased by 10%. The international 
revenues driven from the Netherlands showed 
an overall growth of 18%, while SaaS showed a 
growth of € 28k (11%), Maintenance and Support 
showed a growth of € 45k (22%) and Consultancy 
an increase of € 62k (124%). Meanwhile, License 
sales decreased by € 17K (11%).

The Direct purchase costs decreased to 12% of To-
tal Income in 2009 (2007: 14%), resulting from cost 
cuts on hosting services and lower volume of third 
party licenses sold.

The growth of recurring revenue over 2009 
compared to 2008 is largely due to the continued 
growth in SaaS and Other Income (EC projects) and 
the recurring SaaS revenue from the acquisition of 
MamboFive B.V.. 

Revenues by region:

Recurring revenue

Non Recurring Revenue

Total Revenue
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Revenues by region: 2009 2008

The Netherlands  5,509 49%  4,390 45%

North America  3,846 34%  3,836 39%

Rest of World  1,835 16%  1,562 16%

Total Income  11,190 100%  9,788 100%

 

Revenue development over the last 5 years:
 

Total Income overall increased by € 1402k, repre-
senting an increase of 14%. This growth was real-
ized in The Netherlands (11%) and Rest of World 
(3%). TIE France income, included in Rest of World, 
increased by 17% to € 1,057k, while the interna-
tional business driven from The Netherlands opera-
tion increased by 17% to € 772k. Total Income 
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Operating Expenses
The table above shows a breakdown of the total 
operating expenses for the financial years indi-
cated.
 
Operating expenses have decreased in total by  
€ 1,193k. 
The employee costs decreased by € 62k compared 
to 2008. The acquisition of MamboFive B.V. had an 
effect on employee benefits of € 455k in 2009 (10 
months). In 2008, the Company recorded additional 
costs resulting from redundancy costs amounting 
to € 450k. Employee Benefits include Stock Option 
Expenses. All Stock Option plans include a vesting 
period, which means the expense is spread over the 
vesting period (as of October 1, 2004). The vesting 
Stock Option Expense in 2009 amounts to approxi-
mately € 292k, compared to € 169k in 2008. 

The decrease of the depreciation costs is discussed 
in more detail below. Other Operating expenses 
have slightly decreased and are discussed in more 
detail in note 8 of the Consolidated Balance sheet.

Depreciation, Amortization  
and Impairment
 

The impairment test performed for each of the 
Cash Generating Unit (CGU) per 2009 year end 
revealed that there was no need for further impair-
ment. Due to the impairments of 2007 and 2008, 
depreciation and amortization costs for 2008 were 
relatively low; in 2009 depreciation and amortiza-
tion costs increased, resulting from amortization of 
capitalized R&D costs and depreciation on acquired 
MamboFive B.V. fixed assets.

Operating Expenses 2009 2008

Employee Benefits  6,496 72%  6,558 64%

Depreciation, Amortization and Impairments  360 4%  992 10%

Other Operating Expenses  2,208 24%  2,707 26%

Total Operating Expenses  9,064 100%  10,257 100%

Depreciation, Amortization  
and Impairment

2009 2008

Depreciation and amortization of 
Fixed Assets

 360  269 

Impairments  -  723 

Total  360  992 

The interest expense in 2009 and 2008 pertains to 
the interest costs for use of the loans and deferred 
interest on the MamboFive B.V. acquisition as dis-
cussed in more detail on page 58. During the year, 
no credit facility has been used.

Income Taxes 
Based on the improving economic outlook and 
results of the fiscal unity in The Netherlands, TIE 
has recognized a tax asset per 2009 year end of 
€ 243k, based upon the AOP and business plans. 
More details are discussed on page 64.

Based on the improving economic outlook for TIE 
Commerce Inc in the North American territory, man-
agement has recognized an additional Tax Asset in 
2006, amounting to € 1.8m (USD 2.3m) to account for 
temporary differences, resulting in a total Deferred 
Tax Asset of € 2.6m (USD 3.3m) per 2006 year end. 
Per 2009 year end, the Deferred Tax Assets on tem-
porary differences amounts to € 1.5m (USD 2.2m). 

Each year proceeding 2006 sees a partial reversal of 
the Deferred Tax Asset set up in 2006. This reversal 
is mainly the result of a reduction in temporary dif-
ferences between the tax basis of assets and their 
carrying value, and not a result of change in the 
economic outlook for the North American activi-
ties to which the Deferred Tax Asset pertains. The 
reversal of the temporary differences is predomi-
nantly caused by the amortization of US-based 
Goodwill to income for tax purposes, whereas this 
item has already been expensed for commercial 
purposes. The annual fiscal amortization charge 
amounting to approximately USD 750k is the main 
driver of this reversal.

Financial income 
and/or Expense

2009 2008

Interest Income  15  5 

Interest Expenses  (46)  (58)

Exchange gains/
(losses)

 (2)  3 

Total  (33)  (50)

Financial income and/or Expense
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Cash Position
On September 30, 2009, the Company held posi-
tive cash and cash equivalents of € 457k (2008 € 
1,088k); the credit facility, obtained from Ra-
bobank on September 30, 2009 was not used in 
during the 2009 fiscal year (the credit line with 
ABN-AMRO was ended and fully repaid for an 
amount of € 435k on October 1, 2008). The net 
cash position amounted to € 457k (2008: 653k).

The Company issued various Convertible Bonds 
against cash for an amount of € 361k, predomi-
nantly by various managers of the Company for a 
total amount of € 356k.

Alto Imaging Group N.V., a related party, held 2 
loans: one loan amounts to € 200k and was repaid 
on December 31, 2009, and the other loan, amount-
ing to € 105k, was repaid on November 28, 2008. 

On December 20, 2008, the Company fully paid the 
rental debt to the landlord of the old corporate of-
fice in accordance to the contractual obligations as 
agreed in November 2007 amounting to € 400k.

For the acquisition of MamboFive B.V., the Com-
pany paid a cash amount of € 200k on December 
19, 2008 and € 300k on February 27, 2009. More 
details are disclosed on page 58. 

In 2009, the Company had a positive cash flow 
from its operations of € 568k (2008: - € 359k).
We expect that the future cash flow will be suf-
ficient to cover the negative working capital per 
balance sheet date.

Development (R&D)
During 2009, the Company capitalized R&D for 
the amount of € 557k (2008: € 389k). Techno-
logical feasibility for development goals set for 
these development projects was established, and 
management believes the finished product will im-
prove the Company’s potential in the marketplace. 
Significant R&D effort is being invested in the EC 
supported, SO4ALL, NESSI2010, NetChallange and 
NEXOF-RA and STASIS projects. These projects have 
not been capitalized but are expensed through the 
Income Statement, since it is uncertain that they 
generate future benefits.

Targets for Financial Year 2010

TIE’s focus for the coming years is to consist of the 
three Platform solutions. The Platforms will be 
further developed and integrated, and intensified 
marketing and sales efforts will take place. The 
first step has been made by the introduction of a 
new website www.TIEGlobal.com and the introduc-
tion of the TIE magazine.

TIE aims to grow geographically by entering new 
markets worldwide, especially in EMEA and  
Asia-Pacific area, while improving synergy between 
existing markets. On a national level, TIE focuses on 
entering new sectors and vertical markets. Finan-
cially, TIE’s objective is to accomplish a significant 
revenue growth, while reporting an operational 
positive cash flow quarter over quarter.

Internal business processes have been improved 
during 2009. We will continue to focus on additional 
improvement where necessary. Furthermore, TIE will 
focus on product development. This does not only 
imply development of new products, but also in fur-
ther improving and integrating our existing products. 

TIE Kinetix Platforms
TIE’s mission is to provide our customers with solid, 
future-proof software that is of the highest level of 
usability, both now and in the future, and to assist 
our customers with in-depth expertise. Throughout 
the Company’s history, TIE has been among the 
first providers of new concepts and technology. 
The TIE Kinetix Platforms constitute a unique Mas-
ter Data Management proposition. The TIE Kinetix 
Business Integration Platform, the TIE Kinetix 
Content Syndication Platform and the TIE Kinetix 
E-commerce Platform are the basis for the future.

Growth
In the coming financial year, our target is to realize 
sustainable and profitable growth. TIE’s aim is to 
achieve long-term autonomous revenue growth 
of 10%-15% per year. With our unique proposi-
tion, we intend to enter new worldwide markets 
that offer prospects for profitable and long-term 
growth in order to strengthen our international 
presence. On a national level, we intend to enter 
new sectors and vertical markets. Our solutions 
have proven that we can support customers of all 
sizes in multiple countries. By offering our custom-
ers a clear Return on Investments and offering 
products that can be used by our customers with-
out having to change the entire infrastructure, we 
can convince them of the value of our solutions. 
We shall provide our existing customers with up-
dated products and new releases, while providing 
new customers with our total solution for Master 
Data Management.   

Furthermore, growth is not limited to autonomous 
growth, but we will also explore opportunities for 
strategic acquisitions. Companies in new geograph-
ical worldwide markets, where TIE currently does 
not have a strong customer base, and others that 
are active in sectors and markets in the Nether-
lands, USA and France are all considered valuable 
additions to the Company. The Company has the fi-
nancial, legal and technical knowledge to smoothly 
perform acquisitions. 

Report from the Management Board
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Costs and Capital Expenditure
Management continuously focuses on improving 
efficiency in order to control or reduce costs. This 
includes the flexibility and ability to increase/de-
crease staff, based on business plans and develop-
ments. It also includes efficiency benefits to be 
obtained through improving the cooperation be-
tween divisions and countries. The Company does 
not expect large capital expenditure on invest-
ments in fixed assets or the replacement thereof.  

Product development
TIE has a history of technology leadership and 
dedication to continuous product improvement. 
TIE provides comprehensive product suites that en-
able customers to rapidly and efficiently streamline 
business processes with the help of E-commerce, 
both internally and externally. TIE will continue 
to promote and embrace existing and emerging 
industry standards and participate in the research 
necessary to provide a future proof product and 
services suite. With its participation in European 
Projects as well as being part of the standardiza-
tion committee in the United Nations, TIE continu-
ously monitors new standards and developments in 
E-commerce worldwide. The knowledge obtained 
through the participations of these projects safe-
guard the development of our own software.

Concrete targets for the  
coming financial year:

 	� Continue focusing on the three Platforms, 
which collectively present our TIE Kinetix solu-
tion as a total product offering for our existing 
and new customers;

 	� Develop and release new updates of the 
software in the Business Integration Platform. 
Market and sell the new version to existing 
customers and new customers worldwide. 
Build strategic application partnerships, in line 
with the partnership, with Epicor; 

 	� Continue to build our Freeconnect EDI com-
munity in the Netherlands;

 	� Continue to focus on the Content Syndication 
Platform in the US, Asian-Pacific and EMEA 
markets attracting A-brand customers. Build 
our strategic alliance with CNET for the sale 
and marketing of our Content Syndication 
Platform worldwide;

 	� Fully integrate the MamboFive E-commerce 
B2B and B2C solution into the total offering of 
TIE and enter existing and new markets with 
our TIE Kinetix E-commerce Platform;

 	� Achieve synergies between the business pro-
cesses in the United States, the Netherlands 
and France by streamlining the organization 
and its business processes. Empower cross-
selling on a global level;

 	� Optimize the internal business processes utiliz-
ing all potential of the internal system called 

My-TIE, with the focus on ensuring additional 
cost savings. 

 	� By achieving these targets, we secure a healthy 
business with a positive cash flow quarter over 
quarter, thus creating long-term value for all 
stakeholders.

The success of these initiatives is highly dependent 
on a number of factors. An important element is 
the general economic development and the effects 
of the financial crisis on the sales. Should the cur-
rent general economic trend continue, this may put 
many investments by customers on hold, not only 
in the United States but also in Europe. These risks 
as well as the risks connected with financial instru-
ments are discussed extensively in the Company 
financial statements from page 42 onwards.

Another factor is the manner in which the Compa-
ny is able to market the three Platforms worldwide 
and deliver the solutions to its customers. It is very 
important to communicate effectively and cost ef-
ficiently, but we must also keep in mind that every 
sale is accompanied by an implementation, and TIE 
must guarantee sufficient and adequate resources 
to successfully implement solutions. An important 
factor is the motivation of the staff. Management 
is well aware of the fact that the ultimate success 
of the Company lies with its staff members. Motiva-
tion bonuses and training to sales, technical, legal 
and administrative staff are scheduled for 2010.

Risk Assessment

Today’s unstable geo-political and monetary 
environment is a key risk that is largely beyond 
TIE’s control. Further risks of this type include the 
entry of more and larger players into the Master 
Data Management and B2Bi market, creating more 
confusion amongst users leading to inertia in the 
market place. The positioning of the Company 
providing a unique perspective on these markets 
assists in mitigating this risk. Competitors, however, 
are likely to catch up at some time in the future.

Other risks may be influenced by TIE, including the 
unwillingness of existing B2Bi players to cooperate 
rather than compete on a new generation of prod-
ucts, the possible inability to retain staff members 
and qualified management, and the unwillingness 
of investors to raise additional funding to invest in 
TIE’s growth. Additionally, the Company’s activi-
ties expose it to a variety of risks, including market 
risks (currency risk and interest rate risk) credit risk, 
and liquidity risk. Financial instruments held are 
accounted for under Assets (Loans and Receivables) 
and Equity (Convertible Bonds). The risks are moni-
tored on a recurring basis at a Management Board 
level, applying input received from Management in 
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the individual geographical areas, with whom the 
Management Board has contact on regular basis. 
The risk analysis focuses predominantly on business 
risks that result in managerial decisions on invest-
ing in Research and Development and entering 
new markets. Financing and funding decisions are 
made at Management Board level, guaranteeing 
that management is aware of any changes and de-
velopments. Individual debtors with collectability 
issues are discussed on an item by item basis.

The Company neither holds nor issues financial 
instruments for trading or hedging purposes.

Fair value
The Company does not hold any financial assets or 
liabilities accounted for at fair value through the 
Profit and Loss Account. Fair values disclosed are 
calculated based on current interest rates, taking 
into account the terms and conditions of the finan-
cial asset or liability. In most cases, fair values will 
equal the carrying value of the item.

Currency Risk
The Currency Risk is discussed on page 54 of this 
report.

Credit Risk
The Credit risk is discussed on page 55 of this 
report.

Liquidity Risk
The Liquidity Risk is discussed on page 56 of this 
report.

Interest Rate Risk
The Interest Rate Risk is discussed on page 57 of 
this report.
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The Code regulates the relations between the 
Management Board, the Supervisory Board and the 
shareholders and contains (a) principles, which are 
general concepts of proper corporate governance 
and (b) best practice provisions, which are detailed 
standards governing the conduct of aforementioned 
entities, resulting from the principles of the Code. 

Corporate governance is not limited to a set of 
regulations; it must be tailored to the specific situa-
tion of the Company. A deviation may therefore be 
justified by the specific circumstances of the Com-
pany. A company may deviate from the principles 
and the best practice provisions contained in the 
Code, provided that it shall give a proper explana-
tion in the annual report, as to why such deviation 
has been made (“apply or explain”).

In this annual report, a further analysis will be 
given on what further measures the Company has 
taken to apply the Code, or as the case may be, an 
explanation for deviations from the principles and/
or provisions of the Code is included. The strength 
of corporate governance is based on the extent to 
which the Company, the Management Board, the 
Supervisory Board and the shareholders endorse it. 
In this respect and in order to gain a full under-
standing of the corporate governance structure of 
the Company, this chapter, the other chapters of 
this annual report, and all regulations and docu-
ments regarding corporate governance (available 
on the website) should be read together. 

In this annual report, the Company does not take 
other corporate governance codes into account. TIE 
considers Code Frijns and Code Tabaksblat as the 
leading codes in the Netherlands. Both Codes can 
be found on the website of the Monitoring Com-
mittee (www.commissiecorporategovernance.nl).

Management Board
The role of the Management Board is to manage 
the Company. Under the Code, this means that it 
is responsible for achieving the Company’s targets, 
strategy and policy, results, and corporate social 
responsibility issues. The Management Board is 
accountable for this to both the Supervisory Board 

and General Meeting of Shareholders. In discharg-
ing its role, the Management Board shall be guided 
by the interests of the Company and its affiliated 
enterprises. The Management Board shall take into 
account the relevant interests of all stakeholders 
rather than the interests of any particular stake-
holder.

The Management Board shall provide the Super-
visory Board in a timely fashion with all informa-
tion necessary for the exercise of the duties of 
the Supervisory Board. The Management Board is 
responsible for complying with all relevant legisla-
tion (primary and secondary) and regulations, for 
managing the risks associated with the Company 
activities, and for financing the Company. Related 
developments have been and shall be reported to 
the Supervisory Board. 

The current sole member of the Management 
Board, Jan Sundelin, has been appointed in the 
General Meeting of Shareholders of February 14, 
2007, for a period of four years. His severance pack-
age is in line with best practice provision II.2.7 of the 
Dutch Corporate Governance Code. More informa-
tion on the composition of the Management Board 
can be found on page 14 of the annual report.

Any (apparent) conflict of interest between the 
Company and a member of the Management Board 
shall be avoided. All transactions in which a conflict 
of interest exists or is deemed to exist must be 
concluded on terms at least customary in the sector 
concerned. Resolutions for entering into such trans-
action must be approved by the Supervisory Board.

In Control Statement
In order to ensure adequate and effective internal 
risk management and control systems, all internal 
business processes are aligned according to the 
internal instrument called My-TIE. This system 
gives the Management Board complete visibility 
on all transactions that have taken place any-
where within the Company and provides detailed 
reports on revenue costs. It also provides for strong 
procedures to control purchasing, order fulfillment 
and support. To all TIE employees worldwide, it 

Corporate Governance

Per January 1, 2010, the amended Dutch corporate governance code (Code Frijns) officially  

replaces the prior Dutch corporate governance code, also known as Code Tabaksblat. Last year,  

the Company already decided to take into account the new corporate governance code. With  

this active approach, the Company emphasizes its commitment to transparency and corporate 

governance, and maintains its status as early adaptor.  
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Corporate Governance

provides information on policies and procedures, 
customers and prospects, human resources, assets, 
documentation and pricing of products and servic-
es and it is the platform to collaborate with other 
employees, customers and resellers. The system 
has been outsourced in order to ensure 24/7 global 
availability and free up internal resources.

Operating since 2004, and the My-TIE functionality 
and design are continuously developed to further 
improve supporting business processes. My-TIE has 
also proven to be a very effective instrument of the 
internal risk management and control system. Any 
shortcomings that come to light as the Manage-
ment Board continues to evaluate processes and 
procedures, also in light of changing circumstances 
and business processes, are addressed and resolved 
as soon as possible. In financial year 2009, no mate-
rial changes have been made to My-TIE. 

In view of the above, the Management Board 
believes that with the implementation of My-TIE 
as a system of monitoring and reporting, it has 
taken adequate steps to implement an appropri-
ate risk management and internal control system. 
This system provides, with reasonable certainty, 
reliable internal and external reports, adequate 
information to determine in how far the Company 
is achieving the strategic goals it has set and as-
surance that the Company is operating within the 
boundaries of the law. 

My-TIE significantly reduces, but cannot fully elimi-
nate, the possibility of poor judgment in decision-
making, human errors, abuse, control processes 
being deliberately circumvented by employees and 
others, management overriding controls and the 
occurrence of other unforeseeable circumstances. 
Another limiting factor is the need to consider 
the relative costs and benefits of risk responses. A 
properly designed and implemented risk manage-
ment and internal control system will therefore 
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance 
that a company will not be hindered in achieving 
its business objectives, in orderly and legitimate 
conduct of its business, nor can it provide absolute 
insurance that a misstatement in the financial 
reporting would be prevented or detected. In this 
context, reasonable assurance refers to a degree of 
assurance that would be satisfactory for a prudent 
manager in the management of his affairs in the 
given circumstances. Notwithstanding the forgoing 
and in view of the above, the Management Board 
makes the following statement:

 	� The Management Board is of the opinion that 
it has implemented an internal risk manage-
ment and control system that is adequate and 
effective, suitable for the Company’s business;

 	� The internal risk management and control 
system provide a reasonable assurance that 

the financial reporting does not contain any 
errors of material importance; the financial 
statements therefore provide as far as the 
Management Board is aware, a fair view of the 
financial position, the assets and liabilities and 
the financial results of the Company and con-
solidated enterprises as at September 30, 2009; 

➢  	� The internal risk management and control 
system has worked properly in financial year 
2009 and there are no indications to believe 
that the internal risk management and control 
system will not continue to function properly 
in financial year 2010.

The Management Board has discussed the inter-
nal risk management and control system with the 
Supervisory Board.

Supervisory Board
The role of the Supervisory Board is to supervise 
the policies of the Management Board and the 
general affairs of the Company and its affiliated 
enterprise as well as to assist the Management 
Board by providing advice. In discharging its role, 
the Supervisory Board shall be guided by the inter-
ests of the Company and its affiliated enterprise, 
and shall take into account the relevant interests 
of the Company’s stakeholders. The Supervisory 
Board shall have due regard for the corporate 
social responsibility issues that are relevant to the 
Company. The Supervisory Board is responsible for 
the quality of its own performance.

The composition of the Supervisory Board is such 
that the members are able to act critically and 
independently of one another and of the Man-
agement Board and any particular vested inter-
ests. Each member of the Supervisory Board shall 
be capable of assessing a broad outline of the 
overall strategy of the Company and its business. 
As a whole, the composition shall be such that it 
enables the Supervisory Board to best carry out 
the variety of its responsibilities and duties to the 
Company and others stakeholders. The Supervisory 
Board shall be constituted in a balanced manner as 
to reflect the nature and variety of the Company’s 
businesses and the desirability to have available 
expertise in different fields, thus covering the areas 
of finance, management, legal and the Company’s 
business, the national and international B2B Inte-
gration market. More information on the composi-
tion of the Supervisory Board can be found in the 
report from the Supervisory Board on page 16-18 
of the annual report.

Since the Supervisory Board comprises only three 
members, no separate remuneration committee 
and selection and appointment committee have 
been appointed. The activities of the audit com-
mittee are performed by the Supervisory Board as 
a whole.
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Any (apparent) conflict of interest between the 
Company and a member of the Supervisory Board 
shall be avoided. In Financial Year, Peter van 
Schaick, member of the Supervisory Board and 
owner of 23.74% the outstanding shares of TIE 
through Alto Imaging Group N.V., reported several 
conflicts of interest.

On February 24, 2009, Peter van Schaick, through 
Alto Imaging Group N.V., invested € 69.5k in the 
Company. The ten-year Convertible Bond issued in 
return had a conversion price amounting to € 0.10 
and a one-year lock-up. 

A conflict of interest was also deemed present 
when Peter van Schaick, through Jalak Invest-
ments B.V. offered TIE a loan amounting to € 100k, 
against an annual interest rate amounting to 6%. 
The agreement was entered into on June 25, 2009 
for a term of a half year.

These agreements have been concluded on terms 
at least customary in this sector and the resolutions 
regarding both the loan and the Convertible Bond 
have been approved by the Supervisory Board; 
Mr. Peter van Schaick did not participate in the 
decision-making process. Therefore, the Company 
complied with the rules of procedure and provision 
III.6.1 - III.6.4 of the Code.

Additionally, on May 19, 2009, Peter van Schaick 
through Alto Imaging Group N.V., converted a  
€ 395K convertible bond into ordinary shares.

In financial year 2008, Jan Sundelin, member of 
the Management Board, also reported conflicts of 
interest to the Supervisory Board.

On February 24, 2009, Jan Sundelin invested  
€ 26.5k in the Company. The ten-year Convert-
ible Bond issued in return had a conversion price 
amounting to € 0.10 and a one-year lock-up. 
Additionally, 265,000 conditional options were 
granted to Jan Sundelin, with a vesting period of 
one year and a full term of ten years. These agree-
ments are in line with the agreements made with 
the rest of the management who invested in TIE. 
The Convertible Bond was initially issued to CAPTA 
Management B.V., this has been corrected on June 
19, 2009.

The agreement regarding the investment has been 
concluded on terms at least customary in this sec-
tor and the resolutions have been approved and 
signed by the Supervisory Board; Jan Sundelin did 
not participate in the decision-making process. 
Therefore, the Company complied with the rules of 
procedure and provision II.3.2 to II.3.4 of the Code. 

Additionally, on March 11, 2009, the General Meet-

ing of Shareholders decided to grant Jan Sundelin 
750,000 options. 

On June 19, 2009, Jan Sundelin converted a € 800k 
convertible bond into ordinary shares. 

On July 2 and 8, 2009, Jan Sundelin exercised 
800,000 options in total.

The Shareholders 
Responsible corporate governance requires the 
fully-fledged participation of shareholders in 
the decision-making in the General Meeting of 
Shareholders. It is in the interest of the Company 
that as many shareholders as possible take part 
in the decision-making in the General Meeting of 
Shareholders. In order to increase the participation 
of the shareholders, the Company regularly issues 
press releases and maintains a mailing list of inter-
ested shareholders.

As of January 1, 2007 the Dutch legislator provides 
the possibility to make use of electronic communi-
cation devices with regard to the decision-making 
process in the General Meeting of Shareholders. 
The Company continues to review these possibilities 
to vote and to allow shareholders to attend meet-
ings through the Internet. Given the size of the 
Company, the Management Board is of the opinion 
that such measures, in the short term, will not add 
to the transparency or the decision-making process.

The Company’s authorized share capital amounts 
to € 20 million, divided into 200 million ordinary 
shares, with a nominal value of € 0.10. As per 
October 1, 2009, the number of outstanding shares 
amounts to 71,976,818. Currently the two main 
shareholders are P.P van Schaick (through Alto 
Imaging Group N.V., 23.74%) and C.J.W.A. Komen 
(through DW Vastgoed Beleggingen B.V., 10.42%).

The Company has adopted the rules for large Com-
panies (“structuurregeling”). As a result thereof, 
the Supervisory Board appoints new members of 
the Management Board. The General Meeting of 
Shareholders appoints members of the Supervisory 
Board. The General Meeting of Shareholders may 
amend the Articles of Association.

The General Meeting of Shareholders provided 
the Management Board on March 11, 2009 with 
the authorization to issue new shares and rights to 
acquire shares (options, warrants, convertibles) and 
to restrict or exclude any pre-emptive rights for a 
period of 18 months.  
 
The anti-takeover provision consisting of a founda-
tion called ‘Stichting Preferente Aandelen TIE’ has 
been terminated. The directors of the foundation 
decided to liquidate the foundation on 
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February 18, 2009; the Chamber of Commerce filed 
the termination on March 24, 2009.

General 
Currently, the Company deviates from one best 
practice provision. On March 11, 2009, Jan Sundelin 
received 750,000 options, after a resolution of the 
General Meeting of Shareholders. On February 
24, 2009, Jan Sundelin received 265,000 options as 
appreciation of his investment in TIE. Because the 
options have a lock-up amounting to one year, the 
Company deviated from best practice provision 
II.2.1. Code Tabaksblat. Due to the fact that grant-
ing the options are related to the results of the 
Company and/or the investment made and not to 
the achievement of specified targets, the Company 
currently deviates from best practice provision II.2.4 
of the Code.

Improving the corporate governance structure of 
the Company and following all developments on 
corporate governance is a continuous process, which 
can count on the perpetual commitment of both the 
Supervisory Board and the Management Board of 
the Company. At the General Meeting of Sharehold-
ers, we shall discuss all relevant aspects with our 
shareholders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, please 
contact the Secretary of the Company for questions 
regarding corporate governance at any time.
The documents in connection with the corporate 
governance structure of the Company are available 
on the corporate website http://www.TIEglobal.com. 
These documents are subject to further review.

Corporate Governance
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Corporate Responsibility

Human Resources
TIE considers its employees the most important 
resources and driving force behind achieving ulti-
mate success. Therefore, TIE acts as a responsible 
employer, providing incentives and training to its 
employees for personal success. The know-how and 
expertise of the employees is of great value for TIE.

TIE has a highly diverse and multicultural work-
force. TIE offers its employees and applicants equal 
opportunities, and does not tolerate any form of 
harassment or unfair or unlawful discrimination 
based on race, age, gender, sexual orientation, dis-
ability or national origin.

TIE is driven to attract, develop, reward and retain 
a highly competent staff and aims to provide all 
employees with safe and healthy work conditions. 

TIE recognizes the employees’ right to organize 
themselves in order to protect their own rights.  
As of 1999, TIE has a Worker’s Council 
(Ondernemingsraad) in the Netherlands. As of 
2005, this Worker’s Council has continued on a 
voluntary basis, due to the number of employees in 
the Netherlands. 

The language the Company uses in official an-
nouncements and communication is English, as the 
main international business language.

TIE has a whistleblower’s policy in place, allowing 
employees to report suspected irregularities with-
out jeopardizing their positions. 

Also, TIE has regulations on insider knowledge in 
place, preventing trading with insider knowledge. 
Every employee, executive, specified person, Man-
agement Board member and Supervisory Board 
member is to inform the Compliance Officer of its 
intention to trade in TIE shares prior to any transac-

tion. The Compliance Officer is the legal specialist 
of the Company, ensuring that every employee, 
executive, specified person, Management Board 
member and Supervisory Board member abides 
by the applicable laws and restrictions. The closed 
period, the period in which every employee, execu-
tive, specified person, Management Board member 
and Supervisory Board member is prohibited from 
trying to execute and/or executing a transaction 
TIE shares, irrespective of whether or not he or she 
possesses insider knowledge, is communicated at 
the start of every closed period.

As of October 1, 2007, personal liability insurance is 
in place for members of the Supervisory Board and 
the Management Board.

Environment
As a software company, TIE’s operations have 
minimal effect on the environment. Nonetheless, 
TIE seeks ways to reduce the negative impact on 
the environment. For instance, TIE offers flexible 
working hours to its employees in order to avoid 
traffic jams and the impending results on the 
environment. Furthermore, TIE fully endorses a 
paperless office, through extensive and efficient 
use of My-TIE, as a communication and document 
registration tool.

Code of Conduct
TIE has a Code of Conduct in place, concreting 
important aspects on corporate responsibility. The 
Code of Conduct is subject to evaluation and may 
be amended. On the basis of TIE’s Code of Conduct 
lies TIE’s aim of creating value for all stakehold-
ers and communities in which we operate. TIE will 
abide by all human rights and support the develop-
ment of them wherever it operates within the le-
gitimate role of business. TIE rejects any restrictions 
to free trade other than duly-enacted national and 
international laws.

In order to ensure the objective of growing into a profitable and healthy company that produces 

benefits for all its stakeholders, TIE is committed to achieve the optimum balance between people, 

technology, the environment and worldwide laws and principles.
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Consolidated Financial Statements 
of TIE Holding N.V. for the year 2009

Assets
(€ x 1,000) Notes

September 30,
2009

September 30,
2008

Non Current Assets

	 Intangible fixed assets 1)

	 Goodwill 2,546 1,457

	 Other intangible fixed assets 1,334 788

 3,880  2,245 

	 Tangible fixed assets 2)

	 Property, Plant and Equipment 180 122

 180  122 

	 Financial fixed assets 3)

	 Deferred Tax Asset 1,780 1,918

	 Loans and Receivables 40 22

 1,820  1,940 

Total Non Current Assets  5,880  4,307 

Current Assets 4)

	 Non Current Assets held for sale  198  -   

	 Trade Receivables and Other Receivables: 

	 Trade Receivables 1,817 1,488

	 Taxation and Social Security 10 15

	 Other Receivables and Prepayments 714 533

 2,541  2,036 

	 Cash and Cash Equivalents  457  1,088 

Total Current Assets  2,998  3,124 

Total Assets  9,076  7,431

Consolidated Balance Sheet as at September 30, 2009

(Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet from page 47 onwards)
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Equity and Liabilities
(€ x 1,000) Notes

September 30,
2009

September 30,
2008

Equity 5)

    Shareholders’ Equity 2,417 449

    Convertible Bonds 1,661 1,735

    Capital and Reserves attributable 

    to equity holders of TIE  4,078  2,184 

    Minority Interest  -    - 

Total Equity  4,078  2,184 

Non Current Liabilities 6)

    Loans Payable - 200

    Settlement Liability - 91

    Provisions 8 7

Total Non Current Liabilities  8  298 

Current Liabilities 7)

    Provisions short term 19 394

    Settlement Liabilities short term 94 241

    Short Term Debt 805 540

    Trade Creditors 494 672

    Deferred Revenue 1,981 1,814

    Affiliated Companies 4 4

    Taxation and Social Security 149 215

    Income tax 52 4

    Other Payables and Accruals 1,392 1,065

Total Current Liabilities  4,990  4,949 

Total Equity and Liabilities  9,076  7,431

The Company’s financial year runs from October 1st until September 30th. The 2009, financial year 2009, 
which covers the period October 1, 2008 through September 30, 2009, is referred to as 2009. The compar-
ative pertaining to the period of October 1, 2007 through September 30, 2008 is referred as 2008. 
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(€ x 1,000) Notes 2009 2008

Revenues

Licenses 1,212 1,505

Maintenance and Support 3,243 3,068

Consultancy 2,458 1,931

Software as a Service 3,472 2,730

Total Revenues 10,385 9,234

Other Income 805 554 *)

Total Income 11,190 9,788

Direct Purchase Costs 1,367 1,412

Income Net of Direct Purchase Costs 9,823 8,376

Operating Expenses 8)

Employee Benefits 6,496  6,558 *)

Depreciation, Amortization Expense and                         
Impairment losses

360  992 

Other Operating Expenses 2,208  2,707 

Total Operating Expenses 9,064 10,257

Operating Income  759  (1,881)

Interest and other Financial Income 9) 15 5

Interest and other Financial Expense  (48)  (55)

Share in Profit (Loss) of Associates 10) - -

Income before Tax  726  (1,931)

Corporate Income Tax 11)  (196)  (167)

Net Income  530  (2,098)

Attributable to:

Shareholders TIE  530  (2,098)

Minority interest  -   -

Net result per share – basic 12) 0.01  (0.04)

Weighted average shares outstanding – basic (thousands) 58,346 53,095

Net result per share – diluted 0.01  (0.04)

Weighted average number of shares fully diluted (thousands) 72,397 54,664

Consolidated Income Statement 
for the year ended September 30, 2009

(Notes to the Consolidated Income statement from page 47 onwards)

*)  As from 2009, incoming WBSO has been deducted from employee expenses. The 2008 comparatives have been restated accordingly.

Consolidated Financial Statements of TIE Holding N.V. for the year 2009
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( € x 1,000)

Share 

Capital (Incl 

Surplus)

Retained 

Earnings

Foreign Cur-

rency transla-

tion Reserve

Share-

holders 

Equity

“Convertible 

Bonds”

Equity attribut-

able to equity-

holders of TIE

Minority 

Interest

“Total 

Equity”

Balance per 
September 30, 2007

 51,329  (49,679)  (379)  1,271  870  2,141  -  2,141 

Foreign currency 
translation reserve

 -  -  (94)  (94)  -  (94)  -  (94)

Net Income recognized 
directly in Equity

 -  -  (94)  (94)  -  (94)  -  (94)

Net Income recognized in the 
Income Statement

 -  (2,098)  -  (2,098)  -  (2,098)  -  (2,098)

Total recognized net 
income for 2008

 -    (2,098)  (94)  (2,192)  -    (2,192)  -    (2,192)

Shares Issued and Share premium  1,206  -  -  1,206  -  1,206  -  1,206 

Cost of Shares Issued  (10)  -    -    (10)  -    (10)  -    (10)

Issued Convertible Bonds  -  -  -  -  1,735  1,735  -  1,735 

Converted Convertible Bonds  -  -  -  -  (870)  (870)  -  (870)

Share based payments  -  169  -  169  -  169  -  169 

Other movements  5  -  -  5  -  5  -  5 

Minority Interest  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance per 
September 30, 2008

 52,530  (51,608)  (473)  449  1,735  2,184  -  2,184 

Foreign currency 
translation reserve

 -  -    10  10  -  10  -  10 

Net Income recognized  
directly in Equity

 -  -  10  10  -  10  -  10 

Net Income recognized in the 
Income Statement

 -  530  -  530  -  530  -  530 

Total recognized net  
income for 2009

 -    530  10  540  -    540  -    540 

Shares Issued and Share premium  1,115  -  -  1,115  -  1,115  -  1,115 

Issued Convertible Bonds  -  -  -  -  961  961  -  961 

Converted Convertible Bonds  -  -  -  -  (1,035)  (1,035)  -  (1,035)

Share based payments  -  292  -  292  -  292  -  292 

Other movements  -  21  -  21  -  21  -  21 

Minority Interest  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance per 
September 30, 2009

 53,645  (50,765)  (463)  2,417  1,661  4,078  -  4,078 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended September 30, 2009
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(€ x 1,000) Notes 2009 2008

Income before tax  726  (1,931)

Non Cash Adjustments:

Share based payments expense 8  292  169 

Depreciation, amortization and Impairments 8  360  992 

Increase (decrease) provisions for redundancy and rent building 
(one time items)

7  (635)  555  *) 

Loss on financial fixed assets  -    120 

Increase (decrease) provisions  24  (237)  *) 

Other movements  2  8 

 43  1,607 

Working Capital Movements

(Increase) decrease in debtors  (281)  (219)

(Decrease) increase in deferred revenue  147  8 

(Decrease) increase in current liabilities  (69)  196 

 (203)  (15)

Cash generated (applied) in operations  566  (339)

Interest paid  (13)  (25)

Interest received 9  15  5 

Income taxes paid  -    -   

Net Cash flow from operating activities  568  (359)

Disinvestment in financial fixed assets  (18)  (23)

Investments in intangible fixed assets  (572)  (482)

Investments in tangible fixed assets  (87)  (109)

Acquisition of a subsidiaries net of cash acquired  
(MamboFive and TIE France)

 (332)  (104)

Dividend paid MamboFive to former shareholders  
(years prior to acquisition)

 (191)  -   

Net Cash flow generated / (used) in investing activities  (1,200)  (718)

Increase (decrease) bank overdrafts/loans  (439)  214 

Issue of Convertible bonds  361  1,410 

Costs of shares and bonds issued  -    (10)

Shares issued and share premium  80  336 

Net Cash flow generated / (used) by financing activities  2  1,950 

Net increase (decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents  (630)  873 

Currency Exchange Rate Difference on opening balance Cash and 
Cash Equivalents

 (1)  (4)

Opening balance Cash and Cash Equivalents  1,088  219 

Closing balance Cash and Cash Equivalents  457  1,088 

*) one time items adjusted for in comparatives 2008, no effect on the Cash Flow from operating activities.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended September 30, 2009

Consolidated Financial Statements of TIE Holding N.V. for the year 2009
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General information and summary of significant 
accounting policies.

Corporate Information
TIE Holding N.V. and its subsidiaries (together, the 
Company) develops, sells, and distributes software 
and services in the B2B Integration sector around 
the world through a network of subsidiaries and 
resellers. The Company has been active not only in 
the software development but in the standardiza-
tion process as well.

TIE Holding N.V. is a public company incorporated 
in the Netherlands with its registered address of 
Antareslaan 22-24 Hoofddorp. Subsidiaries are 
located in France, The Netherlands and the US. TIE 
is listed on the NYSE EuroNext in Amsterdam.

The consolidated financial statements for the year 
ending September 30, 2009 are authorized for 
issuing through a resolution of the Management 
Board dated January 21, 2010.

The General Meeting of Shareholders, to be held 
on March 10, 2010, will be requested to decide on 
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the 
Company, included on pages 42 to 81, have been 
prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards and its interpreta-
tions, as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”). 

Basis of Preparation
The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial state-
ments are detailed below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the presented years, 
unless stated otherwise.

The consolidated financial statements are present-
ed in Euros, and all values are rounded to the near-
est thousand (€ x 1,000), unless indicated otherwise.

The Company has opted to prepare a condensed 
profit and loss account in accordance with the ex-
emptions provided by article 2:402 of the Dutch Civil 
Code in the Company Only Financial Statements.

Going Concern Considerations
Based on the 2010 operating plan, the Company 
expects further improvement of its cash inflow, re-
sulting from increased sales and tight cost control. 
Management believes it will have adequate cash to 
run its operations for the next year.

Since the second half-year of 2008, the Company 
has maintained a positive cash flow from its opera-
tions, a situation that continued in 2009. During 
2009, all important financial obligations were paid 
on time.

Additional funding (issue of Convertible Bonds) 
through management, staff and third-parties was 
obtained to fund the acquisition of MamboFive 
B.V. In October 2009, the Company obtained a 
credit facility for the Cash Generating Unit in the 
Netherlands with Rabobank. 

It is Management Board’s intention to repay or con-
vert into Equity Instruments the full amount of debt 
in accordance to the underlying agreements.
Based on all items discussed above, Management 
believes that the accompanying financial statements 
have been prepared on a ‘going concern’ basis.

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the 
financial statements of TIE Holding N.V. and its 
subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Com-
pany has direct or indirect power to determine 
financial and operating policies (‘control’), allowing 
it to obtain economic benefits from its activities. 
The assessment of control is based on the substance 
of the relationship between the Company and the 
entity and, among other things, considers exist-
ing and potential voting rights that are presently 
exercisable and convertible. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date of acquisition, which is 
the date on which the Company obtains control. It 
will continue to be consolidated until the date in 
which such control ceases.

All intra-company balances, transactions, and 
income and expenses resulting from intra-company 
transactions are eliminated in full.

The purchase method of accounting is applied to 
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost 
of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of 
the assets given, equity instruments issued, and 
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of trans-
fer, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisi-
tion. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business com-
bination are initially measured at their fair values 
on the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of 
an acquisition over the fair value of the Company’s 
share of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recognized as goodwill. Minority interests are pre-
sented separately in both the consolidated balance 
sheet and income statement. Where losses attribut-

Notes to the Consolidated IFRS Financial Statements

TIE Holding n.v. ~ Annual Report 2009 47



Notes to the Consolidated IFRS Financial Statements

able to the minority in a consolidated subsidiary 
exceed the minority interest in the subsidiary’s 
equity, both the excess and any additional losses 
applicable to the minority are allocated to the 
Company, except to the extent that the minority 
shareholder has a binding obligation and can make 
an additional investment to cover the losses.

Segment Information
The Company operates mainly in one business seg-
ment (Master Data Management B2B integration) 
but operates in different countries through subsid-
iaries. All subsidiaries provide similar products and 
services. Consequently, the segment-reporting is 
based on the economic environment in which these 
products and services are provided based upon the 
major markets of TIE:

  �The Netherlands;
  �North America;
  �The Rest of the World.

This breakdown is consistent with the Company’s 
organizational structure and internal report-
ing structure based on the requirements of the 
Management Board. The geographical segments 
are based on the location of the TIE markets and 
customers. 

Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses include all 
items directly attributable to the segment. Those 
are revenues and expenses that can be allocated 
on a reasonable basis to that segment. Holding 
expenses are disclosed separately. 

Foreign Currency Translation
Foreign operations prepare their financial state-
ments in the currency of the primary environment 
in which they operate (functional currency). For 
consolidation purposes, foreign operations are 
translated into EURO, the functional currency of 
TIE Holding N.V. and the designated presentation 
currency. Assets and liabilities are translated using 
the closing rate at balance sheet date. Income and 
expenses are translated using weighted average 
exchange rates or the actual rate at the date of the 
transaction, if more appropriate. All resulting ex-
change rate differences are recognized in a special 
component of equity. In the event of a sale of a 
foreign operation, the relevant component of the 
special component of equity pertaining to the en-
tity sold will be released from Equity and included 
in the realized gain or loss on the sale.

At balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabili-
ties are translated against the closing rate at the 
balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at 
a cost are translated by using the exchange rate at 
the date of the transaction. Exchange rate differ-

ences on monetary items are recognized in income 
whenever they arise.

Inter-company monetary items, which in substance 
form part of an enterprise net investment, are 
translated against the closing rate at the balance 
sheet date. An inter-company current account be-
tween TIE Holding N.V. and the US subsidiary, TIE 
Commerce is denominated in USD. All transactions 
are accounted for at the transaction rate at TIE 
Holding N.V. Currency Exchange Rate Differences 
are taken to the special component of Equity.

Significant Accounting  
Judgments and Estimates
Application of the Company’s accounting poli-
cies in preparation of these financial statements 
requires management to apply judgment that 
involves assumptions and estimates concerning 
future events, including assessing likelihood, tim-
ing, and the amounts of these future events. There 
can be no assurance that actual results will not 
differ materially from these estimates. Accounting 
policies that are critical to the financial statements 
presentation and require complex estimates or 
significant judgment are discussed below.

Impairment of Assets
Impairment of assets (intangible and tangible) is 
tested on a CGU level. In assessing whether there 
are indications for impairment, management 
considers changes in the economic and technologi-
cal environment, sales trends and other indicative 
data. When testing for impairment, a model is 
applied to determine net present values of future 
cash flows for CGU’s in order to compare with 
asset-carrying values.

The models applied to determine the net present 
value of these future cash flows encompasses man-
agement’s judgment and estimates with respect to 
the following elements:

  �Discount rate;
  �Reasonable reliably estimable future cash flows;
  �Estimated business growth rates.

Intangible Fixed Assets

Development Costs
Product development costs are eligible for capital-
ization only when a projected outcome is deter-
mined technically feasible and deemed probable 
that future economic benefits will flow from the 
released product. Also, these economic benefits 
must be expected to exceed capitalized develop-
ment cost.
In determining both technical and economic feasi-
bility of a project, management exercises judgment 
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with respect to the current economic and technical 
environment, as well as expected developments 
therein. This not only establishes a potential mar-
ket for the product under development, but also 
estimates potential sales volumes.

Digital Channel Intangible Asset
The concept Digital Channel (‘DC’) has been identi-
fied as a separate intangible asset upon acquisition. 
The Digital Channel concept has been fully merged 
into the TIE Kinetix Content Syndication Platform. 
This asset has been recognized at fair value. As 
no active market for this asset exists, a valuation 
model was used to determine the fair value of this 
asset. This valuation model encompasses manage-
ment’s judgment and estimates with respect to the 
following elements:

  �Renewal rate customer contracts;
  �Discount rate;
  �Net Cash Flow starting point;
  �10 years of CF discounted;
  �No new business.

Customer Base:
The Customer Base of recent acquisitions has been 
identified as a separate intangible asset upon 
acquisition. The asset has been recognized at fair 
value. Since there is no direct active market for the 
Customer Base to use for valuation, a valuation 
model has been used to determine the fair value 
of the asset. This valuation model encompasses 
management’s judgment and estimate with respect 
to the following elements:

  �Renewal rate customer contracts;
  �Discount rate;
  �Net Cash Flow starting point;
  �10 years of CF discounted;
  �No new business.

Deferred Tax Asset
In establishing deferred tax assets, management’s 
judgment is required in assessing probability and 
the extent of future taxable profits.

Detailed Description 
of Accounting Principles 

Intangible Fixed Assets

Goodwill 
Goodwill is recognized as an intangible asset for 
interests in subsidiaries and joint ventures and is 
measured as the positive difference between the 
cost of the business combination and the Com-
pany’s interest in the net fair value of the entity’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent li-
abilities. Subsequently, goodwill is carried at a cost 
without accumulated impairment charges. 
Upon disposal of an entity in relation to which a 

goodwill balance is held, the remaining goodwill 
balance will be taken to income as part of the gain 
or loss on disposal of the entity.

Digital Channel Concept
Upon initial recognition of the assets and liabilities 
and activities during 2006, a separate intangible 
fixed asset representing the Digital Channel Con-
cept (€ 800k) was recognized. The fair value has 
been determined as described on page 61 under 
Digital Channel Intangible Asset. Based on the 
expectation that the Digital Channel Concept can 
be successfully managed by current and future TIE 
management, the current level of competition, 
the international potential for the concept, and 
the high technology standard, it is management’s 
opinion that the period over which this asset will 
generate net cash inflow is indeterminate. There-
fore, the useful life of the assets is indefinite, and 
no amortization will be applied. The useful life of 
this asset is reassessed periodically and adjusted 
when circumstances give rise to such action.
The Digital Channel Concept is fully integrated in 
the TIE Kinetix Content Syndication Platform.

Development Costs
Projects for the development of software are 
broken down into a research phase and develop-
ment phase. The costs pertaining to research are 
expensed immediately. The development costs are 
recognized as an intangible asset after establish-
ing the technical feasibility of the project. Future 
economic benefits from the project are deemed 
probable and sufficient resources are available 
and devoted to the project to facilitate successful 
completion.

Development costs are carried at a cost minus 
amortization and accumulated impairments. Devel-
opment costs are amortized based on an expected 
useful life of three years. The useful life assessment 
is based on the current experience and the present 
economic and technological environment. The 
useful life of this asset is reassessed periodically 
and adjusted when circumstances give rise to such 
action.

Software
Software purchased from third parties, as well 
as the related development and implementation 
costs, are recognized at a cost without accumu-
lated amortization and impairment charges and 
are amortized based upon a straight-line method 
over an estimated useful life of three years. The 
useful life of these assets is reassessed periodically 
and adjusted when circumstances give rise to such 
action.
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Tangible Fixed Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment
Office equipment (including Furniture, Fixtures 
and Office Machinery), Hardware and Leasehold 
Improvements are recognized as Property, Plant 
and Equipment and measured at cost without 
accumulated depreciation and impairments. Costs 
include expenses directly attributable to the acqui-
sition of the asset and the expense of replacing a 
part of the Property, Plant and Equipment when 
that cost is incurred and the recognition criteria are 
met. Each component of an item of Property, Plant 
and Equipment with an initial carrying value (cost) 
significant in relation to the total cost of the item 
is separately depreciated.

Property, Plant and Equipment is depreciated 
against income on a straight-line basis over its 
estimated useful life to its estimated residual value 
(generally nil). Depreciation periods are as follows:

  �Leasehold Improvements – 10 years or the term 
of the lease;

  �Hardware - 3 years;
  �Office equipment - 4 years.

Useful life estimates are based on management’s 
best estimate of the amount of time over which 
economic benefits from these assets will flow to 
the Company. For Leasehold improvements, this 
period has been limited to the term of the rental 
agreements of the respective office buildings. 
Computer hardware is generally replaced after a 
maximum of three years of service.

An annual assessment is performed to establish 
whether circumstances exist to call for an impair-
ment of an individual asset. Residual values and 
useful lives are reviewed annually and are adjusted 
when appropriate. Assets are impaired to recover-
able value when carrying values are found to be in 
excess of the recoverable amount of the individual 
or as part of a CGU for assets that do not gener-
ate an independent cash flow. Impairment losses 
for CGU’s as a whole are first charged against the 
Goodwill balances of the CGU. Any remaining 
impairments are allocated to the assets of the CGU 
as a whole. Any reversal of an impairment loss is 
immediately recognized in income.

The carrying amount of an asset is derecognized 
in the event that no future economic benefit is 
expected to arise from its use or disposal. Gains 
and/or losses on derecognition are the differ-
ences between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying value of the asset. Gains and/or losses on 
de-recognition are accounted for in income.

Financial Fixed Assets

Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred Tax Assets reflect the net tax effect of 
losses carried forward and temporary timing dif-
ferences between the carrying amounts of assets 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 
used for income tax purposes. Deferred Tax Assets 
are recognized when they are considered to be 
realizable in the future, which is reassessed at each 
balance sheet date. Deferred Income Tax Assets are 
measured at the tax rates that are expected to ap-
ply to the year when the asset is realized, based on 
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are measured at amortized 
cost, using the effective interest method net of 
impairments. This involves calculating the net pres-
ent value of future cash flows using the current 
market rate at the time of initial recognition of 
the asset. Interest is accounted for in the income 
statement at the effective interest rate at the time 
of the initial recognition of the asset. Impairments 
are only considered when there are indications of 
impairment.

The difference between the effective interest rate 
and the (notional) interest receivable is allocated 
to the asset balance changing its carrying value.

Current Assets

Trade Receivables
Trade Receivables are recognized at amortized cost 
price. The provision for uncollectability is estab-
lished on an item-by- item basis when there is evi-
dence of uncollectability. The provision represents 
the difference between the carrying value of the 
trade receivable and management’s best estimate 
of the future cash flow resulting from the item.
All strengthening and releases from the provision 
are accounted for in income. 

Non-Current Assets held for sale
Non-Current Assets are classified as assets held 
for sale and stated at the lower of the carrying 
amount (purchase price less amortized costs) and 
fair value minus the costs to sell. The Non-Current 
Assets have been sold after the balance sheet date 
at a higher value than the carrying amount.

Deferred Sales Commissions
Sales Commission arrangements with employees 
and non-employees are deferred and expensed 
over the period for which the related revenue is 
accounted. This means Sales Commissions relating 
to license fees are immediately expensed, whereas 
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sales commissions relating to services provided 
over an extended period of time are deferred and 
amortized.

Deferred Initial Set up Costs
The Company has entered into multiple year con-
tracts in which SaaS services are provided in return 
for a monthly fee. Setup costs, such as mappings 
and preparation of hardware and connectivity, re-
quire an initial investment from the Company. Such 
expenses are capitalized and amortized over the 
life of the contract. These expenses are recovered 
through the monthly SaaS fees collected from the 
client. However, in the event of an early termina-
tion of the arrangement, the client, under the 
terms and conditions of the contract, is required 
to pay at a minimum the remaining balance of 
capitalized expenses.

Other Receivables and Prepayments
Other receivables and prepayments are recognized 
at the amounts at which they are incurred or 
receivable.

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents include cash in hand, de-
posits, and other short-term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less.

Equity

Shareholders’ Equity
Financial instruments issued by the Company to the 
extent that they indicate a residual interest in the 
assets of the Company are classified as Equity.
All proceeds from the issue of equity instruments, 
or considerations paid for the purchase of equity 
instruments, are recognized in Equity. Incremental 
external costs that are directly attributable to the 
issuing of TIE equity instruments are also recog-
nized in Equity, net of tax.

Dividends and other distributions to holders of 
equity instruments are recognized in Equity net of 
tax. A liability for dividends payable is not recog-
nized until the dividends have been declared and 
approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

Convertible Bonds
Convertible Bonds issued by the Company have 
been classified as Equity, based on the fact that 
under the terms and conditions of these bonds, 
there is evidence of a residual interest in the Com-
pany’s assets after deducting all of its liabilities. If 
applicable, split accounting has been applied for. 
Distributions to holders of equity instruments are 
recognized directly in Equity net of tax.
For Convertible Bonds in which a liability compo-
nent has been identified with respect to interest 

payments in cash, a liability is established against 
Equity.

Non Employee Stock Options
Stock Options issued to non-employees are Gross 
Settled Stock Options under the terms of the respec-
tive contracts, and, therefore, qualify as Equity 
Instruments. Any considerations received for such op-
tions will be accounted for in Equity. Any cash flows 
at settlement are accounted for in Equity as well.

Non Current Liabilities

Loans
Loans due after more than 12 months following 
the balance sheet date are stated at their initial 
carrying value. 

Provisions
The Company recognizes a provision in cases in 
which a present obligation resulting from a past 
event, with a probable future outflow of resources, 
settles the obligation at an amount that can be 
reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
future outflow required to settle the obligation, 
using a pre tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the obligation. The change in the 
time value of future outflows is recognized under 
expenses. The time value is considered a material 
component.

To the extent that future events are likely to occur 
and are expected to have an effect on the amount 
required to settle a recognized liability, these 
future events are taken into consideration in deter-
mining the appropriate provision level. Provisions 
are reviewed at each balance sheet date and will 
be adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Current Liabilities

Credit Facility
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow 
statement, cash and cash equivalents are defined 
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

Loans
Loans, due within 12 months after the balance 
sheet date, are stated at their initial carrying value. 

Other Debts
Other Debts are stated at their present value of the 
expected future obligation. The change in the time 
value of the future obligation is recognized under 
financial expenses.
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Other Liabilities
Other liabilities are stated at the amounts at which 
they were incurred.

Revenues

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is 
probable that economic benefits will flow to the 
Company and be reliably measured. Revenue is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received, excluding taxes and following the deduc-
tion of discounts and rebates as well as the trans-
ferring of all significant risks and rewards.
The Company generates income from the follow-
ing sources:

  �Software license fees; 
  �Maintenance and Support;
  �Consultancy Services;
  �Software as a Service;
  �Other income.

Licenses
Revenues from software licenses are recognized 
when the purchase agreement has been reached 
with the customer and the software has been 
shipped to the client. At that point:

  �A non-revocable agreement has been reached;
  �The delivery of the software has been made;
  �The fee is determinable;
  �The collection of the receivable outstanding is 
deemed probable by management.

Maintenance and Support
Maintenance subscriptions include relevant up-
dates of TIE products and (telephone) support. The 
related revenues are generally invoiced in advance 
for a twelve-month period, and therefore, deferred 
and recognized over the contract period.

Consultancy Services
While consultancy services are generally provided 
over a short period of time, the outcome of the 
transaction can be reliably estimated. Revenues 
are recognized in the period in which the service is 
provided on a percentage of completion.

Software as a Service (SaaS)
SaaS pertains to all hosting, webEDI (TiedByTIE), 
Marketing Channel Management and Value 
Added Network services. These Services are 
generally provided on the basis of a 12, 24 or 36 
month contract whereby fees are based on actual 
use of either the service or a subscription fee or a 
combination of both.
Other SaaS revenues consist of revenues from mar-
keting campaigns, which are invoiced on a “pay 
as you go” basis. Revenues are accounted for on a 
percentage of completion.

Other Income
EU grants are accounted for under other incomes. 
EU grants pertaining to the SOA4ALL, NESSI2010, 
NEXOF-RA, Stasis and Net-Challange projects are 
recognized only when there is reasonable as-
surance that the Company will comply with the 
conditions attached to them and the grants will 
be received. These EU grants are recognized as 
income over the periods necessary to match them 
with the related costs, which they are intended to 
compensate. 

Deferred Revenues
Deferred Revenues consist of the unearned portion 
of revenues pertaining to maintenance and sub-
scriptions as well as amounts invoiced in advance 
on software design, installation, and consultancy 
projects.

Direct Purchase Costs
Direct Purchase Costs represent the cost directly asso-
ciated with revenue. This includes hosting costs, third 
party consultants, and costs of third-party software.

Employee Benefits

Short term Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits entail salaries pay-
able over past service, short-term compensated 
absences in which they are expected to occur 
within twelve months after the end of the period 
in which the employee renders the related service, 
profit sharing, or bonus arrangements. A liability 
is set up to the extent that amounts are due based 
on rendered services. WBSO received as a grant on 
wage tax has been deducted upon the employee 
benefits expenses.

Termination Benefits
Termination Benefits are the result of the Compa-
ny’s decision to terminate an employee’s employ-
ment before normal retirement date. Termination 
benefits are expensed immediately when the 
Company is demonstrably committed to terminate 
employment prior to normal retirement date. The 
termination benefits include all termination of 
employment related expenses.

Post Employment Benefits
The Company operates with insured defined contri-
bution pension plans in the Netherlands. Under the 
terms and conditions of this plan, the Company has 
no obligation towards the employees covered under 
the plan, other than to pay a fixed contribution. The 
contributions payable are recognized as an expense 
in income. To the extent that the paid amount 
exceeds the amount due for services rendered, an 
asset is recognized. Plan contributions payable to a 
third-party insurer are recognized as a liability.

Annual Report 2009 ~ TIE Holding n.v.52



There are no collective or individual pension 
plans in the foreign subsidiaries. TIE France has 
an arrangement resulting in a retirement bonus, 
which qualifies as a post-employment arrangement 
under IFRS. While the present value of this retire-
ment bonus liability is recognized on the face of 
the balance sheet, movements in this liability are 
accounted for in income. In the US, the Company 
staff participates in a corporate 401(k) savings plan 
with its discretionary contributions. These discre-
tionary payments are recognized in income if and 
when they are paid into the plan.

Share Based Payments

The Company has launched Stock Options Plans 
for the TIE staff that entitles staff members to 
receive equity instruments it has issued. These 
Stock Options Plans are classified as Equity Settled 
Instruments. Stock Options granted under the an-
nual Stock Options Plan have a vesting period of 
three years after issuance. Stock Options granted 
under another Stock Options Plan contain a vest-
ing period amounting to one to three years. The 
expense resulting from the options is based on the 
fair value of the options at grant date. The expense 
is recognized in income, with the offsetting entry 
in Equity over the term in which the services are 
rendered, i.e. the vesting period of the options. 
The expense reflects management’s best estimate 
of the number of Stock Options expected to vest.
Any considerations received net of any directly 
attributable transaction costs are accounted for in 
Equity upon exercise of the options.

When a Stock Option is cancelled, it is treated as if 
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any 
expense not yet recognized for the Stock Option is 
recognized immediately. However, if a new Stock 
Option is awarded in substitution of the cancelled 
Stock Option, the substitution is treated as if it is a 
modification of the original.

An additional expense is recognized to the extent 
the modification results in an increased fair value 
of the modified Stock Options, compared to the 
original ones.

Leases

Arrangements have been assessed to determine 
the extent in which the fulfillment is dependent on 
the use of a specific asset, and secondly, whether 
the arrangement conveyed the right of use of that 
specific asset. Arrangements satisfying both criteria 
have been classified Leases. Reassessment of these 
arrangements will take place under the following 
circumstances:

  �change in the terms of the contract;
  �exercise of a renewal option;
  �a change in determination of the arrangement;
  �the asset subject to the arrangement undergoes 
substantial physical change.

To the extent that an arrangement contains, 
among other components, a lease, the lease 
element is accounted for separately from other 
components.

Classified as operating leases are ones in which a 
significant portion of the risks and reward of own-
ership are retained by the lessor. Payments made 
under operating leases are charged to the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the period 
of the lease.

Earnings per Share

Basic Earnings per Share are calculated by dividing 
net income attributable to equity holders of TIE after 
deduction of interest on Convertible Bonds, by the 
weighted average number of outstanding shares.

Diluted Earnings per Share take into effect the 
dilutive effect of convertible instruments and stock 
options upon exercise or conversion. The dilutive 
effect of these instruments equals the number of 
shares issuable under the terms and conditions of 
these arrangements for no consideration. Stock 
Options are considered non-dilutive when the 
exercise price of the Stock Options is in excess of 
the average market price of the shares during the 
period. Convertible Bonds are considered non-
dilutive when the related interest net of tax and 
other changes to income and expense, per ordinary 
share obtainable upon conversion, exceed the basic 
earnings per share.

Adoption of New and  
Revised International  
Financial Reporting Standards

The accounting policies are consistent with the 
accounting policies applied in prior year’s consoli-
dated financial statements with the exception of 
the following:

  �IFRS7 Financial Instruments, amendments on 
disclosure, have been applied to for reclassifica-
tion of financial assets, if applicable. Effective 
for financial years beginning on or after July 1, 
2008, limited effect on disclosure;

  �IFRS8 Operating Segments, replacing IAS14, 
early adopted in 2008. Effective for financial 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2009, no 
effects expected as the segments determined 
in accordance with IFRS 8 are mainly the same 
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as the business segments previously indentified 
under IAS 14; 

  �IFRIC 14 IAS19 The Limit on a Defined Benefit 
Asset. This interpretation became effective for 
the financial year beginning on or after January 
1, 2008. The interpretation does not apply to 
TIE and therefore has no impact on the finan-
cial position or performance of TIE.

Future Changes in Accounting  
Policies and Disclosures

A number of standards and/or interpretation which 
have been issued, but are not yet effective, may 
impact future financial statements. These standards 
and interpretations are:

  �IFRS 2: Share based payment, Vesting Condi-
tions and Cancellations; amendments issued 
in January 2008, effective for financial years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2009. TIE did 
not  promptly adopt the amendments; 

  �IFRS3R Business Combinations and IAS 27R Con-
solidated and Separate Financial Statements, 
issued in January 2008, effective for financial 
years beginning on or after July 1, 2009. The 
changes mainly impact loss-making subsidiaries, 
acquisitions/disposal of non-controlling inter-
ests (minority interest) and deferred tax assets 
linked to unrecognized tax benefits. TIE did not 
promptly  adopt the revised standards;

  �IAS1: Revised presentation of Financial State-
ments, effective for financial years beginning 
on or after January 1, 2009. TIE did not early 
adopt the revised standard; upon adoption pre-
sentation and disclosure changes can occur;

  �IAS23: Capitalization of Borrowing Costs, effec-
tive for financial years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2009. TIE did not promptly adopt the 
revised standard, upon adoption minor impact 
is expected;

  �IAS32: Puttable financial instruments and 
obligations arising on liquidation, effective for 
financial years beginning on or after January, 
2009. TIE did not  promptly adopt the amended 
standard; upon adoption, no impact is ex-
pected;

  �IAS39: Reclassification of financial instruments: 
recognition and measurement, effective for fi-
nancial years beginning on or after July 1, 2009. 
TIE did not promptly adopt the amended stan-
dard; upon adoption, no impact is expected;

  �IFRIC17 Distribution of non-cash assets to own-
ers is prospectively applicable for financial years 
beginning on or after July 1, 2009. As TIE does 
not have the intention to distribute non-cash 
assets to owners, no impact from this interpre-
tation is expected;

  �IFRIC18 Transfer of Assets from customers, ef-
fective for financial years beginning on or after 

July 1, 2009. As TIE has no intention to receive 
assets from customers, no impact from this 
interpretation is expected.

The Company intends to adopt these standards as 
per the required date of adoption, subject to EU 
endorsement of these standards.

Post Balance Sheet Events

These financial statements include the effects of 
events occurring between balance sheet date and 
the date these financial statements are authorized 
for issue, to the extent that these events provide 
evidence of conditions that existed at the balance 
sheet date. While effects of events that arise post-
balance sheet date are disclosed, they have not re-
sulted in an adjustment of the financial statements.

Financial Risk Management

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of 
risks, including market (currency risk and interest 
rate risk), credit, and liquidity risks. Financial instru-
ments are accounted for under Assets (Loans and 
Receivables) and Equity (Convertible Bonds). The 
Company neither holds nor issues financial instru-
ments for trading or hedging purposes.

Fair value
The Company does not hold any financial assets or 
liabilities accounted for at fair value through the 
Profit and Loss Account. Fair values disclosed are 
calculated based upon current interest rates, tak-
ing into account the terms and conditions of the 
financial asset or liability. In most cases, fair values 
will equal the carrying value of the item.

Reclassification of Financial Assets
No Reclassification of Financial Assets has been ap-
plied in 2009 (2008 none).

Derecognition of Financial Assets
All items derecognized during this financial year 
have been taken from the face of the balance 
sheet if and when, substantially, all risks and re-
wards of ownership have been transferred.

Currency Risk
The Company operates across the globe in various 
currency environments and is exposed to foreign 
exchange risks, mainly with respect to the US dol-
lar. To minimize the exposure, it is the intention to 
balance assets and liabilities in dollars as much as 
possible.

The Company’s consolidated net income, however, 
is affected directly by changes in the currency ex-
change rates affecting the weighted average rate 
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appropriate credit history. In relevant situations, 
credit risk is mitigated through collateralizing out-
standing balances.

In the event of collectability issues, the Company 
takes an impairment charge to cover the potential 
loss. 

The table (Loans and Receivables and Trade Receiv-
ables) below reflects the outstanding balances for 
Loans and Receivables and Trade Receivables with 
current balances (to be received within 12 months).

effect in € on Income with an 5% effect in € on Equity with an 5%

€/USD increase of decrease of increase of decrease of

2009  (1)  1  117  (105)

2008  (11)  13  119  (107)

applied for translating the USD-denominated prof-
its to Euro. The Company does not hedge this risk.

Based on actual net income from the US for 2009, 
sensitivity of the consolidated net income to 
the weighted average €/USD exchange rate and 
Shareholders Equity to the €/USD exchange rate is 
specified in table €/USD below.

Reference rates include 1.46550 for the year-end clos-
ing rate, USD against the Euro. For net income, the 
average rate of USD against the Euro was 1.54998.

Management has provided an analysis of the ef-
fects of multiple scenarios, all within a range that 
may be considered likely to occur, rather than limit-
ing the analysis to a single scenario.  The currency 
exchange rate development of the USD against the 
Euro has been especially volatile and unpredictable 
in the recent past. 

Credit Risk
The Company has assessed its credit risk. The Com-
pany has no significant concentrations of credit 
risk, outside of the fact that a significant propor-
tion of its clients in the Netherlands are Food 
Industry-related. This risk has been reduced with 
the acquisition of MamboFive B.V. as well as the 
continual growth of the Company. This positively 
affected the relative share of these clients in both 
revenue and outstanding debtor balances.

Management, however, closely monitors the 
developments of the credit crisis, especially in US 
industries like the automotive and home products. 

Management has policies in place to ensure that 
sales of products are made to customers with an 

Loans and Receivables and 
Trade Receivables

2009
Carrying Value

2009
Fair Value

2008
Carrying Value

2008
Fair Value

Loans and Receivables  40  40  22  22 

Trade Receivables  1,817  1,817  1,488  1,488 
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The table above (Trade Receivebles by region) 
reflects the gross outstanding Trade Receivebles 
balance as per September 30, 2009, (and compara-
tives per September 30, 2008) broken down into 
balances that 1) have not passed their due dates, 
and 2) balances that have passed their due dates. 
The latter category is further broken down into 
categories detailing the extent to which they have 
passed their due dates. The “less than 30 day” out-
standing category represents receivables that have 
not yet passed their respective due dates.

The table of movements in the provision for doubt-
ful debt (excluding recoverable VAT) is detailed 
above.

Liquidity Risk
The Company has a history of temporary cash 
crunches, which have been resolved either through 
issuing additional shares and/or Convertible Bonds 
to fund operations. These cash crunches usually 
occur in a period in which the debtor balance 
reduces, also due to seasonal effects, and thereby 
reducing the incoming cash to pay for the opera-
tion. The repayment of short term debt € 400k as 
per December 31, 2008, relating to the agreement 
with the landlord of the old Netherlands rental 
Building, is secured through a guarantee issued by 
Alto Imaging Group N.V., a related party with a TIE 
shareholding totaling 23.74%. To date, manage-

ment has raised sufficient funds to fund operations 
in the event that cash crunches may occur. The cash 
position of the Company is monitored closely by 
management. 

The remaining liquidity risk exposure of the 
Company originating from financial instruments 
is limited, due to the fact that the majority of the 
financial instruments outstanding have no manda-
tory cash settlement option. This means repayment 
of debt will take place through conversion into 
common shares TIE Holding N.V. The outstanding 
financial instruments are non-interest bearing. 
Again, this limits the exposure to liquidity risk. 
Management regularly assesses the outstanding 
debt position as well as the outstanding equity in-
struments. It also evaluates funding opportunities, 
like issuing new shares and/or Convertible Bonds 
and obtaining a new credit facility with Rabobank 
of € 350k, further limiting the liquidity risk. Man-
agement of the Company has secured the payment 
of cash component of the acquisition of Mambo-
Five B.V. by issuing additional Convertible Bonds to 
third-party investors, related party investors, and 
management of the Company, as specified in note 
5 below. 

Summary of financial liabilities based on contrac-
tual undiscounted payments per year end 2009 and 
comparatives 2008, is shown page 57.

Trade Receivebles 
by region

Less than
30 day

31 to
60 days

61 to
90 days

tIn excess
of 90 days

Total
2009

The Netherlands 512 130 18 180 840 

The Americas 469 34 42 36 581 

Rest of World 267 76 14 39 396 

Total 1,248 240 74 255 1,817 

Less than
30 days

31 to
60 days

61 to
90 days

In excess
of 90 days

Total
2008

The Netherlands  386  13  27  125  551 

The Americas  296  12  60  147  515 

Rest of World  290  53  24  55  422 

Total  972  78  111  327  1,488

Movements in the provision for doubtful debt 2009 2008

Balance as at October 1 555 743 

Charges/(released) to profit and loss account (500) (392)

Impairments 260 209 

Currency exchange rate differences - (5)

Balance as at Sepember 30 315 555 
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Interest Rate Risk
Interest Rate Risk is defined as the risk that the fair 
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate due to changes in market interest 
rates. The exposure of the Company to this risk is 
limited, due to the nature of the financial instru-
ments it holds as well as the fact that assets are 
held to maturity and the Convertible Bonds are 
expected to be converted into common shares, 
either on or prior to maturity date. The Convertible 
Bonds outstanding at 2009 year end are non-in-
terest bearing. Management regularly assesses the 
outstanding debt position and evaluates funding 
opportunities.

At 2009 year end, the Company held € 739k short 
term interest bearing debt. The average outstand-
ing balance during 2009 equaled € 673k. The 
weighted average interest rate totals 5.5%. The full 
interest charge pertaining to this debt, accounted 
for in income, equals € 15k on the loans and € 18k 
resulting from the remaining debt in relation to 
the purchase of MamboFive B.V., as discussed on 
page 58. The interest rate on the outstanding loans 
totals 6% (fixed).

The interest risk on the credit facility totals maxi-
mal € 3.5k (up or down) upon each percent change 
(higher respectively lower) in the interest rate by 
use of the full credit facility. Interest rate per year-
end equals 8.45%.

Summary of financial liabilities Less than 12 months > 1 year < 5 years > 5 years Total 2009

Loans  366  -    -    366 

Provisions  19  8  -    27 

Rental Provision  -    -    -    -   

Indemnity Claims  94  -    -    94 

ABN-Amro Credit Facility  -    -    -    -   

Taxation and Social Security  201  -    -    201 

Trade and other Payables  1,671  -    -    1,671 

Total  2,351  8  -    2,359 

Less than12 months > 1 year < 5 years > 5 years Total 2008

Loans  123  212  -    335 

Provisions  -    -    -    -   

Rental Provision  400  -    -    400 

Indemnity Claims  230  98  -    328 

ABN-Amro Credit Facility  435  -    -    435 

Taxation and Social Security  219  -    -    219 

Trade and other Payables  855  -    -    855 

Total  2,262  310  -    2,572 

TIE Holding n.v. ~ Annual Report 2009 57



Notes to the Consolidated IFRS Financial Statements

Business Combinations

Acquisitions 2009

MamboFive B.V.
On December 19, 2008 TIE completed the acquisi-
tion of MamboFive B.V. With the acquisition of 
MamboFive B.V., TIE obtained access to an  
E-commerce Platform based on the MamboFive 
Commerce Suite. The purchase schedule, as agreed 
in the Sales Purchase Agreement (SPA), is as follows:

  �51% on December 19, 2008, cash paid € 200k 
on December 19, 2008 and € 300k on February 
27, 2009;

  �24.5% on April 1, 2009, by issue of a Convert-
ible Bond of € 450k;

  �24.5% on or after April 1, 2010, call option for 
TIE, by the issue of a Convertible Bond of € 450k.

As TIE obtained control with the intention acquir-
ing the full 100%, the former shareholders will not 
be entitled to the results of MamboFive B.V., as of 
the effective purchase date. TIE is the only party 
entitled to call the last tranche. MamboFive B.V. 
has been 100% consolidated since the effective 
purchase date per December 1, 2008; The Convert-
ible Bond that had not yet been issued is disclosed 
as debt against its fair value. 

As of September 30, 2009, TIE holds 75.5% of the 
shares in MamboFive B.V., based on completion of 
the first and second tranches, as described above.
Details of purchase consideration are shown in the 
table above.
The intangible assets are attributable to the sig-
nificant synergies expected to be realized after the 
acquisition of MamboFive B.V. by TIE. As sales of 
MamboFive B.V. are predominantly handled in the 
Netherlands, MamboFive B.V. revenues have been 
fully integrated in the Netherlands. The contribu-
tion of MamboFive B.V. to Total Income totals  
€ 723k and a result of € 210k (10 months), as de-
termined before allocation of head office expenses 
and income tax.

The assets and liabilities acquired through this 
acquisition are shown on page 59 (table assets and 
liabilities acquired 2009).
 
TIE France S.A.S.
The acquisition of the remaining 49.75% of the 
shares in TIE France SAS does not form a separate 
business combination in accordance to IFRS 3; the 
details of the transaction are disclosed below, 
based on IAS8.

On October 29, 2008, TIE completed the purchase 
of the remaining 49.75% of the shares in the TIE 
France S.A.S., effective per October 1, 2008. The 
purchase price equaled € 291k; € 75k was paid in 
cash, € 150k as Convertible Bond and the remain-
ing € 66k is paid on December 16, 2009. Goodwill 
amounts to € 278k and the net asset value to € 13k.

Purchase consideration

Cash Paid 500

Convertible Bond Issued 450

Convertible Bond to issue at fair value 421

Purchase Price 1,371

Direct costs relating to the acquisition 6

Total Purchase price consideration 1,377

Net fair value of acquired assets and liabilities 367

Goodwill excluding Customer base 1,010

Customer Base 262

Total Intangible Assets resulting from Business Combination 1,272
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Assets and liabilities acquired 2009 “Book value“ “Fair value“

 Customer Base  -    262 

 Tangible Fixed Assets  50  50 

 Trade receivables  180  209 

 Other Current Assets  23  18 

 Cash and Cash Equivalents  243  243 

 Trade Creditors  (35)  (35)

 Deferred Revenues  -    (23)

 Other Current Liabilities  (108)  (166)

 Dividend to former shareholders  (191)  (191)

 Net Assets  161  367 

 Purchase consideration settled in cash  (500)

Dividend out of MamboFive to former shareholders (years prior to acqui-
sition) 

 (191)

 Cash and Cash equivalents acquired  243 

 Cash outflow on acquisition  (448)

	

Purchase consideration 2008

Purchase Price 525

Direct costs of acquisition 10

Total Purchase Price Consideration 535

Net Fair Value of acquired assets and liabilities 215

Goodwill excluding Customer Base 320

Customer Base 181

Total Intangible Assets resulting from Business Combination 501

Assets and liabilities acquired 2008 Book value Fair value

Sinfox Customer Base - 181

Property, Plant and Equipment 4 4

Trade Debtors 46 46

Other Current Assets 107 107

Cash and Cash Equivalents 3 3

Trade Creditors  (15)  (15)

Deferred revenues  (86)  (72)

Other Current Liabilities  (39)  (39)

Net Total 20 215

Acquisition 2008
During 2008, on February 22, TIE obtained control 
over Sinfox B.V. transferred under the agreement 
reached with Inventive Adventure B.V. and Macro-
bius Beheer B.V. Sinfox offers low end EDI solutions 
in the Dutch market. The Company gained full con-

trol over the systems per March 1, 2008 on which 
date Sinfox B.V. was fully integrated into the Dutch 
Cash Generating Unit. Details of the purchase con-
sidertion and th assets and liabilities acquired are 
shown in the tables below.
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Intangible Fixed Assets  Goodwill
 

 CSP  
Trademark 

 Customer  
 Base 

 Software 
 develop-

ment costs 

 Purchased 
 Software 

Total

 Accumulated investments per September 30, 2007  2,359  800  -    2,156  894  6,209 

 Accumulated amortization per September 30, 2007  -    -    -    (1,479)  (658)  (2,137)

 Accumulated impairments per September 30, 2007  (891)  (480)  -    (319)  (165)  (1,855)

 Carrying value as per September 30, 2007  1,468  320  -    358  71  2,217 

 Movements 2008 

 Additions  -    -    -    394  88  482 

 Acquired through Business Combinations  320  -    181  -    -    501 

 Amortization  -    -    -    (149)  (48)  (197)

 Impairments  (320)  -    (181)  (150)  (62)  (713)

 Translation adjustments investments  (11)  -    -    (35)  (7)  (53)

 Translation adjustments amortization  -    -    -    -  8  8 

 Movements 2008  (11)  -    -    60  (21)  28 

 Accumulated investments per September 30, 2008  2,668  800  181  2,515  975  7,139 

 Accumulated amortization per September 30, 2008  -    -    -    (1,628)  (698)  (2,326)

 Accumulated impairments per September 30, 2008  (1,211)  (480)  (181)  (469)  (227)  (2,568)

 Carrying value as per September 30, 2008  1,457  320  -    418  50  2,245 

 Movements 2009 

 Additions  -    -    -    548  3  551 

 Acquired through Business Combinations  1,288  -    262  -    -    1,550 

 Amortization  -    -    (20)  (226)  (27)  (273)

 Impairments (reversal of impairment)  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 Divestments  (198)  -    -    -    (3)  (201)

 Translation adjustments investments  (1)  -    -    (5)  (1)  (7)

 Translation adjustments amortization  -    -    -    13  2  15 

 Movements 2009  1,089  -    242  330  (26)  1,635 

 Accumulated investments per September 30, 2009  3,757  800  443  3,058  974  9,032 

 Accumulated amortization per September 30, 2009  -    -    (20)  (1,841)  (723)  (2,584)

 Accumulated impairments per September 30, 2009  (1,211)  (480)  (181)  (469)  (227)  (2,568)

 Carrying value as per September 30, 2009  2,546  320  242  748  24  3,880 

Useful life Indefinite Indefinite 10 years 3 years 3 years

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet

1) Intangible Fixed Assets
The movements in Intangible Assets are summarized below:
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The movement in goodwill relates to the goodwill 
paid for the acquisition of MamboFive B.V.  
(€ 1,010k as disclosed on page 58) and the purchase 
of the remaining shares of TIE France S.A.S. (€ 278k). 
The divestment predominantly relates to reclassifi-
cation of the Goodwill paid (€ 198k) for the EDGE 
software, which is classified as Non-Current assets 
held for sale.

The movement of the Customer Base relates to the 
value of the Customer Base of MamboFive B.V. and 
the amortization there upon.
The movement of the software development costs 
predominantly consists of the year’s capitalized-de-
veloped software and the depreciation there upon.

Impairments
Allocation of Intangible Fixed Assets tested for im-
pairment per September 30, 2009 and comparative 
number per September 30, 2008 are shown in the 
tables above (Allocation of Intangible Fixed Assets).

Intangible assets carried on the face of the respec-
tive balance sheets have been allocated to the Cash 
Generating Units (CGU) in a manner consistent 
with previous years. As MamboFive B.V. is yet to be 
operationally integrated, it is treated as a separate 
CGU within the Netherlands. Holding assets have 
been allocated consistently with previous years on 
a revenue distribution basis. Holding assets pertain 
to the investment in MY-TIE, the corporate ERP 
system. Allocation is based on usage of the system 
derived from revenues earned by CGU’s.

The Netherlands intangibles (prior to impairment) 
include the DC trademark (€ 800k) and DC related 
goodwill (€ 1,485k). Consistent with the 2007 im-
pairment test, these assets have been allocated to 
the CGU Netherlands TIE, North America and ROW. 
The allocation applied is consistent with previous 
years and revenue based: NL_TIE 60%, US 20% and 
ROW 20% based on expected revenues. 
The main movements in 2009 consist of:

  �Acquisition MamboFive B.V. as disclosed on 
page 58;

➢   �Reclassification of Goodwill to Non-Current 
Assets held for sale amounting to € 198k, as 
disclosed on page 65;

  �The other movements consist of capitalized 
software development costs and purchased 
software, and amortization thereupon, as well 
as Foreign Currency movements for the North 
American CGU.

All CGU show an expected positive future cash 
flow, based on the Annual Operating Plan 2010 
and business plan 2010-2014. Based on the 
outcome of the test, no further impairment is 
required. 

Impairment tests are performed on a CGU level 
using a discounted cash flow model (value in use). 
The starting point for the tests is the Annual Op-
erating Plan approved by Management Board and 
Supervisory Board for the next financial year. 

Allocation of Intangible Fixed Assets 2009
The Nether-

lands TIE
The Netherlands 

MamboFive
North

America
Rest of
World

Total
2009

Goodwill 1,211  1,010 660 877 3,758 

Digital Channel Concept 480 - 160 160 800 

Customer Base 181 262 - - 443 

Software Development Cost 959 - 246 - 1,205 

Software  240 - 7 5 252 

Total 3,071 1,272 1,073 1,042 6,458 

Allocation of Intangible Fixed Assets 2008
The

Netherlands
North

America
Rest of
World

Total
2008

Goodwill 1,211 858 599 2,668 

Digital Channel Concept 480 160 160 800 

Customer Base 181 - - 181 

Software Development Cost 593 295 - 888 

Software  246 24 5 275 

Total 2,711 1,337 764 4,812 
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Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet

The projected cash flows, as shown above, based 
on the Annual Operating Plan have been run 
through a variety of scenarios using the above as-
sumptions for 2009 and comparative assumptions 
for 2008.
 

Running multiple scenarios resulted in a number 
of outcomes with varying balances of net cash 
inflow. Impairment decisions have been based on 
outcomes of these scenarios close to the average of 
the various outcomes.

The cash flow projection is calculated on a consis-
tent basis as in 2008, and based on the Company’s 
5 year Business Plan, as well as AOP 2010.
For 2009/2010, in North America, redundancy fees 
to be paid to the former CEO € 95k are anticipated.  
The aforementioned assumptions have varying 

sensitivities. Using a 10% discount rate would sig-
nificantly improve the Net Present Value of future 
cash flows by 15%. Applying a 20% discount rate 
would reduce the Net Present Value of future cash 
flows by 12%. The discount rate has been based on 
the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) of 
the Company. A sensitivity specially applicable to 
the North American Cash Generating Unit pertains 
to the development of the USD against the Euro. 
A significant detoriation of the USD against the 
Euro could potentially result in impairment. This is 
caused by the fact that some of the assets allocated 
to the North American Cash Generating Unit are 
denominated in Euro. Additional projected cash 
flow years can be expected to have limited effect 
under the applied discount rate. Additional years 
would add less than 50% of the Projected Net Cash 
Flow decreasing to nil.

Projected cash flows 2009
The Nether-

lands TIE
The Netherlands

MamboFive
North

America
Rest

of World
Total 
2009

Projected Cash Flows 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years

Growth of Net Cash Flows per annum

(EUR x 1,000) 135 - 375 0 - 230 40 - 235 0 -185 175 - 1,025

Discount Rate 15% 15% 15% 15% 15%

Projected cash flows 2008
The Nether-

lands
North

America
Rest

of World
Total
2008

Projected Cash Flows 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years

Growth of Net Cash Flows per annum

(EUR x 1,000) 150 - 300 50 - 350 0 - 70 200 - 720

Discount Rate 15% 15% 15% 15%
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2) Tangible Fixed Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements in Property, Plant and Equipment are shown below:

Tangible Fixed Assets  Fittings  Hardware  Total 

 Accumulated investments per September 30, 2007  2,050  1,084  3,134 

 Accumulated amortization per September 30, 2007  (1,899)  (1,002)  (2,901)

 Accumulated impairments per September 30, 2007  (100)  (50)  (150)

 Carrying value as per September 30, 2007  51  32  83 

 Movements 2008 

 Additions 53 45 98

 Acquired through Business Combinations 1 6 7

 Depreciation in profit and loss  (31)  (31)  (62)

 Impairment  (4)  (6)  (10)

 Translation adjustments investments  (24)  (24)  (48)

 Translation adjustments amortization  26 28 54

 Movements 2008  21  18  39 

 Accumulated investments per September 30, 2008  2,080  1,111  3,191 

 Accumulated amortization per September 30, 2008  (1,904)  (1,005)  (2,909)

 Accumulated impairments per September 30, 2008  (104)  (56)  (160)

 Carrying value as per September 30, 2008  72  50  122 

 Movements 2009 

 Additions  54  37  91 

 Acquired through Business Combinations  50  7  57 

 Depreciation in profit and loss  (64)  (23)  (87)

 Impairment  -    -    -   

 Divestments  (29)  (63)  (92)

 Depreciation on divestments  29  63  92 

 Translation adjustments investments  (3)  (2)  (5)

 Translation adjustments amortization  (3)  5  2 

 Movements 2009  34  24  58 

 Accumulated investments per September 30, 2009  2,152  1,090  3,242 

 Accumulated amortization per September 30, 2009  (1,942)  (960)  (2,902)

 Accumulated impairments per September 30, 2009  (104)  (56)  (160)

 Carrying value as per September 30, 2009  106  74  180 

 Useful life  4 to 10 years  3 years 

At balance sheet date there are no restrictions on title. No items of Property Plant and Equipment have 
been pledged as security against liabilities. The fair value of the Property, Plant and Equipment is deemed 
to be a close approximation of the carrying value.
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3) Financial Fixed assets
Deferred Taxes

 

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet

Balance as at October 1, 2009 2008

From US operations 1,537 1,918

From Dutch operations 243 -

Balance as at September 30, 1,780 1,918

Temporary Differences 2009 2008

Goodwill 2,344 2,869

Depreciation of fixed assets 206 203

Deferred Revenue 1,096 1,237

Bad debt impairments 44 151

Indemnity claim 94 274

Other items 60 61

Total Temporary Differences 3,844 4,795

Deferred Tax Asset at 40% 1,537 1,918

Deferred Tax Liability at 40% - -

Net deferred Tax Asset 1,537 1,918

Movements 2009 2008

Balance as at October 1,  1,918  2,136 

Debited to Income (374) (157)

Net Currency translation effect (7) (61)

Balance as at September 30, 1,537  1,918 

The deferred tax and movements thereupon are 
discussed below.

United States
A Deferred Tax Asset is recognized for temporary 
differences regarding, among other items, the 
amortization of goodwill, in the US. Goodwill is 
amortized for tax purposes over a 15-year period, 
but is not amortized under IFRS. Goodwill was, un-
der previous GAAP, amortized in 5 years. Deferred 
Revenues have a tax basis of nil and are therefore 
causing the recognition of a tax asset. 

The Deferred Tax Asset pertains in full to the activi-
ties of the Company in the United States and rep-
resents these temporary differences to the extent 
management expects to recover these items from 
probable future taxable income. The recognized 
deferred tax asset represents the full deferred tax 
asset available for temporary differences in the 
United States.

A summary of the detailed breakdown of move-
ments in the deferred tax amount is provided below:
 

The amount debited to income (€ 374k) pertains 
to the temporary differences detailed above. The 
principle item included in this amount is the tax 
pertaining to the change in the temporary differ-
ence between the carrying value and the tax base 
of the Goodwill and deferred revenues.
In addition to the temporary differences, there is a 
Loss Carry Forward in the US amounting to € 2.5m 
(USD 3.7m), which is not taken into consideration 
in the above deferred tax asset. Based on the cur-
rent tax legislation in the United States, the federal 
loss carry forward potential has a remaining life of 
between 12 to 20 years, starting with the losses in-
curred in 2001. The potential tax benefit pertaining 
to these losses approximates € 0.9m (2008:  
€ 0.8m) and USD 1.3m (2008: USD 1.1m) and 
remains unrecognized. The full Deferred Tax Asset 
potential in the United States amounts to € 2.4m 
(2008: € 2.7m) and USD 3.5m (2008: USD 3.9m). 

The Netherlands
In the Netherlands, the available but substantially 
unrecognized loss carry forward totals € 36.2m 
(2008: € 36.1m), which is available to offset future 
taxable income for a maximum period of 9 years. 
The first year to expire under current tax law is 
the loss originating from 2002, which will expire 
in 2011. The gross amount of the Netherlands de-
ferred tax asset amounts to € 9.2m (2008: € 9.2m).
The company has recognized an amount of € 243k 
as deferred tax asset in the Netherlands. For income 
tax purposes, the company considers a 2-year 
period as fair and reasonable for estimating the de-
ferred tax asset, based on its business expectation 
for the next two years as well as the results of 2009. 

Loans and Receivables
(Net of impairments):
 

The balance consists of:
  �the remaining balance amounting to € 18k of 
the 6% interest bearing employee loan on June 
3, 2008 for 5 years;

  �the remaining balance amounting to € 10k of 
a employee relocation loan issued on July 17, 
2009 for 3 years;

  �Acquired through MamboFive B.V. acquisition, 

Loans and Receivables 2009 2008

Balance as at October 1, 22 119

Issued 10 24

Acquired through Business Com-
binations

12 -

Redeemed  (4)  (1)

Impairment -  (121)

Other changes - 1

Balance as at September 30 40 22
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The above transaction resulted in a partnership 
in which Intertrade Systems connects to the TIE 
Kinetix Business Integration Platform to provide 
additional network capacity in the North American 
market.

Trade Receivables and  
Other Receivables

a loans receivable from Stichting MamboFive 
of € 6k and a loan to Viral Ventures amounting 
to € 6k;

  �The fully impaired loan to Samar B.V. amount-
ing to € 122k; There is an ongoing legal dispute 
with Samar B.V. See page 80.

The subordinated loan to Retail Connect B.V. total-
ing € 184k has been set off against the valuation 
allowance, based on the final agreement between 
parties on November 10, 2008; the amount has 
been impaired in previous years.  

The fair value of the three and five year loans per 
2009 year end totals € 24k (2008: € 20k). Since none 
of these instruments are actively traded, this fair 
value has been determined by using a valuation 
model, taking into consideration the future cash 
flows emerging from these instruments discounted 
at the current market rate of 8.4% (2008: 8.4%).
Loans and Receivables valuation allowance:
 

Loans and Receivables  
valuation allowance

2009 2008

Balance as at October 1,  306  184 

Additions charged to Income  -    22 

Released to Income  -    -   

Bad debt charged to (used from) 
valuation allowance

 (184)  100 

Balance as at September 30  122  306 

Trade Receivables 2009 2008

Trade Debtors  2,132  2,043 

Less: valuation allowance  (315)  (555)

 Trade debtors net of valuation allowance  1,817  1,488 

Taxation and social security prepaid  10  15 

Deferred Sales Commissions  -    13 

Deferred Initial Set Up Costs  5  21 

Other Receivables  116  94 

Subsidized projects  382  125 

Projects to be invoiced (WIP)  98  77 

Employees  6  37 

Prepayments  107  166 

Total  2,541  2,036 

The valuation allowance consists of the impaired 
Samar loans (described above) totaling  € 122k. 
The movement of € 184k resulted from the settle-
ment with Retail Connect B.V., described above, as 
is further discussed on page 80.

The risk exposure from these financial assets is 
predominantly credit risk. This risk is assessed by 
management and mitigated through collateraliz-
ing the loan wherever possible.

4) Current Assets

Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
In 2009, TIE decided to sell the EDGE software 
being sold in the North American segment. The 
book value (consisting of Goodwill) of the EDGE 
software totals € 198k. TIE is continuing to inte-
grate the EDI software into one program language. 
Strategically, the EDGE software does not fit in the 
Business Integration Platform. On October 7, 2009, 
TIE sold the EDGE Software to Intertrade Systems 
in Canada. The recognized profit in Q1 2010 of the 
sale totals € 176k. 

 
Trade Receivables
As from October 1, 2008, and during the 2009 fiscal 
year, the receivables are not collateralized. Per 
2008 year end, an amount of € 435k was collateral-
ized under the ABN-AMRO credit facility.
The fair value of these Trade Debtors totals  
€ 1,817k (2008: € 1,488k).

Other Receivables and Prepayments

Other Receivables predominantly consist of security 
deposits for rental agreements. Subsidized projects 
consist of EU projects completed and awaiting final 
approval and settlement.

Projects to be invoiced relate to work that has been 
performed, but not yet invoiced.

Prepayments include prepaid rent, car lease, and 
insurance premiums.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Under this heading, the company only includes 
cash at banks, potentially short term deposits, and 
payments in transfer. The reported cash balance 
was available at balance sheet date; there were no 
restrictions with respect to availability.

The Fair Value of Cash and Cash Equivalents ap-
proximate the nominal value of these items.
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5) Equity

Shareholders’ Equity
Management policy with respect to managing 
Capital, consisting of all components of Equity, 
including the Convertible Bonds, is to maintain a 
positive Equity, while limiting funding through 
Debt as much as possible due to the liquidity risks 
attached to Debt. This implies that Business Com-
binations, Investments and Operations are funded 
primarily by issuing Equity Instruments, also in the 
event of a cash component payable arising from a 
Business Combination. 

Share Capital
The company’s authorized share capital amounts 
to € 20 million, consisting of 200 million ordinary 
shares with a nominal value of € 0.10 each. 
At the shareholders meeting held on March 11, 
2009, the General Meeting of Shareholders of 
TIE authorized the TIE Management Board, for a 
period of 18 months, to issue shares, convertible 
bonds, options and warrants. The authorization is 
maximized to the authorized share capital of the 
company. Additionally, the General Meeting of 
Shareholders authorized the Management Board 
of TIE to restrict and/or exclude priority rights for a 
period totalling 18 months.
The Stichting Preferente Aandelen has been dis-
solved per February 18, 2009.

Share capital at par value:

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet

During 2009 10,221,428 (2008: 3,885,714) shares 
were issued at an average price of € 0.11 (2008: 
€ 0.31) per share. Movements in Issued Capital in 
nominal values and Share Premium Account are 
shown on page 67.

Equity Settled  
Share Based Payments

Annual Stock Options Plan
The General Meeting of Shareholders determined 
on March 11, 2009 that in each financial year, a 
maximum of 1.5 million Stock Options can be is-
sued under an Annual Stock Options Plan for staff 
members. All un-awarded Stock Options can be 
carried over to subsequent years. 

The Stock Options granted under the Annual Stock 
Options Plan have a three-year vesting period 
and a subsequent exercise period of 7 years. Staff 
members leaving the Company within the vesting 
period lose their Stock Options, which then become 
available for re-issuance.

During 2009, a total of 180,000 (2008: 1,555,000) 
Stock Options have been issued at an average 
strike price of € 0.155. 

Per February 24, 2009 a total of 2,965,000 Stock 
Options have been issued to key staff members 
who have funded the Company, by means of 
Convertible Bonds, for an amount € 247k. Per Au-
gust 4, 2009 a total of 400,000 options have been 
issued to a key staff member who has funded the 
Company, by means of a Convertible Bond for an 
amount of € 40k. These Stock Options have a lock-
up period of one year.

The weighted remaining average life time of the 
stock options is 8.37 years (2008: 8.75 years).

Movements in the number of Stock Options to staff 
members and management of the Company are 
shown on page 67 (Movements of Stock Options).

Balance of Stock Option fair value at issue to be 
expensed is shown on page 67 (Balance of Stock 
Option fair value).

(€ x 1,000) 2009 2008

Common Shares 20,000 10,000

Cumulative Preference Shares 0 10,000

Total 20,000 20,000

(number of shares) 2009 2008

Balance as at October 1,  54,755,390  50,869,676 

Issued  10,221,428  3,885,714 

Redeemed  -    -   

Balance as at September 30,  64,976,818  54,755,390 

In € (x 1,000)  6,498  5,476

The movements in the number of Common Shares 
outstanding can be summarized as follows:
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Movements in Issued Capital and Share Premium Issued Capital Share Premium Account

(€ x 1,000) 2009 2008 2009 2008

Balance as at October 1,  5,476  5,087  47,054  46,242 

Shares Issued  1,022  389  93  817 

Cost of Issue  -    -    -    (10)

Other Movements  -    -    21  5 

Balance as at September 30,  6,498  5,476  47,168  47,054 

Movements of Stock Options
Average 

strike price
2009

Average 
strike price

2008

Options outstanding October 1,  0.205  7,651,667  0.343  5,327,940 

Options granted during the year  0.130  5,665,000  0.100  4,205,000 

Options excercised during the year  0.100  (800,000)  -  - 

Options Cancelled  0.169  (1,099,647)  0.363  (1,881,273)

Options outstanding September 30,  0.186  11,417,020  0.205  7,651,667 

Balance of Stock Option fair value 2009 2008

Balance as at October 1,  283,438  273,910 

Fair value of stock option issued  272,843  179,897 

Expense for the year  (291,531)  (168,898)

Other movements  -    (1,471)

Changes in lapsing estimates  (14,786)  - 

Balance at September 30,  249,964  283,438 
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The aforementioned balance reflects the future 
expense of outstanding Stock Options at balance 
sheet date, based on management’s current best 
estimate of the number of Stock Options that will 
actually vest. This balance is not reflected on the 
face of the balance sheet.

A Black & Scholes model was used to calculate 
the fair value of the Stock Option plans, for 2009, 

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet

using an interest rate of 3.55% (2008: 3.75%), a 
calculated forfeiture of 15% (2008: 15%) and a 
calculated volatility of 59% (2008: 44%). Volatility 
was determined using the square root of share-
price movements.

Stock Options outstanding to staff members and 
management of the Company, as per September 
30, 2009, can be broken down as follows:

Stock Options Issue
Date

Options
Granted Converted Lapsed/

Forfeiture
Outstanding

Options

Weighted  
average exer-

cise price

Maturity
Date

2005 Former Management Board Feb 23, 2005  500,000  -    -    500,000 € 0.41 Apr 01, 2015

2007 Management Board Sep 30, 2007  218,171  -    133,326  84,845 € 0.26 Oct 01, 2017

2008 Management Board Jun 03, 2008  800,000  800,000  -    -   € 0.10 Jun 03, 2018

2009 Management Board Feb 24, 2009  265,000  -    -    265,000 € 0.10 Feb 24, 2019

2009 Management Board Mar 11, 2009  750,000  -    -    750,000 € 0.10 Mar 11, 2019

Sub Total Management Board  2,533,171  800,000  133,326  1,599,845 

2005 Netherlands (2001) Apr 01, 2005  216,033  -    -    216,033 € 0.46 Apr 01, 2012

2005 USA (2001) Apr 01, 2005  57,000  -    -    57,000 € 0.46 Apr 01, 2012

2005 Netherlands Sep 30, 2005  556,965  -    319,170  237,795 € 0.34 Oct 01, 2015

2005 USA Sep 30, 2005  485,254  -    152,416  332,838 € 0.34 Oct 01, 2015

2005 France Sep 30, 2005  119,000  -    36,000  83,000 € 0.34 Oct 01, 2015

2006 Netherlands Sep 30, 2006  541,602  -    252,785  288,817 € 0.33 Oct 01, 2016

2006 USA Sep 30, 2006  574,650  -    164,214  410,436 € 0.33 Oct 01, 2016

2006 France Sep 30, 2006  133,200  -    53,119  80,081 € 0.33 Oct 01, 2016

2007 Netherlands Sep 30, 2007  513,832  -    129,573  384,259 € 0.26 Oct 01, 2017

2007 USA Sep 30, 2007  417,922  -    75,772  342,150 € 0.26 Oct 01, 2017

2007 France Sep 30, 2007  107,633  -    22,147  85,486 € 0.26 Oct 01, 2017

2008 Netherlands Jun 03, 2008  1,600,000  -    500,000  1,100,000 € 0.10 Jun 03, 2018

2008 USA Jun 03, 2008  250,000  -    -    250,000 € 0.10 Jun 03, 2018

2008 Netherlands Sep 30, 2008  1,005,000  -    127,000  878,000 € 0.10 Sep 30, 2018

2008 USA Sep 30, 2008  550,000  -    114,720  435,280 € 0.10 Sep 30, 2018

2009 Netherlands Feb 24, 2009  2,450,000  -    -    2,450,000 € 0.10 Feb 24, 2019

2009 USA Feb 24, 2009  250,000  -    -    250,000 € 0.10 Feb 24, 2019

2009 France Feb 24, 2009  50,000  -    14,000  36,000 € 0.10 Feb 24, 2019

2009 International Jun 01, 2009  100,000  -    -    100,000 € 0.17 Jun 01, 2019

2009 Asia Aug 04, 2009  450,000  -    -    450,000 € 0.18 Aug 04, 2019

2009 International Sep 30, 2009  30,000  -    -    30,000 € 0.20 Sep 30, 2019

Sub Total  personnel  10,458,091  -    1,960,916  8,497,175 

Total Sep 30, 2009  12,991,262  800,000  2,094,242  10,097,020 
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Equity Settled Instruments at issue were credited 
to equity.

The Stock Options that expired during the 2009 
fiscal year have not been excercized. 

Convertible Bonds
Convertible Bonds issued by the Company have 
been classified as Equity, based on the fact that un-
der the terms and conditions of these bonds, there 
is evidence of a residual interest in the Company’s 
assets after deducting all of its liabilities. The con-
version rates are fixed, and all Convertible Bonds 
are non-interest bearing.

Distributions to holders of Equity Instruments are 
recognized directly in equity net of tax. Movements 
in the balance of outstanding Convertible Bonds 
are as follows:

Stock Options Third Party Investors Issue Date Options Granted exercise price Maturity Date

Third Party Investors Jun 03, 2008 500,000 € 0.10 Jun 03, 2018

Third Party Investors Jun 19, 2009 25,000 € 0.18 Jun 19, 2019

Total 525,000

Movements Stock Options Third Party Investors
Weighted Aver-
age strike price

2009
Weighted Aver-
age strike price

2008

Options outstanding October 1, € 0.318  1,100,000 € 0.418  1,100,000 

Options granted during the year € 0.180  25,000 € 0.100  500,000 

Options Cancelled € 0.500  (600,000) € 0.320  (500,000)

Options outstanding September 30, € 0.104  525,000 € 0.318  1,100,000 

Movements in the balance of out-
standing Convertible Bonds

2009 2008

Balance as at October 1,  1,735,000  870,000 

Issued  961,000  1,735,000 

Converted in common shares  (1,035,000)  (870,000)

Redeemed  -  - 

Balance at September 30,  1,661,000  1,735,000 

A total number of 4,345,000 Stock Options have 
been awarded to the staff members and the 
Management Board in 2009. The movement in 
Stock Options of the Management Board in 2009 is 
discussed on page 76.

Stock Options held by 
Third Party Investors:
Stock Options outstanding with non staff members 
as per September 30, 2009, are shown above (Stock 
Options Third Party Investors).

Movements in non-staff members Stock Options 
are shown above (Movements Stock Options Third 
Party Investors).

The outstanding non-staff member Stock Options 
were issued in relation to credit facilities offered 
to the Company by the various lenders. It is the 
Company’s policy and intention to issue new shares 
upon exercise of these Stock Options. 

Outstanding non-staff member Stock Options do 
not have vesting periods, but do contain a one-
year lock-up period and no requirement to be 
expensed. Considerations received for these Gross 
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The Balance outstanding as per September 30, 2009 
consists of the following Convertible Bonds:

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet

The movement in Convertible Bonds in 2009 held 
by the Management Board is discussed on page 76.

Minority interest
As a result of the purchase of 49.75% of the 
remaining shares in TIE France S.A.S. on November 
10, 2008, the Company now holds 100% (through 
its 100% subsidiary Gordian Investments B.V.) of 
the shares of TIE France S.A.S. Due to the fact that 
the Company indirectly held 50.25%, TIE France 
S.A.S. was already included in the consolidated 
financial statements at 100%. At the acquisition 
date, the minority share was set at nil as TIE France 
S.A.S. contained a negative net asset value. 

Tabel 51

Tabel 50

Convertible Bonds Issue 
date

Maturity 
date

 Conversion  
 rate in € 2009 2008

Related Party February 22, 2008 January 1, 2018 € 0.14  -    325,000 *)

Related Party June 3, 2008 June 3, 2018 € 0.10  -    660,000 

Related Party November 11, 2008 November 11, 2013 € 0.10  150,000  -   

Related Party February 24, 2009 February 24, 2019 € 0.10  316,000  -   

Related Party April 1, 2009 April 1, 2014 € 0.10  388,547  -   

Related Party August 4, 2009 August 4, 2019 € 0.18  40,000  -   

Sub Total Related Party  894,547  985,000 

Third Party Investors June 3, 2008 June 3, 2018 € 0.10  -    50,000 

Third Party Investors September 30,2008 October 1, 2018 € 0.10  700,000  700,000 

Third Party Investors April 1, 2009 April 1, 2014 € 0.10  61,453  -   

Third Party Investors June 19, 2009 June 19, 2019 € 0.18  5,000  -   

Sub Total Third Party Investors  766,453  750,000 

Total Convertible Bonds  1,661,000  1,735,000 

*) Conversion period with lock-up for the bondholder until 

January 1, 2011, TIE can convert as of February 22, 2009.

Long Term Debt 2009 2008

Balance as at October 1,  200  -   

Loans Taken out  -  -   

Loan repayments  -  -   

Movements  (200)  200 

Balance as at September 30  -    200

Provisions Redundancy
Claims Provision 2009 2008

Balance as at October 1,  91  7  98 320

Additions/strengthening  -  1  1 95

Interest effects from discounting  -  -  -  (4)

Movements to current  (91)  -  (91)  (313)

Balance as at September 30  -  8  8  98 

Net effect on income () = gain -  1 1 91

6) Non Current Liabilities

Long Term Debt
 

The loan is due on January 1, 2010 and classified as 
short term debt. 

Provisions
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The Company has entered into a termination 
agreement with its former CEO, which ends per 
March 31, 2010. The balance has moved to short 
term liabilities.

The strengthening of the provision in 2008, relates 
predominantly to the above termination agree-
ment; the movement to current in 2008 predomi-
nantly relates to rent, see below under 7) current 
liabilities (provisions). 

The provision relates to a retirement provision in 
France as discussed on page 53.

7) Current Liabilities

Provisions
The Provisions are per September 30, 2009, are 
detailed below.

The Company paid € 400k to the landlord of the 
old office building in the Netherlands, as agreed 
in November 2007 and payable on December 31, 
2008. The Company paid the full amount on De-
cember 20, 2008.

The redundancy claims consist of the payments 
under the termination agreement with the former 
CEO, as agreed in April 2008 and ending per March 
31, 2010, and a former manager of TIE France 
whose contract was terminated per December 2008.

The risk provision consists of a provision for the 
deposit amount and costs of the former rental 
building in France and recoverable vat on doubtful 
debts in France.

The other movements relate to the movement 
from non-current liabilities to current liabilities.

Provisions Rentals Redundancy
claims

Risk
Provisions 2009 2008

Balance as at October 1,  394  241  -  635  97 

Additions/strengthening  -  13  19  32  460 

Interest effects from discounting  6  (2)  -  4  (8)

Payments made against provision  (400)  (235)  -  (635)  (185)

Exchange difference  -  (14)  -  (14)  (5)

Release to income for the year  -  -  -  -    (37)

Other movements  -  91  -  91  313 

Balance as at September 30  -  94  19  113  635 

Short Term Debt

Short Term Debt 2009 2008

ABN-Amro Credit Facility  -    435 

Loan Alto Imaging Group N.V.  200  105 

Loan Jalak Investments B.V.  100  - 

Purchase TIE France S.A.S.  66  - 

Purchase MamboFive B.V.  439  - 

Total  805  540 

The ABN-AMRO Credit facility was redeemed and 
paid back in full on October 1, 2008.

The loans from Alto Imaging Group N.V. consist 
of € 105k loan issued on November 28, 2007 and 
paid back on December 1, 2008 and € 200k loan 
issued on August 24, 2007 and payable on January 
1, 2010, which, last year, was classified as long-
term liability. The interest charged on both loans 
amounts to 6% per year. The fair value of the loan 
amounts to € 199k and is based upon the differ-
ence between the interest rate on the loan (6%) 
and market rate (8.45%). The loan was repaid on 
December 31, 2009.

The loan from Jalak Investments B.V. was issued on 
June 25, 2009 and repaid in full on November 30, 
2009. The interest charged on the loan amounts to 
6% annually.
 
The remaining part of the purchase price of TIE 
France S.A.S. of € 66k was paid on December 16, 
2009.

As described on page 58, the last payment of the 
acquisition of MamboFive B.V. amounts to € 450k 
and will be paid by means of a Convertible Bond. 
The amount is discounted by 5% as of the purchase 
date. The interest is charged to the P&L accounts 
and added to the outstanding debt. The fair value 
per September 30, 2009 amounts to € 439k. 
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Deferred Revenue
Deferred Revenue represents the unearned portion 
of revenues earned over a specific period. 
The maintenance and support agreement entitle 
the user to support and updates of the software. 
These maintenance contracts are deferred (100%) 
and recognized over the related contract period, 
usually 12 months.

Consulting fees are recognized upon the perfor-
mance based on the completion method. The 
deferred revenue is the difference between the 
amount invoiced and revenue recognized. In the 
event of overspending, the outstanding amount is 
expensed through the P&L.

SaaS contracts consist of a subscription fee, which is 
deferred and recognized over the related contract 
period. 

Taxation and Social Security
The Taxation and Social Security balance can be 
broken down as follows:  

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet

Other Payables and Accruals
Other Payables and Accruals consist of:

Taxation and Social Security 2009 2008

Payroll Tax  43  51 

Social Security Contributions  40  56 

VAT/Sales tax US  66  108 

Total Taxes and Social Security  149  215 

Income tax  52  4 

Other Payables and Accruals 2009 2008

Accrued expenses  891  655 

EC and other Grants  216  180 

Pension Premiums  27  1 

Interest Payable  27  30 

Supervisory Board Compensation  16  23 

Other accruals and payables  215  176 

Total  1,392  1,065 

Other Payables and Accruals include accrual for 
holiday allowance, holiday days not taken, pension 
accrual, prefunded amounts received on EU proj-
ects and accrued expenses.

Segment Information 
The Company operates mainly in one business 
segment, but also in different countries through 
subsidiaries. All subsidiaries provide similar prod-
ucts and services. For management purposes, the 
Company is divided into reporting segments. Net 
revenues by Segment are based primarily on the 
location of the customer. In preparing this segment 
information, the accounting principles applied 
reflect the same as those in the preparation of 
the Consolidated Balance Sheet and Consolidated 

Income Statement. Any transactions between re-
porting segments are accounted for at cost. These 
items are adjusted for the segment information 
presented below under Holding and Eliminations.
 
Segment Results, summarized Assets and Liabilities 
and other selected Income Statement Items are 
shown on page 73, for the year ending September 
30, 2009. The 2008 comparatives are shown on 
page 74. 

Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement
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Segment Results
Revenues

“The  
Netherlands”

“North 
America” Rest of World “Holding and 

Eliminations”
Total
2009

Licenses 576 410 227 - 1,213 

Maintenance and Support 898 1,895 449 - 3,242 

Consultancy 1,384 610 465 - 2,459 

Software as a Service 1,849 931 691 - 3,471 

Total Revenue 4,707 3,846 1,832 - 10,385 

Other Income 802 0 3 - 805 

Total Income 5,509 3,846 1,835 - 11,190 

Direct Purchase Costs (967) (377) (23) - (1,367)

Income Net of Direct Purchase Costs 4,542 3,469 1,812 - 9,823 

Operating Expenses

Employee Benefits 2,834 2,264 824 574 6,496 

Depreciation and Amortization  
Expense and Impairment Losses

136 193 13 18 360 

Other Operating Expenses 896 650 214 448 2,208 

Total Operating expenses 3,866 3,107 1,051 1,040 9,064 

Operating Income 676 362 761  (1,040) 759 

Interest and Other Financial Income 12 1 1 1 15 

Interest and other Financial Expense  (13)  -  -  (35)  (48)

Income before Tax 675 363 762  (1,074) 726 

Corporate Income Tax  (17)  (393)  (29)  243  (196)

Net Income 658  (30) 733  (831)  530 

Summarized Assets and Liabilities
Assets

“The  
Netherlands”

“North 
America”

“Rest of 
World”

“Holding and 
Eliminations”

Total
2009

Intangible Fixed Assets 1,774 1,064 1,042 - 3,880 

Tangible Fixed Assets 97 39 44 - 180 

Financial Fixed Assets 12 1,565 - 243 1,820 

Current Assets 1,519 1,094 523 60 3,196 

Total Assets 3,402 3,762 1,609 303 9,076 

Liabilities

Non Current Liabilities - - 8 - 8 

Current Liabilities 2,113 1,407 515 955 4,990 

Total Liabilities 2,113 1,407 523 955 4,998 

Deferred Tax Asset - 1,537 - 243 1,780 

Other Selected Income Statement Items “The  
Netherlands”

“North 
America”

“Rest of 
World”

“Holding and 
Eliminations”

Total
2009

Capital Expenditure 1)  1,722  118  401  -  2,241 

Depreciation and Amortization  131  194  16  18  359 

Other Non Cash Expenses  214  68  12  (3)  291 

FTE at year end  47  28  16  -  91 

1) Capital expenditure consists of tangible and intangible assets.
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Segment Results
Revenues

“The  
Netherlands”

“North 
America”

Rest of 
World

“Holding and 
Eliminations”

Total
2008

Licenses  559  711  235  -  1,505 

Maintenance and Support  881  1,791  396  -  3,068 

Consultancy  759  730  442  -  1,931 

Software as a Service  1,639  603  488  -  2,730 

Total Revenues  3,838  3,835  1,561  -  9,234 

Other Income  552 *)  1  1  -  554 

Total Income  4,390  3,836  1,562  -  9,788 

Direct Purchase Costs  (891)  (490)  (31)  -  (1,412)

Income Net of Direct Purchase Costs  3,499  3,346  1,531  -  8,376 

Operating Expenses

Employee Benefits  2,710 *)  2,548  760  540  6,558 

Depreciation and Amortization Expense and Impair-
ment Losses

 736  205  7  44  992 

Other Operating Expenses  1,060  673  217  757  2,707 

Total Operating expenses  4,506  3,426  984  1,341  10,257 

Operating Income  (1,007)  (80)  547  (1,341)  (1,881)

Interest and Other Financial Income  3  2  1  (1)  5 

Interest and other Financial Expense  (26)  -  -  (29)  (55)

Income before Tax  (1,030)  (78)  548  (1,371)  (1,931)

Corporate Income Tax  -  (160)  (7)  -  (167)

Net Income  (1,030)  (238)  541  (1,371)  (2,098)

Summarized Assets and Liabilities
Assets

“The  
Netherlands”

“North 
America”

“Rest of 
World”

“Holding and 
Eliminations”

Total
2008

Intangible Fixed Assets 143 1,338 764 - 2,245 

Tangible Fixed Assets 40 65 17 - 122 

Financial Fixed Assets - 1,940 - - 1,940 

Current Assets 858 940 650 676 3,124 

Total Assets 1,041 4,283 1,431 676 7,431 

Liabilities

Non Current Liabilities - 91 7 200 298 

Current Liabilities 2,840 1,306 430 373 4,949 

Total Liabilities 2,840 1,397 437 573 5,247 

Deferred Tax Asset - 1,918 - - 1,918 

Other Selected Income Statement Items “The  
Netherlands”

“North 
America”

“Rest of 
World”

“Holding and 
Eliminations”

Total
2008

Capital Expenditure 1)  879  153  55  -  1,087 

Depreciation and Amortization  13  205  7  44  269 

Impairments  723  -  -  -  723 

Other Non Cash Expenses  86  74  12  (3)  169 

Termination Benefits  -  400  50  -  450 

FTE at year end  39  30  16  -  85 

1) Capital expenditure consists of tangible and intangible assets.

*) As from 2009, WBSO has been deducted from employee expenses, 2008 comparatives have been restated accordingly.
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8) Operating Expenses

The Consolidated Income Statement has been pre-
pared using a classification based upon the nature 
of the expenses. The expense categories identified 
have been included below for further disclosure.

Direct Purchase Costs consist of expenses directly 
associated with revenue. This includes third party 
software licenses, consultant fees and hosting costs.
Employee Benefits

Employee benefits can be broken down as follows:
 

Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement

Other non-cash expenses referred to above pertain 
to the Stock Option expense accounted for in 2009. 

In addition to the primary segment disclosures 
above, the following provides an overview of the 
number of FTE per department within TIE. The 
breakdown shows the number of FTE per depart-
ment at year-end:
 

The actual geographical distribution of assets dif-
fers from the asset distribution displayed above as 
part of the segment information. The geographical 
distribution of assets is displayed below:
 

FTE per department 2009 2008

Research and Development 18 15

Sales and Marketing 20 19

Consulting and Support 35 35

General and Administrative 18 16

Total 91 85

Geographical distribution of assets 2009 2008

The Netherlands  4,957  2,854 

North America  3,123  3,607 

Rest of World  996  970 

Total  9,076  7,431 

The assets in the Netherlands include 100% of the 
TIE Holding N.V. assets.
(Accounts op page 42)

*) comparative figures adjusted for WBSO.

The acquisition of MamboFive B.V. contributed to 
the above employee benefit costs for an amount of 
€ 455k (10 months).

The WBSO grants received for 2009, amounting to 
€ 163k (2008: € 65k) have been deducted from the 
social security charges. 

The contributions to Post Employment Arrange-
ments include premiums payable with respect to 
the Netherlands operations’ Defined Contribution 
Post Employment Plan as well as the discretionary 
employer contributions to the tax facilitated retire-
ment plan (401(k)) in the United States.

The terminations benefits in 2008 include the ter-
minations costs under the termination agreement 
as described in notes, 6 and 7 above, to be paid or 
paid to the former CEO for € 359k and € 50k for a 
former employee of TIE France S.A.S.

For 2009 the average number of employees was 88 
(2008: 84).

Employee benefits 2009 2008

Salaries  4,762  4,321 

Salaries variable component  281  332 

Social Security Charges  638  634 *)

Contributions to Post Employment 
arrangements

 198  189 

Share based payments  292  169 

Termination Benefits  6  408 

Other Employe Benefits  320  505 

Total  6,497  6,558 
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Key Management 
Personnel Compensation
The total key management personnel compensa-
tion, including the remuneration of the Manage-
ment Board, amounted to € 266k (2008: € 273k, 
including € 33k of the former CEO up to November 
21, 2007). 

The CEO and only member of the Management 
Board received the following remuneration:

Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement

Remuneration of 
the Supervisory Board
The General Meeting of Shareholders sets the 
remuneration of the members of the Supervisory 
Board. All members are entitled to a remunera-
tion of € 10k per year, the Chairman € 20k per 
year. The total amount of compensation of the 
Supervisory Board for 2009 amounted to € 40.0k 
(2008; € 42.5k).

Depreciation and Amortization  
Expense and Impairment Losses

Management Board remuneration 2009 2008

Remuneration  216  216 

Expenses  8  7 

Bonus  10  - 

Stock Option Expense  32  17 

Total  266  240 

Remunerations of Jan Sundelin are paid to his per-
sonal management B.V., CAPTA Management B.V. 
Based on the operational result of the company, 
Jan Sundelin will be rewarded on March 10, 2010 
with 750,000 options for the 2009 year (2008: 
750,000 options). Additionally, he receives a bonus 
of € 10,800.

On February 24, 2009, Jan Sundelin received 
265,000 options as part of the Stock Option Plan 
for Management of TIE. The strike price is € 0.10 
per share, based on the closing rate of TIE shares 
on February 23, 2009. 

On February 24, 2009, TIE announced that Jan Sun-
delin invests € 26,5k in the company, as part of the 
financing of the acquisition of MamboFive B.V.

On July 2 and 8, 2009, TIE announced that Jan 
Sundelin exercised 50,000 and 750,000 options, 
respectively, which he received on June 3, 2008 as 
part of the investment plan.

At year end, Jan Sundelin held the following num-
ber of shares, option and Convertible Bonds, as 
detailed in the table below.

Shares, Stock Options and Convertible 
Bonds held by the Management Board

No. of Shares No. of Stock Options Convertible Bonds

Opening balance October 1, 2008  -    884,845  € 80,000 

Acquired or granted  1,600,000  1,015,000  € 26,500 

Sold or cancelled  -    -    - 

Excersized or converted  -    (800,000)  € (80,000)

Closing balance September 30, 2009  1,600,000  1,099,845  € 26,500 

Depreciation and Amortization  
Expense and Impairment Losses

2009 2008

Depreciation and amortization  360  269 

Impairments  -    723 

Total  360  992 

Depreciation and Amortization charges have 
increased in 2009 due to increased amortization 
of capitalized R&D costs (in 2008 amortization was 
low due to 2007 en 2008 impairments), deprecia-
tion on purchased office equipment of Mambo-
Five B.V., and amortization on Customer Base of 
MamboFive B.V. The impairment test performed 
year-end determined that no additional impair-
ments were required for any of the CGU’s.

On the 2008 half-year results, an impairment test 
was performed, resulting in the impairment of the 
Sinfox acquisition, totaling € 500k. Capitalized R&D 
totaled € 150k, purchased Software totaled € 62k, 
and other assets were € 11k.

Other Operating Expenses

Other Operating Expenses 2009 2008

Accomodation Expenses  453  692 

Communications  331  315 

Professional Services  506  684 

Other  918  1,016 

Total  2,208  2,707 
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9) Financial income and/or ExpenseCompared to previous years, accommodation 
expenses decreased, due to lower rental costs that 
resulted from the new corporate office and a one-
time profit on accommodation costs. Professional 
services in 2008 included additional audit charges 
for costs overrun for the annual accounts 2007, 
advice on IFRS matters in 2008, legal issues, and the 
temporary replacement of a legal officer, due to 
illness. Other costs decreased mainly through lower 
expenses of office supplies € 183k (2008: € 241k) 
and lower General and Administrative costs € 139k 
(2008: € 248k), which resulted primarily from lower 
bad debts costs in 2009 € 30k (2008: € 116k). Sav-
ing is partially absorbed by higher marketing costs 
2009 € 349k (2008: € 317k), and travel costs € 246k 
(2008: € 209k).

The acquisition of MamboFive B.V. contributed for 
€ 90k (10 months) in the above costs.

Research and Development Expenses:

Research and Development Expenses 2009 2008

Employee Benefits  1,112  869 

Other R&D related expenses  132  49 

Capitalized Development expenses  (557)  (391)

Amortization of Capitalized  
Developmet expenses

 228  169 

Impairments  -    150 

 915  846 

 
A number of projects executed by the R&D team in 
the Netherlands have funding from the European 
Commission. The EU grants received have been ac-
counted for under Other Income. The EU grants in 
2009 amounted to € 787k (2008: € 617k). 

In 2008, an amount of € 150k was impaired in 
connection with the impairment test performed 
at March 31, 2008. This amount consists of the full 
balance of capitalized R&D costs for the Nether-
lands Cash Generating Unit at March 31, 2008. 
Based on the impairment test performed at 2008 
year end and the improved results of The Dutch 
Cash Generating Unit, management did not impair 
the capitalized R&D costs over the second 2008 
half-year. 2008 has been restated for comparison 
reasons. 

The interest expense in 2009 pertains predominant-
ly to the loans used to fund cash flow needs on a 
short-term basis and the interest accrued on the 
payable to the former MamboFive B.V. sharehold-
ers, as discussed on page 71.

10) Corporate Income Tax

The company operates predominantly in the Neth-
erlands and North America. Applicable tax rates are 
25.5% (2008: 25.5%) for the Netherlands, France 
40% (2008: 40%), and for the US 34% (2008: 34%) 
for federal tax and 6% (2008: 6%) for state tax. 
These rates represent a weighted average rate as 
income tax returns are filed on a calendar year ba-
sis, whereas these financial statements have been 
drawn up to reflect the Company’s financial year, 
which runs from October 1 through September 30.

The effective tax rate based on income before 
taxes is 27.0% (2008: 8.6%); the weighted average 
tax rate amounts to 32.4% (2008: 26.0%). Rec-
ognition of deferred income tax assets, tax losses 
carried forward and non-deductable expenses are 
causing the difference.

Financial income and/or Expense 2009 2008

Interest Income  15  5 

Interest Expenses  (46)  (58)

Exchange gains/(losses)  (2)  3 

Total  (33)  (50)
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Reconciliation between standard and effective 
income tax is as follows:
 

Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement

Bonds, by the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding.
 

Income Tax Reconciliation 2009 2008

Net Income  726  (2,098)

Corporate Tax  (196)  (167)

Net Income (loss) before tax  530  (1,931)

Income tax calculated 
using statutory tax rate (25,5)

 (185)  535 

Effect of different 
local statutory tax rates

 (50)  (33)

Adjusting items:

Non Deductible Expenses  (77)  (30)

Capitalized deferred taxes on loss 
carry forward

 243  - 

Addition to / or utilization of 
unrecognized tax losses

 (127)  (639)

 (196)  (167)*)

Capitalized deferred taxes on loss 
carry forward

 243  - 

Changes in deferred tax assets as 

a result of recognition/write off of 

deductible temporary differences

 (374)  (157)

Current Income Tax Charge  (47)  (7)

Other tax items  (18)  (3)

Income Tax reported 
in the Income Statement

 (196)  (167)

*) �compared figures have been revised to  

improve transparency.

The changes in the Deferred Tax Asset are dis-
cussed on page 64 in detail. The main item repre-
sented in the reversal of the Deferred Tax Asset in 
2009 is the reduction of the temporary difference 
pertaining to Goodwill and both the deferred 
revenue in the USA and deferred tax asset for the 
Netherlands, based on loss carry forward.
All Dutch subsidiaries of TIE Holding N.V., except 
Sinfox B.V and MamboFive B.V. and the holding 
Company, form a tax unit and are jointly and sever-
ally liable for all tax liabilities originating within 
the tax unit.

11) Earnings per Share

Basic Earnings per Share
Basic Earnings per Share are calculated by dividing 
net income attributable to equity holders of TIE 
after deduction of accrued interest on Convertible 

Basic Earnings per Share 2009 2008

Net income attributable to equity 
holders of TIE

 530  (2,098)

Distributions on Convertible Bonds 
through income

 -  - 

Net Income adjusted for calcula-
tion of basic earnings per share

 530  (2,098)

Weighted average number of 
shares outstanding

 58,346  53,095 

Basic Earnings per share   
(€ per share)

 0.01  (0.04)

Diluted Earnings per Share
Diluted Earnings per Share take into effect the 
dilutive effect of convertible instrument and Stock 
Options upon exercise or conversion. The dilutive 
effect of these instruments amounts to the number 
of shares issuable under the terms and conditions 
of these arrangements for no consideration. The 
fair value of future service for (partially) unvested 
Stock Options has been taken into consideration by 
adjusting the exercise price for these Stock Options.

Stock Options are considered non-dilutive when 
the exercise price of the options is in excess of the 
average market price of the shares during the pe-
riod. Convertible Bonds are considered non-dilutive 
when the related interest net of tax and other 

Diluted Earnings per Share 2009 2008

Net Income adjusted for calcula-
tion of basic earnings per share

 530  (2,098)

Weighted average number of 
shares outstanding

 58,346  53,095 

Dilutive effect of stock options 
outstanding at September 30, 

 1,560  1,569 

Dilutive effect on Convertible 
Bonds

 12,491  - 

Weighted average number of 

shares adjusted for calculation of 

diluted earnings per share

 72,397  54,664 

Dilluted Earnings per share 
(€ per share)

 0.01  (0.04)
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is 3.5 years (office Hoofddorp) and 0.5 years (of-
fice Utrecht), while United States is 1.5 years, and 
France 2.75 years. Rentals due within one year 
amount to € 0.3m, rentals due between one and 
five years are approximately € 0.5m. 

The amounts payable within one year and between 
one and five years under the above contracts are 
summarized in the table Leases below.

Collateral
Per year-end, there are no assets pledged as col-
lateral (2008: € 435k).

The Company obtained a credit facility with Rabo-
bank of € 350k per September 30, 2009 based upon 
the debtors of TIE Nederland B.V. Per year end the 
credit facility is not used.

TIE HOLDING N.V. and subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the 
financial data of TIE Holding N.V., Hoofddorp and 
its subsidiaries as shown in the table  Subsidiaries  
of TIE Holding N.V..

changes to income and expense per ordinary share 
obtainable upon conversion exceeds the Basic Earn-
ings per Share. 
 
A total of 3,607,740 Stock Options have been 
excluded from the calculation of the Diluted Earn-
ings per Share as the exercise price of these Stock 
Options exceeded the TIE Holding N.V. average 
share price over the period. The Convertible Bonds 
outstanding at year-end are considered dilutive 
and have been included from date of issue.

Commitments and  
Contingent Liabilities

Leases (including rental agreements)

Company cars were contracted under an operating 
lease agreement (4 year term) in The Netherlands 
only. The monthly lease charge at September 30, 
2009 amounted to € 15k.

Under the rental agreements concluded, the an-
nual rental charge, including service costs for all TIE 
offices, is approximately € 0.5m (2008: € 0.5m). 
The remaining terms of leases in the Netherlands 

Leases 2009 2008

< 1year > 1 year < 5 years < 1year > 1 year < 5 years

Office Leases 342 448 308 675

Hosting Contracts 108 27 120 60

Operational leases company cars 149 329 175 107

Operational leases servers and photocopiers 30 23 30 53

Total 629 827 633 895

Subsidiaries of TIE Holding N.V. Statutory Seat 2009 2008

TIE Nederland B.V. Amsterdam (Schiphol-Rijk), The Netherlands 100% 100%

TIE Product Development B.V. Hoofddorp, The Netherlands 100% 100%

TIE International B.V. Hoofddorp, The Netherlands 100% 100%

Sinfox B.V. Arnhem, The Netherlands 100% 100%

MamboFive B.V. Utrecht, The Netherlands 100% -

Gordian Investments B.V. Hoofddorp, The Netherlands 100% 100%

TIE Commerce Inc. Burlington, MA, USA 100% 100%

TIE France S.A.S. Montpellier, France 100% 50.25%

Nextoria B.V. Amsterdam (Schiphol-Rijk), The Netherlands - 100%

Nspyre Solutions B.V. Amsterdam (Schiphol-Rijk), The Netherlands - 100%
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Effective per October 1, 2008 the Company ac-
quired the remaining 49.75% of the shares in TIE 
France S.A.S..

Effective per December 1, 2008 the Company 
acquired 51% of the shares in MamboFive B.V., on 
April 1, 2009 another 24.5% of the shares were ac-
quired. Per September 30, 2009 the Company holds 
75.5% of the shares.

On September 17, 2009 the Company Nspyre Solu-
tions B.V. was dissolved.

On September 21, 2009 the Company Nextoria B.V. 
was dissolved.

Main shareholders:

The main shareholders excluding potential interest 
of TIE are:

  �Alto Imaging N.V. (Jalak Investments B.V.) ≈ 
23.74% (total interest < 25%);

  �DW vastgoed beleggingen B.V. ≈ 10.42% (total 
interest < 15%);

  �Mr. Sundelin ≈ 3.29% (total interest < 5%).

Related Party Transactions

On November 10, 2008, the dispute between Retail 
Connect B.V. (33% shareholding as per September 
30, 2009, valued at zero) and TIE has been resolved. 
All receivables as well as the shareholding have 
been impaired in previous years. Retail Connect 
will be dissolved next year.

From the supervisory board, Mr. Peter van Schaick 
has an interest through Alto Imaging N.V. of 
23.74% of the shares. On June 25 2009, TIE re-
ceived a loan from Jalak Investments of € 100k, 
which was repaid on November 30, 2009. The ap-
plied interest was 6% on annual basis.

Alto Imaging N.V., which is controlled by Mr. van 
Schaick, has an outstanding loan of € 200k, origi-
nating from August 24, 2007, bearing an annual 
interest of 6%. This loan was repaid on December 
31, 2009.

Alto Imaging N.V. holds a Convertible Bond 
amounting to € 69.5k. The Convertible Bonds was 
issued on February 24, 2009, as part of the finance 
plan for the acquisition of MamboFive B.V. The 
strike price is € 0.10 and based on the closing trad-
ing price one day before submission. The lock-up 
period is one year and the maturity date is Febru-
ary 24, 2019.

The Convertible Bond issued to Alto Imaging on 
June 3, 2008 of € 395k was converted into shares 
on June 19, 2009.

Mr. Sundelin, CEO of TIE, has a shareholding of 
3.29% in TIE, as stated above. The remuneration, 
Convertible Bonds, Options and number of Shares 
held are disclosed on page 76.

The Convertible Bonds outstanding under related 
parties per September 30, 2009 are discussed on 
page 70. The outstanding options under related 
parties per September 30, 2009 are discussed on 
page 68.

The Shareholders of MamboFive B.V. received, as 
part of the transaction Convertible Bonds amount-
ing to € 389k on April 1, 2009 at a strike price of  
€ 0.10, a one year lock-up period. The bonds, 
which are disclosed on page 70, mature on April 
1, 2014.  Two managers and former Shareholders 
of MamboFive B.V. are further entitled to approxi-
mately 80% of the outstanding short-term debt, as 
disclosed on page 71, On April 1, 2010, TIE has the 
option to acquire the remaining 24,5% sharehold-
ing of MamboFive B.V., which will be paid by 
means of Convertible Bonds, based on the previous 
day closing price of TIE shares. 

On November 11, 2008, the manager of TIE France 
S.A.S. received a Convertible Bond of € 150k at 
a strike price of € 0.10, with a one year lock-up 
period. The bond matures on November 11, 2013 
and is disclosed on page 70, under the Convertible 
Bonds.

Pending Litigation

Currently, the Company is involved in one legal 
proceeding.  

Since December 2007, the Company has been 
involved in discussions and consequently in legal 
proceedings with SAMAR B.V. All claims in the sum-
mary proceedings have been instantly dismissed at 
the court hearing of February 15, 2008. Currently, 
the standard procedure is in the phase of replica-
tion and reply by rejoinder. The Management 
Board is confident in the outcome of the legal 
procedure and does not expect any further costs, 
except legal costs.

On November 20, 2009, TIE initiated an investiga-
tion on a potential infringement on the Content 
Syndication Platform. An independent third party 
has compared the software of both companies.
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Subsequent Events

On October 7, 2009, the Company sold the EDGE 
software to Intertrade Systems in Canada. The sale 
of the EDGE business is consistent with the Com-
pany’s new focus on the TIE Kinetix portfolio. The 
net income of the transaction, after deduction of 
Goodwill, amounts to € 176k and will be reported 
in the first quarter 2010.

On November 20, 2009, TIE initiated an investiga-
tion on a potential infringement on the Content 
Syndication Platform. An independent third party 
has compared the software of both companies. 
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Assets (€ x 1,000) Notes 2009 2008

Fixed assets 13)

Intangible Fixed Assets

Goodwill 1,209 198 

Other intangible fixed assets 7 25 

Total Intangible Fixed Assets 1,216 223 

Tangible fixed assets - -

Financial fixed assets

Subsidairies 5,407 -

Deferred Tax Asset 243 4,114 

5,650 4,114 

Total fixed assets 6,866 4,337 

Current assets 14)

Other Receivables 31 25 

Cash and cash equivalents 41 650 

Total current assets 72 675 

Total assets 6,938 5,012

Dutch GAAP TIE Holding NV Balance Sheet as at September 30, 2009
(Before proposed appropriation of results)
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Notes 2009 2008

Shareholders’ equity 15)

Issued and paid-up share capital 6,498 5,476 

Share premium 46,420 46,606 

Other Legal reserves 748 448 

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (463)  (473)

Retained earnings (51,316)  (49,510)

Net Result 530  (2,098)

2,417 449 

Convertible Bonds 1,661 1,735 

Total Equity 4,078 2,184 

Provisions 332 1,258 

Non Current Liabilities 16)

Loans payable - 200 

Current Liabilities 17)

Loans payable 739 105 

Creditors 1,758 1,228 

Affiliated Companies 31 37 

Total Current Liabilities 2,528 1,370 

Total Liabilities and Equity 6,938 5,012 
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Dutch GAAP TIE Holding NV Income Statement for 
the year ended September 30, 2009

Basis of Preparation
These financial Statements have been prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles, generally 
accepted in the Netherlands, as embodied in Title 9 
of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

Based on article 2:362(8) of the Dutch Civil Code, 
the valuation principles applied are based on 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
as applied in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company. Companies 
are allowed to apply IFRS valuation principles in 
their financial statements prepared under Title 9 of 
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

The Company has opted to prepare a condensed 
profit and loss account in accordance with the 
exemption provided by article 2:402 of the Dutch 
Civil Code.

Subsidiaries and associates are accounted for at 
net asset value determined on the basis of IFRS, as 
applied in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
For details on the accounting policies applied in 
the Consolidated Financial Statements, please refer 
to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments, starting page 47.
 

(€ x 1,000) 2009 2008

Result of participating interests 

after tax

 1,652  (407)

Other income after tax  (1,122)  (1,691)

Net Result  530  (2,098)

Corporate Information
TIE Holding N.V. and its subsidiaries (together the 
Company) develops, sells, and distributes software 
and services in the B2B Integration sector all over 
the world through a network of subsidiaries and 
resellers. The Company has been active not only in 
the software development but in the standardiza-
tion process as well.

TIE Holding N.V. is a public Company incorporated 
and domiciled in the Netherlands, organized 
under Dutch Law and recorded in the Chamber of 
Commerce under its registered address at Antar-
eslaan 22-24, 2132JE Hoofddorp. TIE is listed on the 
EuroNext Stock Exchange of Amsterdam. The TIE 
subsidiaries are located in France, the Netherlands 
and the U.S.A. (IAS 126a). A list of TIE Companies is 
included on page 79 of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

The Company financial statements for the year 
ended September 30, 2009 are authorized for issue 
through a resolution of the Management Board 
dated January 21, 2010.

The General Meeting of Shareholders, to be held 
on March 10, 2010, will be requested to approve 
the Company financial statements.

Dutch GAAP TIE Holding NV Income Statement 	
for the year ended September 30, 2009

Notes to the Company Financial Statements
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12) Fixed Assets
Intangible Fixed Assets 

Intangible Fixed Assets  Goodwill  Purchased 
 Software 

Total

 Accumulated investments per September 30, 2007  6,390  481  6,871 

 Accumulated amortization per September 30, 2007  (6,192)  (354)  (6,546)

 Accumulated impairments per September 30, 2007  -    (57)  (57)

 Carrying value as per September 30, 2007  198  70  268 

 Movements 2008 

 Additions  -    -    -   

 Acquired through Business Combinations  320  -    320 

 Amortization  -    (45)  (45)

 Impairments  (320)  -    (320)

 Movements 2008  -    (45)  (45)

 Accumulated investments per September 30, 2008  6,710  481  7,191 

 Accumulated amortization per September 30, 2008  (6,192)  (399)  (6,591)

 Accumulated impairments per September 30, 2008  (320)  (57)  (377)

 Carrying value as per September 30, 2008  198  25  223 

 Movements 2009 

 Additions  -    -    -   

 Acquired through Business Combinations  1,011  -    1,011 

 Amortization  -    (18)  (18)

 Movements 2009  1,011  (18)  993 

 Accumulated investments per September 30, 2009  7,721  481  8,202 

 Accumulated amortization per September 30, 2009  (6,192)  (417)  (6,609)

 Accumulated impairments per September 30, 2009  (320)  (57)  (377)

 Carrying value as per September 30, 2009  1,209  7  1,216 

Useful life Indefinite 3 years

The movement of goodwill results from the acquisi-
tion of MamboFive B.V., as discussed on page 58.

Purchased Software consists of purchased third 
party software used of the My TIE internal support 
system.

For the purpose of impairment tests holding assets 
are allocated to Cash Generating Units.

Notes to the Company Balance Sheet
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Tangible Fixed Assets
Tangible Fixed Assets pertained to a single com-
puter, which has depreciated to nil in 2007.

Financial Fixed Assets
Financial Fixed Assets relate to the Company’s 
share in subsidiaries. The movements are summa-
rized in the table Financial Fixed Assets below:

Funding to subsidiaries is in principle interest 
bearing with interest rates varying between 0% 
and 5.5% (2008: 0% and 5.5%). This funding is ac-
counted for as part of the net investment in subsid-
iaries. There are currently no repayment schedules, 
nor does management have the intention to recall 
these funds.

In 2008 and years prior, some subsidiaries had a 
negative net investment value. For these subsidiar-
ies, a provision for Equity Deficit was set up. Direct 
subsidiaries of the Company are summarized in the 
table Subsidiaries below.

The deferred tax asset is discussed on page 64.
.

Notes to the Company Balance Sheet

13) Current Assets
Other Receivables

Financial Fixed Assets 2009 2008

Total Subsidiaries as per October 1, 4,114 3,974 

Share in Net income 1,652  (408)

Investments (1,004)  - 

Capital Contributions 260  172 

Divestitures/ movements of IC funding (102)  (342)

Dividends paid  -  - 

Transfer to (from) provision for Equity Deficit 332  1,258 

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Differences 10  (369)

Other movements 145  (171)

Total subsidiaries as per September 30, 5,407 4,114 

Deferred Tax Asset 243  - 

Total Financial Fixed Assets 5,650 4,114 

Subsidiaries Statutory Seat 2009 2008

TIE Nederland B.V. Amsterdam (Schiphol-Rijk), The Netherlands 100% 100%

TIE Product Development B.V. Hoofddorp, The Netherlands 100% 100%

TIE International B.V. Hoofddorp, The Netherlands 100% 100%

Sinfox B.V. Arnhem, The Netherlands 100% 100%

MamboFive B.V. Utrecht, The Netherlands 100% -

Gordian Investments B.V. Hoofddorp, The Netherlands 100% 100%

TIE Commerce Inc. Burlington, MA, USA 100% 100%

Current Assets 2009 2008

Taxations and social  
security contributions

12 -

Other receivables and prepayments 19 25 

31 25

Taxation and social security contributions relates to 
VAT recoverable.
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14) Shareholders’ Equity
The Company’s authorized share capital amounts 
to € 20 million, consisting of 200 million ordinary 
shares with a nominal value of € 0.10 each. On 
September 30, 2009, a total of 64,976,818 ordinary 
shares (2008: 54,755,390) of € 0.10 each, were paid-
up and called.

The Stichting Preferente Aandelen has been dis-
solved per February 18, 2009.

Shareholders’ Equity is shown in the table below.
For the movement in shares, we refer to page  
66-67.

Legal reserves:
  �The Foreign Currency Translation Reserve repre-
sents the foreign currency exchange differences 
from the translation of the financial statements 
of the foreign subsidiaries.

  �The Other Legal Reserves pertain to the capital-
ized software development costs (€ 748k).

Subsidiaries Statutory Seat 2009 2008

TIE Nederland B.V. Amsterdam (Schiphol-Rijk), The Netherlands 100% 100%

TIE Product Development B.V. Hoofddorp, The Netherlands 100% 100%

TIE International B.V. Hoofddorp, The Netherlands 100% 100%

Sinfox B.V. Arnhem, The Netherlands 100% 100%

MamboFive B.V. Utrecht, The Netherlands 100% -

Gordian Investments B.V. Hoofddorp, The Netherlands 100% 100%

TIE Commerce Inc. Burlington, MA, USA 100% 100%

Equity Settled Share 
Based Payments

Annual Stock Options Plan
For the Annual Stock Option Plan for staff mem-
bers, we refer to page 66, Note 5 of the Consolidat-
ed Balance Sheet under Annual Stock Options Plan.

Other Stock Options
For the Other Stock Options, we refer to page 69 
Note 5 of the Consolidated Balance Sheet under 
Other Stock Options.

Convertible Bonds
For the issued and outstanding Convertible Bonds, 
we refer to page 69, Note 5 of the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet under Convertible Bonds.

Shareholders’ Equity

Share
Capital

Paid in
Surplus

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Reserve

Other
Legal 

Reserves

Retained
Earnings

Share-
holders’

Equity

Balance per September 30, 2007  5,087  45,854  (379)  388  (49,679)  1,271 

Shares issued and Share Premium  389  817  -  -  -  1,206 

Costs of Shares issued  -  (10)  -  -  -  (10)

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve  -  -  (94)  -  -  (94)

Shares Based Payments  -  -  -  -  169  169 

Distribution to Equity Holders  -  -  -  -  -  -   

Transfers to (from) legal reserve  -  (60)  -  60  -  -   

Other Movements  -  5  -  -  -  5 

Net Income 2008  -  -  -  -  (2,098)  (2,098)

Balance per September 30, 2008  5,476  46,606  (473)  448  (51,608)  449 

Shares issued and Share Premium  1,022  93  -  -  -  1,115 

Costs of Shares issued  -  -  -  -  -  -   

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve  -  -  10  -  -  10 

Shares Based Payments  -  -  -  -  292  292 

Distribution to Equity Holders  -  -  -  -  -  -   

Transfers to (from) legal reserve  -  (300)  -  300  -  -   

Other Movements  -  21  -  -  -  21 

Net Income 2009  -  -  -  -  530  530 

Balance per September 30, 2009  6,498  46,420  (463)  748  (50,786)  2,417 
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15) Non-Current Liabilities

Provision for Equity Deficit  
Subsidiaries
 
In 2009 and years prior, some subsidiaries held a 
negative net investment value. For these subsidiar-
ies, a provision for Equity Deficit was established.
 

Provision for Equity Deficit  
Subsidiaries

2009 2008

Opening Balance as per October 1, 1,258 687 

Movements from (to) 
Financial Fixed Assets

(926) 571 

Closing Balance as per September 30, 332 1,258 

Current Liabilities 2009 2008

Loans 739 105 

Trade creditors 80 125 

Taxations and social security 
contributions

11 32 

Inter-company payable 1,561 1,000 

Other payable and accruals 106 71 

Affliated Companies 31 37 

Total 2,528 1,370

The payable for taxes and social security relates to 
wage tax (2009) and vat (2008).

The inter-Company payable is an outstanding 
with TIE International B.V., TIE Commerce Inc.,  
TIE France S.A.S. and Sinfox B.V. No interest is due 
on this balance.

The balance reflects the outstanding balances with 
the Stichting Source Code and Trust Office and the 
accrued interest payable on the loans from Alto 
Imaging Group N.V. and Jalak Investments B.V.
 

Long Term Debt
The loan per September 30, 2008 of € 200k is due 
within one year and classified under current liabili-
ties below.

16) Current Liabilities
 
The loans, which are discussed in detail on page 71, 
refer to the Loans from Alto Imaging N.V. (€ 200k), 
Jalak Investments B.V. (€ 100k) and the purchase of 
MamboFive B.V. (€ 439k).
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Holding expenses
Expenses accounted for consist of the ones related 
to the Holding activities of TIE Holding N.V, in-
cluding allocated employee benefits. TIE Holding 
N.V. had 6 employees during 2009 (2008: 0). The 
remuneration of the Supervisory Board amounting 
to € 10k for members and € 20k for the chairman 
are included in the company’s expenses. For a de-
tailed description of the remuneration of the sole 
member of the Management Board, we refer to 
page 76 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

This includes Legal and Consultancy fees amount-
ing to €101k (2008: €230k) as well as a Stock Op-
tion expense, listing fee and amortization charges 
pertaining to Holding assets.

The audit fees from Ernst & Young Accountants LLP 
amount to € 66k (2008: € 129k) for the Holding; 
for the total, Company audit fees amount to € 90k 
(2008: € 203k). The tax consulting fees from Ernst 
& Young Belastingadviseurs LLP amount to € 13k 
(2008: € 14k).Fees from Ernst & Young Accountants 
LLP, as well as audit-related ones, amount to € 15k 
(2008: € 21k). The increase of auditing expenses in 
2008 was related to the reorganization and IFRS 
accounting.

Income Tax
The Company holds unrecognized deferred tax 
assets with respect to past tax losses amounting to 
approximately € 9.2m (related losses amounting to 
approximately € 36.2m). Foreign loss carry forward 
pertaining to approximately € 0.9m of the unrec-

ognized losses (of approximately € 2.5m) will be 
available for the next 11 to 20 years, depending on 
the nature of the item. The tax loss carry forward 
originating from the Netherlands has been reduced 
to 9 years in 2007.

All Dutch subsidiaries of TIE Holding N.V., except 
for MamboFive B.V. and Sinfox B.V., and the hold-
ing company, form a tax unit and are jointly and 
severally liable for all tax liabilities originating 
within the tax unit.

Commitments and 
Contingent Liabilities

Taxes
The Company has formed a financial unit for 
corporate income tax and VAT with TIE Nederland 
B.V., TIE International B.V., TIE Product Develop-
ment B.V. and Gordian Investments B.V. Based on 
this, TIE Holding N.V. is jointly and severally liable 
for the corporate income tax liabilities of the finan-
cial unit as a whole.

Other
The Company has issued guarantees in respect of 
TIE Nederland B.V., TIE Product Development B.V. 
and Gordian Investment B.V. pursuant to article 
2:403 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Hoofddorp, January 21, 2010

J.B. Sundelin 
CEO, TIE Holding N.V.
 

Notes to the Company Income Statement
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Appropriation of Net Result
According to Article 26 of the Company’s articles 
of association, the annual meeting of shareholders 
determines the appropriation of the company’s 
net result for the year. The Management Board 
proposes that the net profit of € 530k be added to 
Retained Earnings in Shareholders’ Equity. Article 
26 of the Articles of Association reads as follows:
1.	� From the profits achieved during the previ-

ous financial year will first be paid, if possible, 
a percentage on the cumulative preference 
shares equal to the marginal interest rate for 
special loans of the European Central Bank, as 
well as two percentage points at the first day 
of the financial year in question of the nominal 
amount of said shares. In the event that the 
result achieved in any given financial year is not 
sufficient to pay the percentage stated above, 
no addition to the reserves will take place in 
the subsequent years other than that required 
by law, nor shall any amount be paid on the or-
dinary shares before the holders of cumulative 
preference shares have been paid the dividend 
to which they are entitled, and the dividend for 
the previous financial year has been paid. No 
further payments can be made on cumulative 
preference shares than that previously referred 
to in this paragraph.

	� The residual profits available after application 
of the above provision in this paragraph shall 
be at the disposal of the General Meeting. 

2.	� The company can only make payments in as 
much as its shareholders’ equity is greater than 
the paid-up and called-up part of the issued 
capital, plus the reserves, which must be main-
tained by law.  

3.	� Payment of profits shall not take place until 
after adoption of the annual accounts, showing 
that this is authorized.

4.	� hares or depositary receipts on shares held by 
the company and shares or depositary receipts 
on shares which the company holds in usufruct 
shall not be taken into account in the calcula-
tion of the profit distribution.  

5.	� The General Meeting can only decide to make 
interim payments at the proposal of the Su-
pervisory Board. A decision to pay an interim 
dividend from the profits in the current finan-
cial year can be taken by the Executive Board 
only with the prior approval of the Supervisory 
Board. 

	� Payments as referred to in this paragraph may 
only be made if the provision of par. 2 of this 
article has been met. 

6.	� The General Meeting can decide that dividends 
shall be paid fully or partially in the form of 
shares in the Company’s capital. 

7.	� Unless the General Meeting sets a different 
term, dividends are paid within fourteen days 
of being set.  

	� Claims for payments in cash shall lapse, in as 
much as these payments have not been col-
lected within five years and one day of the date 
on which they became payable. 

8.	� A deficit may only be offset against the re-
serves prescribed by law, if and to the extent 
permitted by law. 

Dividend policy
Over the past financial years, TIE has not declared 
or paid dividends to its shareholders.

The Management Board intends to retain any 
future earnings for investment in the further devel-
opment and expansion of the Company (including 
through acquisitions) and does not foresee that the 
Company will pay dividends next year. 

The Ordinary Shares are fully entitled to the divi-
dend, if any, for the financial year ending Sep-
tember 30, 2009 and subsequent financial years. 
Payment of dividends can be made either in cash 
or in stock.

Subsequent Events
See disclosure on page 80.

Other information
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Report on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying financial state-
ments for the year ended September 30, 2009 of 
TIE Holding N.V., Hoofddorp, as set out on page 42 
to 89. The financial statements consist of the con-
solidated financial statements and the Company 
financial statements. The consolidated financial 
statements as set out on page 42 to 81 comprise 
the consolidated balance sheet as at September 
30, 2009, the profit and loss account, statement of 
changes in equity and cash flow statement for the 
year then ended and a summary of significant ac-
counting policies and other explanatory notes. The 
Company financial statements as set out on page 
82 to 89 comprise the Company balance sheet as at 
September 30, 2009, the Company profit and loss 
account for the year then ended and the notes.

Management’s responsibility 
Management is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Report-
ing Standards as adopted by the European Union 
and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil 
Code, and for the preparation of the management 
board report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 
of the Netherlands Civil Code. This responsibility 
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining 
internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropri-
ate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch 
law. This law requires that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures se-
lected depend on the auditor’s judgment, includ-
ing the assessment of the risks of material misstate-
ment of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to 
the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have ob-
tained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion with respect to the consoli-
dated financial statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial state-
ments give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of TIE Holding N.V. as at September 30, 
2009, and of its result and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the 
Netherlands Civil Code.

Opinion with respect to  
the Company financial statements
In our opinion, the Company financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of TIE Holding N.V. as at September 30, 2009, and 
of its result for the year then ended in accordance 
with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

Report on other legal  
and regulatory requirements
Pursuant to the legal requirement under 2:393 sub 
5 part f of the Netherlands Civil Code, we report, 
to the extent of our competence, that the manage-
ment board report is consistent with the financial 
statements as required by 2:391 sub 4 of the Neth-
erlands Civil Code.

The Hague, January 21, 2010

Ernst & Young Accountants LLP

/s/ E.J. Pieters

Auditor’s report

To Management Board TIE Holding N.V.
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Where to find TIE...

TIE Commerce Inc

St. Paul Office

1360 Energy Park Drive

St. Paul, MN 55108, North America

Tel: +1-651-999 86 00

Fax: +1-651-999 88 80

E-Mail: info@TIEcommerce.com

TIE Commerce Inc

Boston Office

24 New England Executive Park

Burlington, MA 01803-5080

North America

Tel: +1-781-272 4252

Fax: +1-781-272 5485
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TIE France SAS

Parc Club du Millenaire, BAT 19

1025 Rue Henri Becquerel

34036 Montpellier, Cedex 1

France

Tel: +33-46-71 59 100

Fax: +33-46-72 01 721

E-Mail: info@TIEfr.com

TIE Holding NV

Antareslaan 22-24, 2132 JE Hoofddorp

The Netherlands

Tel: +31-20-658 90 00

Fax: +31-20-658 90 01

E-Mail: info@TIEglobal.com

TIE Nederland BV

Antareslaan 22-24, 2132 JE Hoofddorp

The Netherlands

Tel: +31-20-658 90 00

Fax: +31-20-658 90 01

E-Mail: info@TIE.nl

MamboFive BV

Vondellaan 36

3521 GH Utrecht

The Netherlands

MamboFive BV

New address 

per March 1, 2010:

‘t Goylaan 9, 3525 AA Utrecht

The Netherlands

Tel: +31-30-636 08 49

Fax: +31-30-636 08 50

E-mail: contact@mambofive.com
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